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PURPOSE 

Driven by our values, we endeavor 
to be your quintessential 
community bank — delivering 
service beyond expectations. 

VALUES 

SERVE & LEAD 

We are dedicated to serving our 
customers and our teams, leading 
with quiet confdence and integrity to 
inspire the trust of all those we serve. 

ELEVATE EVERYONE 

We embrace our diferences 
and respect everyone’s unique 
contributions. We seek to empower 
individuals through our actions and 
words because we believe that when 
one succeeds, we all succeed. 

DELIVER MORE 

We’re driven to go above and 
beyond, continually innovating and 
improving on how we deliver the best 
possible experiences and outcomes 
for all those we serve. 

ALWAYS INVESTED 

We take ownership and responsibility 
for our work and are invested in the 
long-term success of our customers, 
colleagues, and communities. 
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A TRANSFORMATIONAL YEAR 
With an eye to the future, Burke & Herbert Financial Services Corp. concluded its 
frst-ever merger with another fnancial institution in 2024. This landmark merger 
with Summit Financial Group, Inc. frames many of the year’s accomplishments. 
Further, it extends the reach of our service-frst relationship approach to banking and 
represents a signifcant step toward realizing our vision of becoming a quintessential 
community bank. 

As we continue to focus on enhancing our mission, we remain dedicated to growing 
and deepening our commitment to our values while developing a path forward in 

BURKEANDHERBERTBANK.COM 

today’s challenging economic landscape. Strategic, measured growth and expansion 
enable us to share our core values with a wider audience. A key milestone in 2024, 
the launch of The Burke & Herbert Bank Foundation, gives life to our unwavering 
resolve to the markets we serve and reinforces the vital role of community to our 
mission. 2024 was truly a transformational year. 

Corporate Centers - West Virginia (left), Virginia (right) 

PRIOR YEAR 
Joined NASDAQ 
APRIL 

Merger of Equals Announced 
AUGUST 

2023 

Board Approves Merger 
DECEMBER 
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TO OUR SHAREHOLDERS, 
CUSTOMERS, AND FRIENDS 
On behalf of the entire Company, thank you 
for your ongoing support and confdence in 
our ability to serve you as we strive to be your 
quintessential community bank that delivers 
extraordinary experiences. We do that by staying 
true to our values and remaining focused on 
what we can control. 

As your fnancial services partner, we are in a 
unique position to help you realize your fnancial 
hopes and dreams, and together, fueled by our 
values, there is no limit to what we can achieve. 

Last year, as your fnancial services partner, we 
achieved much by maintaining a long-term view. 
Despite a year flled with possible distractions, 
such as the domestic electoral process, natural 
disasters, infation and the Federal Reserve’s 
eforts to contain it, global conficts, and general 
uncertainty, I believe our accomplishments 
made 2024 a transformational year.  

On average, the number of banks in the United 
States has declined 3% every year since 2000.  
As a matter of fact, the number of commercial 
banks has declined from over 8,000 to just 
over 4,000 during that time. 
When I joined the Company 
in 2019, we embarked on a 
strategy designed to not only 
maintain our independence 
but to thrive. We established 

our holding company, executed a stock split, 
became an SEC registrant, listed our shares 
on NASDAQ, and sought a partner that could 
bring us the necessary economies of scale to 
compete and win. 

In August of 2023, we announced our planned 
merger of equals with Summit Financial Group, 
Inc., and in May of 2024, we united as one 
company, bringing together over 75 retail and 
commercial combined locations under the Burke 
& Herbert Bank family.  

In November of 2024, we converted our systems 
and began operating as a fully integrated 
company positioned for long-term growth. 

At the beginning of 2024, our assets were $3.6 
billion, deposits were $3.0 billion, and our 
employees totaled just over 400. We ended the 
year with $7.8 billion in assets, $6.5 billion in 
deposits, and over 800 employees.  

Our branch network now extends across 
Delaware, Kentucky, Maryland, Virginia, and 
West Virginia. 

ASSETS 
$7.8 BILLION 

EMPLOYEES 
800+ 

DEPOSITS 
$6.5 BILLION 

400 Employees, Richmond Branch Regulatory Approval Merger of 
$3.6 billion assets Grand Opening for Merger Equals Completed 
JANUARY FEBRUARY APRIL MAY 

2024 
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We began to see the fnancial benefts almost 
immediately and the Board of Directors increased 
the common stock dividend just six months 
after the merger closing. For 2024, we delivered 
net income of $35.0 million or $87.2 million as 
adjusted to exclude the impact of merger-related 
items. Our operating return on assets and return 
on equity are in the top quartile of our peer group. 
Most importantly, we are well positioned to take 
advantage of the opportunities around us. 

Our balance sheet remains strong with ample 
liquidity, solid capital levels, and well-reserved 
loss ratios.  We ended 2024 with $4.1 billion 
of unused borrowing capacity, total risk-based 
capital of 14.6%, and a ratio of allowance for 
credit losses to total loans of 1.20%.  

We also established The Burke & Herbert 
Bank Foundation, funded it with a $5 million 
contribution, and began encouraging community 
members, local leaders, and organizations to 
submit requests for support to help address 
their communities’ unique challenges and 
opportunities. 

In addition to the merger, we opened our frst 
branch in Richmond, Virginia, with plans for 
another location this year as well as the expansion 
of our loan production ofce in that growing 
metropolitan area. We established a permanent 
market center in Bethesda, Maryland, with plans 
to add a branch later this year. We also began the 
process to expand our loan production ofce in 
Fredericksburg, Virginia. These eforts further 
enhance our ability to serve several core regional 
markets where our historic brand continues to 
resonate with new and existing customers. 

In September, we launched 
our brand in our newer 
markets by calling 
attention to our iconic 
ampersand on National 
Ampersand Day. Our 
team engaged diligently 
with our growing clientele 
reinforcing our signature value of working 
together for mutual success. 

Forbes Magazine, once again, recognized 
us as the Best Bank in West Virginia, a 
testimony to our consistency across markets 
in demonstrating our commitment and 
value as trusted advisors to our expanding 
customer base. In December of 2024, we 
became a member of the Federal Reserve 
System, meaning Burke & Herbert Financial 
Services Corp. and Burke & Herbert Bank 
& Trust Company are now supervised by the 
Federal Reserve. 

Bethesda, Maryland - Interior Rendering 

Deposits $6.5 Billion, Assets $7.8 Billion, Forbes Announces Bank Celebrates 
75+ branches, 829 Employees Best Bank in WVA 172nd Anniversary 
JUNE JULY AUGUST 
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I could not be prouder of the teamwork 
demonstrated in everything that was 
accomplished in 2024. The hard work and 
dedication shown is a testament to how it’s 
possible to build an elite culture of banking 
service & excellence.  

Our unifed voice, ofering 
concierge-level service 
combined with a continual 
focus on advancing our 
technology, modern 
products, and services, 
positions us well to increase 
long-term shareholder value. 

Building on our merger, we established regional 
and market presidents to unite our strengths 
and build our brand throughout all fve states 
focusing on relationship banking, frst and 
foremost. Our unifed voice, ofering concierge-
level service combined with a continual 
focus on advancing our technology, modern 
products, and services, positions us well to 
increase long-term shareholder value. 

As we look to the future, our strategy is built on 
three pillars: being a trusted advisor, growing 
fee revenue, and market expansion. We seek to 
establish relationship-based commercial and 
consumer opportunities that deliver value for 
both sides. We want to expand our products and 
services to provide more customer value and to 
increase our fee-based revenue. And we want to 
enter new, attractive markets to drive increased 
proftability. Over time, executing these 
strategies consistently across our commercial, 
retail, and wealth management businesses are 
expected to deliver sustainable, top-tier fnancial 
performance. 

I’m grateful to be the Chief Executive Ofcer 
of Burke & Herbert Financial Services Corp. 
and appreciate your confdence in the team to 
deliver value for all our customers, communities, 
and shareholders.  

Thank you. 

David P. Boyle 
Chair of the Board, 
Chief Executive Ofcer, 
Burke & Herbert Financial Services Corp. 

Chief Executive Ofcer, 
Burke & Herbert Bank & Trust Company 

Launch brand across 5 states, The Burke & Herbert Conversion complete, 
Celebrate Bethesda MD expansion Bank Foundation Systems merged Join Federal Reserve 
SEPTEMBER OCTOBER NOVEMBER DECEMBER 
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INVESTED IN OUR 
LOCAL COMMUNITIES 
Burke & Herbert Bank has a rich legacy of 
supporting and strengthening the communities 
where we operate. Our commitment to 
community goes beyond words; it’s an integral 
part of our team members’ DNA. From entry to 
executive level, the Bank fosters a belief that 
our success is rooted in the success of those 
around us. 

(Clockwise) Washington Street branch in Charleston, WV; WV Operations Center; Stone 
Spring branch in Rockingham, VA; North Chesterfeld branch in Richmond, VA. 

Morgantown, WV branch (below) 

Huntington, WV branch (above) 

KENTUCKY 

WEST VIRGINIA 

VIRGINIA 

MARYLAND 

DELAWARE 

Moorefield 
Greater Alexandria 

Easton 

Richmond 

Charleston 
Huntington 

Morgantown 

Christiansburg 

Winchester 

Bluefield 

Beckley 

Harrisonburg 

Fredericksburg 

Lewes 

Salisbury 

MORE THAN 75 LOCATIONS 
ACROSS FIVE STATES 
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2024 COMMUNITY HIGHLIGHTS 

Community impact remained a top priority for the 
Bank in 2024 with meaningful outreach spanning 
across our traditional and our newer markets. The 
Bank renewed its well-recognized partnership, 
Goals for Good, with Monumental Sports. 
Through this annual program, the Bank provides 
a fnancial contribution and brings heightened 
awareness to a critical community need through 
sponsored messaging during Washington hockey 
games. Through our Share the Warmth Coat 
Drive, thousands of coats were made available 
to neighbors in need. Our West Virginia team 
continued a long-standing sponsorship of a Bowl 
Game between two rival high schools, providing 
needed funding to the teams, boosters, and 
band. The Bank continued its advocacy for local 
charities and youth fnancial education through 
various events and programs. 

OLD TOWN FESTIVAL OF SPEED & STYLE: Through our annual 
title sponsorship the Bank played an instrumental part in making a 
$20,000 donation to Alive! and to the Campagna Center. 

SHARE THE WARMTH: 
Conducted in partnership 
with NBC-4 and the Salvation 
Army, our 14th annual coat 
drive brought thousands of 
needed coats to many local 
families in need. 

VA BANKERS ASSOCIATION BANK DAY SCHOLARSHIP PROGRAM: 
The Bank’s entrants were awarded Northern Virginia frst place 
and honorable mention, earning $2500 and $1000, respectively by 
writing about the importance of a bank to their community. 

HIGH SCHOOL BOWL & 
COMMUNITY TAILGATE: The West 
Virginia team helped boost fellowship 
at the 15th annual community event 
featuring fun, live music, and food. 

GOALS FOR GOOD: The Bank made a $22,000 donation ($100 
for every Washington Capital’s goal scored) to the Capital Youth 
Empowerment Program (CYEP) which levels the educational playing 
feld for less fortunate children and their families in the D.C. Metro 
area through a partnership with Monumental Sports. 

AMERICAN BANKERS ASSOCIATION’S LIGHTS, CAMERA, SAVE! 
VIDEO CONTEST: The Bank’s entrant won the $5000 top prize by 
creating a video promoting positive money management to teens. 
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LAUNCH OF 

Our pinnacle achievement was the formation of 
The Burke & Herbert Bank Foundation. 

In October, The Burke & Herbert Bank 
Foundation was ofcially announced and funded 
with 5 million dollars. In the closing two months 
of the year, committee members reviewed 
dozens of applications from multiple markets 
across four states. Funding, nearing $400,000, 
was approved for homeless shelters, youth 
education, food pantries, abuse prevention, 
job training, and more. For over 172 years, 
we have dedicated ourselves to responsible 
growth, economic development, and supporting 
local initiatives that create a powerful and 
positive impact. Through the Foundation we are 
putting our beliefs into tangible results that will 
beneft us all. Beyond Boundaries, Richmond, VA 

Aaron’s Place, Inc., Preston, MD Loisann’s Hope House, Fredericksburg, VA 
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UNITED STATES
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-K

(Mark One)

☒ ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES 
EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2024

OR

o TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES 
EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the transition period from          to          

Commission File Number 001-41633

Burke & Herbert Financial Services Corp.
(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

Virginia 92-0289417
(State or other jurisdiction of

 incorporation or organization)
(I.R.S. Employer Identification No.)

100 S. Fairfax Street, Alexandria, Virginia 22314
(Address of principal executive offices) (Zip Code)

703-666-3555
Registrant’s telephone number, including area code 

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act:

Title of Each Class Trading Symbol(s) Name of each Exchange on which registered

Common Stock, par value $0.50 per share BHRB The NASDAQ Stock Market LLC

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(g) of the Act: None 

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is a well-known seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 405 of the Securities 
Act.

Yes ☒ No ☐ 

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is not required to file reports pursuant to Section 13 or Section 15(d) of the 
Act.

Yes ☐ No ☒ 
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Indicate by check mark whether the registrant: (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of 
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant 
was required to file such reports) and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days.

Yes ☒ No ☐ 

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically every Interactive Data File required to be 
submitted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T (§232.405 of this chapter) during the preceding 12 months (or for 
such shorter period that the registrant was required to submit such files).

Yes ☒ No ☐ 

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, 
smaller reporting company, or an emerging growth company. See the definitions of “large accelerated filer,” 
“accelerated filer,” “smaller reporting company,” and “emerging growth company” in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange 
Act. 

Large accelerated filer  ☐ Accelerated filer ☒
Non-accelerated filer  ☐ Smaller reporting company ☐

Emerging growth company ☒

If an emerging growth company, indicate by check mark if the registrant has elected not to use the extended 
transition period for complying with any new or revised financial accounting standards provided pursuant to Section 
13(a) of the Exchange Act. ☐

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has filed a report on and attestation of its management's assessment of 
the effectiveness of its internal control over financial reporting under Section 404(b) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act (15 
U.S.C. 7262(b)) by the registered public accounting firm that prepared or issued its audit report. ☐ 

If securities are registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act, indicate by check mark whether the financial 
statements of the registrant included in the filing reflect the correction of an error to previously issued financial 
statements. ☐ 

Indicate by check mark whether any of those error corrections are restatements that required a recovery analysis of 
incentive based compensation received by any of the registrant’s executive officers during the relevant recovery 
period pursuant to §240.10D-1(b). ☐ 

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act). 

Yes ☐ No ☒ 

The aggregate market value of the voting common equity held by non-affiliates of the registrant at June 30, 2024, 
was approximately $685,478,000. Registrant has assumed that all of its executive officers and directors are affiliates. 
Such assumption shall not be deemed to be conclusive for any other purpose.

The number of shares of the Registrant’s Common Stock outstanding on March 10, 2025, was 14,982,655.

Documents Incorporated by Reference

Document
Part of Form 10-K into which document is 
incorporated

Portions of the Registrant’s Proxy Statement for 
the Annual Meeting of Shareholders expected to 
be held on May 22, 2025

Part III - Items 10, 11, 12, 13 and 14
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Use of Names

As used throughout this Form 10-K, the “Company,” “we,” “our,” and “us” refer to Burke & Herbert Financial 
Services Corp., and the “Bank” refers to Burke & Herbert Bank & Trust Company, a Virginia chartered bank and 
wholly owned subsidiary of the Company.

Disclosure Regarding Forward-Looking Statements

This Form 10-K contains statements that we believe are, or may be considered to be, “forward-looking 
statements.” Forward-looking statements are neither historical facts nor assurances of future performance. Instead, 
they are based on current beliefs, expectations, or assumptions regarding the future of the business, future plans and 
strategies, operational results, and other future conditions of the Company. All statements other than statements of 
historical fact included in this Form 10-K regarding the prospects of our industry or our prospects, plans, financial 
position, or business strategy may constitute forward-looking statements. In addition, forward-looking statements 
generally can be identified by the use of forward-looking words such as “plans,” “expects” or “does not expect,” “is 
expected,” “look forward to,” “budget,” “scheduled,” “estimates,” “forecasts,” “will continue,” “intends,” “the intent 
of,” “have the potential,” “anticipates,” “does not anticipate,” “believes,” “should,” “should not,” or variations of 
such words and phrases that indicate that certain actions, events, or results “may,” “could,” “would,” “might,” or 
“will,” “be taken,” “occur,” or “be achieved,” or the negative of these terms or variations of them or similar terms. 
Furthermore, forward-looking statements may be included in various filings that we make with the Securities and 
Exchange Commission (“SEC”) or press releases or oral statements made by or with the approval of one of our 
authorized executive officers. Although we believe that the expectations reflected in these forward-looking 
statements are reasonable, we cannot assure you that these expectations will prove to be correct. These forward-
looking statements are subject to certain known and unknown risks and uncertainties, as well as assumptions that 
could cause actual results to differ materially from those reflected in these forward-looking statements.

By their very nature, forward-looking statements involve inherent risks and uncertainties, both general and 
specific, and risks exist that predictions, forecasts, projections, and other forward-looking statements will not be 
achieved. We caution readers not to place undue reliance on these statements as a number of important factors could 
cause the actual results to differ materially from the beliefs, plans, objectives, expectations, anticipations, estimates, 
and intentions expressed in such forward-looking statements. Risks, uncertainties, and other factors which may 
cause the actual results, performance, or achievements of the Company, as applicable, to be materially different from 
any future results, performance, or achievements expressed or implied by such forward-looking information and 
statements include, but are not limited to, the risks described in Item 1A — Risk Factors in this Form 10-K.

Readers are cautioned not to place undue reliance on any forward-looking statements contained in this Form 10-
K, which reflect management’s opinions only as of the date hereof. Except as required by law, we undertake no 
obligation to revise or publicly release the results of any revision to any forward-looking statements. You are 
advised, however, to consult any additional disclosures we make in our reports to the SEC. All subsequent written 
and oral forward-looking statements attributable to us or persons acting on our behalf are expressly qualified in their 
entirety by the cautionary statements contained in this Form 10-K.

We have made, and will continue to make, various forward-looking statements with respect to financial and 
business matters. Comments regarding our business that are not historical facts are considered forward-looking 
statements that involve inherent risks and uncertainties. Actual results may differ materially from those contained in 
these forward-looking statements.

Emerging Growth Company Status 

We qualify as an “emerging growth company” under the JOBS Act and as defined in Section 2(a) of the 
Securities Act of 1934, as amended (the “Securities Act”). For as long as we are an emerging growth company, we 
may choose to take advantage of exemptions from various reporting requirements applicable to other public 
companies but not to emerging growth companies.

Table of Contents
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As an emerging growth company:

• We are exempt from the requirement to obtain an attestation and report from our auditors on management’s 
assessment of our internal control over financial reporting under the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002;

• We are permitted to provide less extensive disclosure about our executive compensation arrangements; and

• We are permitted to include less extensive narrative disclosures than required of other reporting companies, 
including with respect to executive compensation.

In this Form 10-K (including the portions of our proxy statement for our 2025 annual meeting, being 
incorporated herein by reference), we have elected to take advantage of the reduced disclosure requirements relating 
to executive compensation, and the exemption for auditor attestation over our internal controls, and in the future, we 
may take advantage of any or all of these exemptions for so long as we remain an emerging growth company. We 
could remain an emerging growth company until the last day of the fiscal year following the fifth anniversary of the 
first sale of our common equity securities in an offering registered under the Securities Act or until the earliest of (i) 
the end of the first fiscal year during which we have total annual gross revenues of $1.235 billion or more, (ii) the 
date on which we have, during the previous three-year period, issued more than $1.0 billion in non-convertible debt, 
or (iii) the date on which we are deemed to be a “large accelerated filer” as defined in Exchange Act Rule 12b-2.

In addition to the relief described above, the JOBS Act exempts emerging growth companies from compliance 
with new or revised financial accounting standards until private companies are required to comply with the new or 
revised financial accounting standards. The JOBS Act provides that a company can elect to opt out of this extended 
transition period and comply with the requirements that apply to non-emerging growth companies, but any such 
election to opt out is irrevocable. We have elected not to opt out of such extended transition period, which means 
that when a standard is issued or revised and it has different application dates for public or private companies, we, as 
an emerging growth company, can adopt the new or revised standard at the time private companies adopt the new or 
revised standard. As such, our consolidated financial statements may not be comparable with those of a public 
company that is not an emerging growth company, or those of a public company that is an emerging growth 
company that has opted out of using the extended transition period, because of the potential differences in 
accounting standards used.

See Item 1A — Risk Factors of this Form 10-K for more information on emerging growth companies.

Industry and Market Data

This Form 10-K contains data concerning the Company’s industry and the markets in which it operates that is 
based on publicly available third-party sources as well as industry and forecast data prepared by Company 
management on the basis of its knowledge of the banking industries, gained through its experience and participation 
in the industry. Company management believes that this data is accurate and that its estimates and assumptions are 
reasonable. The Company has not independently verified any of the data from third-party sources referred to in this 
Form 10-K or analyzed or verified the underlying studies or surveys relied upon or referred to by such sources, or 
ascertained the underlying economic assumptions relied upon or referred to by such sources. None of these third-
party sources has provided any form of consultation, advice or counsel regarding any aspect of, or is in any way 
whatsoever associated with this Form 10-K. Such data involves risks and uncertainties and is subject to change 
based on various factors, including those discussed under the headings “Disclosure Regarding Forward-Looking 
Statements” and “Risk Factors” in this Form 10-K.
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Part I

Item 1. Business

Overview

Burke & Herbert Financial Services Corp. was organized as a Virginia corporation in 2022 to serve as the 
holding company for Burke & Herbert Bank & Trust Company. The Company became a bank holding company 
when it commenced operations on October 1, 2022, following a reorganization transaction in which it acquired 
control of the Bank under the Bank Holding Company Act of 1956 (“BHCA”). This transaction was treated as an 
internal reorganization as all shareholders of the Bank became shareholders of the Company. The Company has no 
material operations other than owning the Bank. In September 2023, the Company elected to become a financial 
holding company under the BHCA. As a financial holding company of a Virginia state bank, the Company is subject 
to regulation, supervision, and examination by the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System (the “Federal 
Reserve”) and the Bureau of Financial Institutions of the Virginia State Corporation Commission (the “Virginia 
BFI”). The Bank is a Virginia chartered commercial bank that commenced operations in 1852. The Bank became a 
member of the Federal Reserve System on December 31, 2024. The Bank is subject to regulation, supervision, and 
examination by the Federal Reserve (through the Federal Reserve Bank of Richmond) and the Virginia BFI.

The Company is authorized to issue forty million (40,000,000) shares of common stock, par value $0.50 per 
share (“Common Stock”), of which there were 14,982,655 outstanding as of the date of this Form 10-K. The 
Company’s authorized capital also consists of up to two million (2,000,000) shares of serial preferred stock, par 
value $1.00 (“Serial Preferred Stock”) of which there were 1,500 outstanding shares of the Burke & Herbert Series 
2021 Preferred Stock (the “Burke & Herbert Series 2021 Preferred Stock”) as of the date of this Form 10-K. These 
authorized capital share amounts reflect a share-split authorized and approved by the Company’s Board of Directors 
(the “Board”) and effective November 15, 2022, that provided for a forty-for-one split of the Company’s Common 
Stock, with each shareholder receiving forty (40) post-split shares for each one (1) share held prior to the split. All 
share amounts presented throughout this Form 10-K are presented on a post-split basis.

The Company’s Common Stock is currently quoted on the Nasdaq Stock Market LLC (“Nasdaq”) under the 
symbol “BHRB.”

We primarily serve small to medium-sized businesses, their owners and employees, professional corporations, 
non-profits, and individuals with a broad range of banking products and financial services. Some of the products and 
services that we offer include checking, savings and money market accounts, certificates of deposit, treasury and 
cash management services, commercial and industrial loans, commercial real estate loans, residential mortgage, 
acquisition, construction & development loans, online banking, mobile banking, and wealth & trust services. As of 
December 31, 2024, we had total consolidated assets of $7.8 billion, gross loans of $5.6 billion, total deposits of 
$6.5 billion, and total shareholders’ equity of $730 million. 

Our Business

We are a community-oriented financial institution. We seek to be the provider of choice for financial solutions 
to customers who value exceptional personalized service, local decision making, and modern banking technology. 
Our business involves attracting deposits from local businesses and individual customers and using these deposits to 
originate commercial, mortgage, and consumer loans in our market area. We also invest in securities consisting 
primarily of U.S Government Treasuries, obligations of U.S. government-sponsored entities (“GSEs”), municipal 
obligations, mortgage-backed securities issued by Federal National Mortgage Association (“Fannie Mae”), the 
Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation (“Freddie Mac”), and the Government National Mortgage Association 
(“Ginnie Mae”), and the subordinated debt of other financial institutions. We are the owner and beneficiary of 
Company-owned life insurance policies on certain current and former Bank employees. These policies generate 
income and can be liquidated, if necessary, with associated tax costs.

We are focused on growing business relationships and building core deposits, profitable loans, and non-interest 
income. We believe that we have a solid franchise that meets the financial needs of our clients and communities by 
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providing an array of personalized products and services delivered by seasoned professionals with decisions made at 
the local level. We strive to be the leading community bank in our markets.

Management believes that the Company is well positioned to build on its core performance and continue to 
grow profitably. Although we have successfully attracted new associates, providing depth and talent in key 
positions, additional employees and infrastructure are expected to be needed to manage the increasing customer 
relationships that will come with sustained growth.

The Federal Reserve and the Virginia State Corporation Commission, through the Virginia BFI, regulate and 
monitor operations of the Company and the Bank. The Federal Reserve and the Virginia BFI conduct periodic onsite 
and offsite examinations. We must comply with a wide variety of reporting requirements and banking regulations. 
The laws and regulations governing us generally have been promulgated to protect depositors, borrowers, the 
financial system, and the federal Deposit Insurance Fund (“DIF”) and not to protect shareholders. Additionally, we 
must bear the cost of compliance with the reporting and regulations; these costs can be significant and may have an 
effect on our financial performance.

Merger with Summit Financial Group, Inc.

Effective on May 3, 2024 (“the Closing Date”), the Company completed its merger (the “Merger”) with Summit 
Financial Group, Inc., a West Virginia corporation (“Summit”), pursuant to the Agreement and Plan of 
Reorganization and accompanying Plan of Merger dated August 24, 2023 between the Company and Summit (the 
“Merger Agreement). 

Pursuant to the Merger Agreement, on the Closing Date, (i) Summit merged with and into the Company with 
the Company as the surviving entity, and (ii) immediately following the Merger, Summit Community Bank, Inc., a 
West Virginia chartered bank and wholly-owned subsidiary of Summit (“SCB”) merged with and into the Bank, 
with the Bank as the surviving bank.

In the Merger, holders of Summit common stock outstanding at the effective time of the Merger received 
0.5043 shares of the Company Common Stock for each share of Summit common stock they owned, subject to the 
payment of cash in lieu of fractional shares. The total aggregate consideration payable in the Merger was 
approximately 7,405,772 shares of the Company Common Stock. Additionally, each share of the 6.0% Fixed Rate 
Non-Cumulative Perpetual Preferred Stock, Series 2021 of Summit (the “Summit Series 2021 Preferred Stock”) 
issued and outstanding was converted into the right to receive a share of a newly created series of preferred stock of 
the Company, the Burke & Herbert Series 2021 Preferred Stock. Summit’s results of operations are included from 
the Closing Date forward. As of December 31, 2024, the Company had recognized $36.5 million in merger-related 
expenses in connection with this transaction.

Market Area

A key factor in our ability to achieve our strategic goals and create shareholder value is the attractiveness of our 
market area. The market area in which we operate has seen considerable population and economic growth over the 
past several decades. The most recent economic data suggests that the relative economic strength of our market area 
will continue, enabling us to further grow our customer base and provide opportunities to grow our market share.

The Company’s primary market area includes northern Virginia and West Virginia and it has over 77 branches 
and commercial loan offices across Delaware, Kentucky, Maryland, Virginia, and West Virginia. The Company’s 
branch locations accept business and consumer deposits from a diverse customer base. The Company’s deposit 
products include checking, savings, and term certificate accounts. The Company’s loan portfolio includes 
commercial and consumer loans, a substantial portion of which are secured by real estate.

The greater Washington, D.C. area is the seventh largest Metropolitan Statistical Areas (“MSA”) in the country, 
according to the U.S. Census Bureau, with over 6.3 million residents. The real gross domestic product (“GDP”) of 
the MSA was $600 million in 2023, and if the MSA were a U.S. state it would have ranked 14th in GDP for such 
period. Twenty of the largest Fortune 500 companies are headquartered within the region as of 2024. Many 
employers within this MSA thrive and grow due to a large, well-educated labor force and over nineteen colleges and 
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universities. According to the U.S. Census Bureau, as of 2023, nearly 55% of the population 25 years and over has a 
bachelor’s degree or higher (compared to the U.S. average of 38%). Local academic institutions proactively invest in 
programs and facilities, particularly in technical fields, which benefit the area’s ability to produce well-trained 
workers to satisfy the demands of area employers. 

With respect to banking statistics in the Washington, D.C. market, as of June 30, 2024, the MSA had total 
deposits of $291.7 billion, ranking it the 13th largest MSA in the United States in total deposits, according to the 
Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (the “FDIC”). FDIC data also shows that the top five banks inside the 
Washington, D.C. MSA are mostly nationally chartered and control 66.7% of the area’s deposit base. As of June 30, 
2024, our deposits on account within the Washington, D.C. MSA were $3.2 billion, or 1.1% market share, ranking 
the Company 15th in the MSA. Over half of the banks that ranked ahead of the Company are headquartered outside 
of our market area. Our market area has experienced a significant degree of banking consolidation over the last 
several decades. We believe that as financial institutions are merged with or acquired by remote, larger institutions, 
their customers can become further removed from the point of decision making. The consolidation trend provides an 
opportunity for the Company to execute a focused strategy of offering personalized services to attract potential 
customers who are underserved or dissatisfied. 

We expect the Washington D.C. MSA will build upon its rank as a stable and growing economy by fostering 
education, technological innovation, job creation, capital formation, and economic diversification. We believe the 
size, growth, economic diversity, and banking consolidation within the Washington D.C. MSA, when combined 
with our business strategy, will provide the Company with excellent opportunities for long-term, sustainable growth.

Strengths

We continually review our product offerings, and based on these reviews, may selectively add additional 
products to provide further diversification of our revenue sources and to capture our customers’ full banking 
relationships. We believe that the following business strengths have been instrumental to the success of our core 
operations and will enable us to continue profitable growth and to maximize value to our shareholders, while 
remaining fundamentally sound.

• Community Banking Philosophy. We provide our clients with local decision making and individualized 
service, coupled with products and services comparable to those offered by our larger institutional 
competitors. As our business lenders, officers, and Bank directors are based in or reside in the communities 
we serve, we are able to maintain a high level of involvement in local organizations and establish a strong 
understanding of the banking needs of the respective communities. We believe that our customer-centric 
business philosophy and service-oriented sales approach enables us to build long-term relationships with 
desirable customers, which enhances the quality and stability of our funding and lending operations. Our 
mission and philosophy have positioned us well in the communities across our market area and have 
enabled us to attract and maintain a highly talented and experienced management team.

• Disciplined Credit Culture. In originating loans, our relationship managers focus on experienced business 
owners with demonstrated capacity to fulfill their financial obligations. Loan officers have relatively low 
individual discretionary loan authority levels, which generally results in loan committee vetting to uphold 
appropriate structure and terms prior to approval. Loan committee meetings are held regularly and on an as-
needed basis to promote prompt decisions. We utilize an independent, nationally recognized loan review 
firm to validate our risk ratings and assess our underwriting and loan administration. We believe that our 
rigorous underwriting and diligent monitoring of the loan portfolio is consistent with our desired risk 
profile. 

• Conservative Balance Sheet and Capital Position. The Bank exceeds the regulatory guidelines to be 
classified as “well capitalized,” and our balance sheet provides the foundation for prudent growth. The 
Company has ample liquidity to meet its obligations and fund anticipated loan growth. The Company has 
retained a nationally recognized asset/liability management consultancy, and we believe our balance sheet 
is well positioned for organic growth and potential acquisitions.
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Competition

The banking business is highly competitive, and we face competition in our market area from many other local, 
regional, and national financial institutions. Competition among financial institutions is based on interest rates 
offered on deposit accounts, interest rates charged on loans, other credit and service charges relating to loans, the 
quality and scope of the services rendered, the convenience of banking services, and, in the case of loans to 
commercial borrowers, relative lending limits. We compete with commercial banks, credit unions, savings 
institutions, mortgage banking firms, finance companies, including “fintech” companies, securities brokerage firms, 
insurance companies, money market funds and other mutual funds, as well as regional and national financial 
institutions that operate offices in our market area and elsewhere. 

The increasingly competitive environment is the result of changes in regulation, changes in technology and 
product delivery systems, additional financial service providers, and the accelerating pace of consolidation among 
financial services providers. Banks, securities firms, and insurance companies can affiliate under the umbrella of a 
financial holding company, which can offer most types of financial services, including banking, securities 
underwriting, and insurance. Also, technology has lowered barriers to entry and made it possible for non-banks to 
offer products and services traditionally provided by banks, such as automatic transfer and automatic payment 
systems.

Some of our non-banking competitors, such as fintech companies, have fewer regulatory constraints and may 
have lower cost structures. In addition, some of our competitors have assets, capital, and lending limits greater than 
that of the Bank, have greater access to capital markets, and can offer a broader range of products and services than 
the Bank. These institutions may have the ability to finance wide-ranging advertising campaigns and may also be 
able to offer lower rates on loans and higher rates on deposits than we can offer.

We compete with these institutions by focusing on our position as an independent community bank and rely 
upon relationships established by our officers, directors, and employees with our customers, promotional activities, 
and specialized services tailored to meet the needs of the customers we serve. We strive to provide innovative 
products to our customers that are value-driven. We actively cultivate relationships with our customers that extend 
beyond a single loan to a full suite of products that serve the needs of our commercial customers. Our goal is to 
develop long-standing connections with our customers and the communities that we serve. Our management 
believes that we can compete effectively as a result of local market knowledge, local decision making, awareness of 
customer needs, and by providing exceptional customer experiences.

Our Products and Services

We emphasize providing traditional banking and wealth management services. Our dedicated relationship 
managers serve as direct points of contact for owners, management, and employees of small and medium-sized 
businesses. We provide subject matter expertise in a variety of industries: manufacturing, government contractors, 
distribution, health services, non-profits and associations, professional services, property management companies, 
and title companies. We focus on customers living and working in and near our service area. We offer retail banking 
services to accommodate the needs of both corporate customers as well as individuals residing and working in the 
communities we serve. We also offer digital banking, mobile banking, and a remote deposit service, which allows 
customers to facilitate and expedite deposit transactions through the use of electronic devices. A sophisticated suite 
of treasury management products is a key feature of our customer focused, relationship driven marketing. 

Lending Services

We provide a range of commercial lending services, including commercial real estate loans, acquisition, 
construction & development, commercial and industrial loans, consumer and mortgage warehouse lines of credit, 
and residential real estate loans to customers generally located or conducting business in our market area. Loan 
terms, including interest rates, loan-to-value ratios, and maturities, are tailored to meet the needs of the borrower. A 
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special effort is made to keep loan products as flexible as possible within the guidelines of prudent banking practices 
in terms of interest rate and credit risk.

Our 10 largest borrowing relationships accounted for approximately 8.8% of our total loans at December 31, 
2024. With this concentration of credit risk among a limited number of borrowers, we may face a greater risk of 
material credit losses if any one of these borrowers fail to perform in accordance with their loans, compared to a 
bank with a more diversified portfolio. While we believe our underwriting standards are designed to manage normal 
lending risks, it is difficult to determine, at the time of underwriting, if any of these loans will become non-
performing or delinquent, or whether we will hold non-performing or delinquent loans that may adversely affect our 
future performance. Refer to the Lending Activities section within Item 7 — Management’s Discussion and 
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations for further information regarding the composition of our 
loan portfolio as of December 31, 2024, and December 31, 2023.

Commercial Lending Services

Commercial lending services include commercial real estate loans, acquisition, construction & development, 
and commercial & industrial loans. Our commercial loan clients represent a diverse cross-section of small to mid-
size local businesses within our market footprint, whose owners and employees are often established Bank 
customers. Such banking relationships are a natural business for us with our long-standing community roots and 
extensive experience in serving and lending to this market segment.

Commercial loans are evaluated for the adequacy of repayment sources at the time of approval and are regularly 
reviewed for any possible deterioration in the ability of the borrower to repay the loan. Collateral generally is 
required to provide us with an additional source of repayment in the event of default by a commercial borrower. The 
structure of the collateral package, including the type and amount of the collateral, varies from loan to loan 
depending on the financial strength of the borrower, the amount and terms of the loan, and the collateral available to 
be pledged by the borrower, but generally may include real estate, accounts receivable, inventory, equipment, or 
other assets. Loans also may be supported by personal guarantees from the principals of the commercial loan 
borrowers. The financial condition and cash flow of commercial borrowers are closely monitored through the 
submission of corporate financial statements, personal financial statements, and income tax returns. The frequency 
of submissions of required information depends upon the size and complexity of the credit and the collateral that 
secures the loan. Credit risk for commercial loans arises from borrowers lacking the ability or willingness to repay 
the loan and, in the case of secured loans, by a shortfall in the collateral value in relation to the outstanding loan 
balance in the event of a default and subsequent liquidation of collateral. A risk rating system is applied to the 
commercial loan portfolio to measure credit risk and differentiate the level of risk posed by individual credits. See 
Item 7 — Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations — Overview  
for further information.

Commercial Real Estate Loans

Our commercial real estate loans consist of both loans secured by owner-occupied properties and non-owner-
occupied properties (“investor real estate loans”). The commercial real estate categories contain mortgage loans to 
developers and owners of commercial real estate. Commercial real estate loans are governed by the same lending 
policies and subject to credit risk as previously described for commercial loans. Commercial real estate loans 
secured by owner-occupied properties are based upon the borrower’s financial condition and the ability of the 
borrower and the business to provide for repayment. Investor real estate loans secured by non-owner-occupied 
properties involve investment properties for multi-family, warehouse, retail, and office space with a history of 
occupancy and cash flow. See Item 7 — Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results 
of Operations — Overview for further information on commercial real estate sector concentration. We seek to 
reduce the risks associated with commercial mortgage lending by generally lending in our market area, focusing on 
debt service coverage ratio, using conservative loan-to-value ratios, and obtaining periodic financial statements and 
tax returns from borrowers to perform loan reviews. In addition, when underwriting specific loans, the proposed 
debt should be supported by cash flows that are stable, predictable, diverse, and sufficient for adequate repayment at 
acceptable margins. Furthermore, we stress test each aspect of the cash flow, including stressing the interest rate 
levels.
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It is also our general policy to obtain personal guarantees from the principals of the borrowers and to underwrite 
the business entity from a cash flow perspective. Interest rate risks are managed by using either floating interest rates 
or by fixing rates that reset at the end of the first five years and then convert to a margin-adjusted applicable index. 
While loan amortizations may be approved for up to 360 months, each loan generally has a call provision (maturity 
date) of five to ten years.

Acquisition, Construction & Development Loans

Acquisition, construction & development loans are loans made for the purpose of financing construction or 
development projects. This portfolio includes commercial and residential land development loans, one-to-four 
family housing construction, both pre-sold and speculative in nature, multifamily housing construction, non-
residential building construction, and undeveloped land. This commercial real estate lending business extends to 
providing commercial construction financing of owner-occupied properties as well as non-owner-occupied 
properties. Construction lending on these properties is based upon the provision for repayment based on cash flow, 
collateral values, and loan-to-value ratios. Typically, these loans have guarantees, an amount of owner equity in the 
project, and an assessment of economic feasibility and viability related to each project. Terms of each loan are based 
upon current pricing and the extent of the project.

Commercial & Industrial Loans

We also originate commercial & industrial (“C&I”) loans. C&I loans are made to provide funds for equipment 
and general corporate needs. This loan category is designed to support borrowers who have a proven ability to 
service debt. We generally require a first lien position on all collateral and require guarantees from owners having at 
least a 10% interest in the involved business. Interest rates on C&I loans are generally floating or fixed for a term 
not to exceed seven years. Management monitors industry and collateral concentrations to avoid loan exposures to a 
large group of similar industries or similar collateral. C&I loans are evaluated for historical and projected cash flow 
attributes, balance sheet strength, and primary and alternate resources of personal guarantors. C&I loan documents 
require borrowers to forward regular financial information on both the business and personal guarantors. Loan 
covenants require at least annual submission of complete financial information, and in certain cases, this information 
is required monthly, quarterly, or semi-annually, depending on the degree to which we desire information resources 
for monitoring a borrower’s financial condition and compliance with loan covenants. Examples of properly 
margined collateral for loans, as required by our policy, would be an 80% advance on the lesser of appraised value 
or recent sales price on commercial property, an 80% or less advance on eligible receivables, a 50% or less advance 
on eligible inventory, and an 80% advance on appraised residential property. Collateral borrowing certificates may 
be required to monitor certain collateral categories on a monthly or quarterly basis. Loans may require personal 
guarantees. Key person life insurance may be required, as appropriate and as necessary, to mitigate the risk of loss of 
a primary owner or manager.

Commercial lines of credit are granted to finance a business borrower’s short-term credit needs and/or to 
finance a percentage of eligible receivables and inventory. In addition to the risks inherent in term loan facilities, 
line of credit borrowers typically require additional monitoring to protect the lender against increasing loan volumes 
and diminishing collateral values. Commercial lines of credit are generally revolving in nature and require close 
scrutiny. We generally require at least an annual out of debt period (for seasonal borrowers) or regular financial 
information (monthly or quarterly financial statements, borrowing base certificates, etc.) for borrowers with more 
growth and greater permanent working capital financing needs. Advances against collateral value are limited. Lines 
of credit and term loans to the same borrowers generally are cross-defaulted and cross-collateralized. Interest rate 
charges on this group of loans generally float at a factor at or above the prime lending rate.

Residential Real Estate Loans

The residential real estate category contains loans principally to consumers secured by residential real estate. 
Loans for residential real estate may carry either a fixed rate of interest or an adjustable rate over the life of loan. 
Adjustable rate mortgage (“ARM”) loans have a 30-year amortization period with a fixed rate of interest for the first 
five, seven, or ten years, re-pricing at stated interval thereafter at a predetermined spread to an index. Our residential 
real estate lending policy requires each loan to have viable repayment sources. Residential real estate loans are 
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evaluated for the adequacy of these repayment sources at the time of approval, based upon measures including credit 
scores, debt-to-income ratios, and collateral values. Credit risk for residential real estate loans arises from borrowers 
lacking the ability or willingness to repay the loan or by a shortfall in the value of the residential real estate in 
relation to the outstanding loan balance in the event of a default and subsequent liquidation of the real estate 
collateral. The residential real estate portfolio includes both conforming and non-conforming mortgage loans.

Conforming mortgage loans represent loans originated in accordance with underwriting standards set forth by 
U.S. GSEs, including Fannie Mae, Freddie Mac, and Ginnie Mae, which serve as the primary purchasers of loans 
sold in the secondary mortgage market by mortgage lenders. These loans are generally collateralized by one-to-four-
family residential real estate, have loan-to-collateral value ratios of 80% or less or have mortgage insurance to insure 
down to 80%, and are made to borrowers in good credit standing. In recent years, we have sold the majority of new 
mortgage loan production in the secondary market using large mortgage loan companies that package these loans to 
be sold to the GSEs. For any loans retained by us, title insurance insuring the priority of our mortgage lien, as well 
as fire and extended coverage casualty insurance protecting the properties securing the loans, is required. Borrowers 
may be required to advance funds with each monthly payment of principal and interest to a loan escrow account 
from which we make disbursements for items, such as real estate taxes and mortgage insurance premiums. 
Appraisers approved by us appraise the properties securing substantially all of our residential mortgage loans.

Non-conforming mortgage loans represent loans that generally are not saleable in the secondary market to the 
GSEs for inclusion in conventional mortgage-backed securities due to the credit characteristics of the borrower, the 
underlying documentation, the loan-to-value ratio, or the size of the loan, among other factors. We originate non-
conforming loans for our own portfolio and for sale to third-party investors, usually large mortgage companies, 
under commitments by the mortgage company to purchase the loans subject to compliance with pre-established 
investor criteria. Non-conforming loans generated for sale include loans that may not be underwritten using 
customary underwriting standards. These loans typically are held after funding for thirty days or less, and are 
included in residential mortgages held-for-sale. We currently sell both conforming and non-conforming loans on a 
servicing released basis. 

Investment Activities

The Bank balances its liquidity needs based on loan and deposit growth through the investment portfolio and 
purchased funds. It is the Bank’s goal to provide adequate liquidity to support the loan growth of the Bank. In the 
event the Bank has excess liquidity, investment securities are used to generate additional income. In the event 
deposit growth does not fully support the Bank’s loan growth, the Bank may utilize third-party deposit listing 
services to obtain brokered certificates of deposit, access secured advances with the Federal Home Loan Bank of 
Atlanta and the Federal Reserve Bank of Richmond, and access unsecured federal fund lines of credit from 
correspondent banking relationships. The Bank may also incorporate a combination of sales of investment securities 
or Federal Funds purchased to augment the Bank’s funding position.

The current investment policy authorizes the Bank to invest in debt securities issued by the United States 
Government, agencies of the United States Government, or GSEs. The policy permits investments in mortgage-
backed securities, including pass-through securities, issued and guaranteed by Fannie Mae, Freddie Mac, and Ginnie 
Mae. The investment policy also permits investments in federal funds and deposits in other insured institutions. In 
addition, management is authorized to invest in investment grade state and municipal obligations, private mortgage-
backed securities, and the subordinated debt of other financial institutions. The Company is also the beneficiary of 
life insurance policies on certain current and former Bank employees. These policies generate income and can be 
liquidated, if necessary, with associated tax costs.

Generally accepted accounting principles require that, at the time of purchase, the Bank designate a security as 
“held-to-maturity,” “available-for-sale,” or “trading,” depending on our ability and intent to hold such security. Debt 
securities available-for-sale are reported at fair value, while debt securities held-to-maturity are reported at 
amortized cost. The Bank does not maintain a trading or a held-to-maturity portfolio.

The investment portfolio is actively managed and consists of investments classified as available-for-sale and 
under the available-for-sale classification, investment instruments may be sold as deemed appropriate by 
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management. On a monthly basis, the investment portfolio is marked to market as required by ASC 320 - 
Investments - Debt & Equity Securities. Additionally, the investment portfolio is used to balance the Bank’s asset 
and liability position. The Bank invests in fixed rate or floating rate instruments as necessary to reduce interest rate 
risk exposure.

Our investment policy is reviewed annually by our Board. The Company’s Board has delegated the 
responsibility of monitoring our investment activities to management consistent with the requirements of the Bank’s 
Asset Liability Management policy. We actively monitor our investments on an ongoing basis to identify any 
material changes in the securities. We also review our available-for-sale securities in an unrealized loss position for 
allowance for credit losses at least quarterly.

Deposit Activities

Deposits are the major source of funding for the Bank. The Bank offers a broad array of consumer and 
commercial deposit products that include digital banking, demand, negotiable order of withdrawal (“NOW”), money 
market and savings accounts, as well as certificates of deposit. The Bank typically pays a competitive rate on the 
interest-bearing deposits. As a relationship-oriented organization, we seek generally to obtain deposit relationships 
with our loan clients. Through our membership in the IntraFi Network®, we can arrange FDIC insurance of up to 
$135 million of demand deposits, $100 million of savings, or a combination of $175 million. In addition, we can 
arrange FDIC insurance up to $50 million on certificates of deposits. 

As the Bank’s overall balance sheet positions dictate, we may become more or less competitive in our interest 
rate structure as our liquidity position changes. Additionally, we may use wholesale deposits to augment our funding 
position or achieve a desired interest rate risk management position. 

Other Services 

Our business solutions include small business and commercial checking and savings options as well as 
investments via our wealth management group. Treasury management solutions include a suite of digital banking, 
payables, receivables, risk management, and automated cash flow, such as enhanced reporting, automated clearing 
house (“ACH”), wires, remote deposit capture, bill pay, lockbox, credit and debit cards, merchant services, fraud 
protection, and deposit and loan sweeps.

Employees

As of December 31, 2024, we had 815 full-time equivalent employees. None of our employees are covered by a 
collective bargaining agreement. 

We consider our diverse employee base and our culture to be a competitive advantage. Our employees are from 
many different countries across the world, whether by birth or descent. This diversity provides us the opportunity to 
serve our customers, communities, and each other in meaningful and impactful ways that result in long lasting 
relationships. Our overall human capital strategy focuses on attracting, engaging, and retaining qualified, diverse, 
and innovative talent at all levels of the Company. We are a committed equal opportunity employer, and all qualified 
candidates receive consideration for employment without regard to race, color, religion, national origin, age, 
disability, sex, sexual orientation, gender, gender identity, pregnancy, genetic information, or other characteristics 
protected by applicable law. Beyond nondiscrimination compliance, we are committed to maintaining a workforce 
committed to our core values to serve & lead, deliver more, elevate everyone, and always being invested in the long-
term success of our customers, colleagues, and communities..

We seek to actively listen to our employees throughout the year using a defined and continual listening strategy 
designed to gather regular feedback on well-being, engagement, leadership, ethics, culture and values, and other top 
of mind topics. These surveys allow us to respond to employee concerns, benefit from employee perspectives, and 
better design and develop processes to support our Company culture. Employees can learn about changes through 
our ongoing employee updates or employee town hall meetings delivered by senior management. 
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Training and Development

Our success depends not only on attracting and retaining talented employees, but also in developing our current 
employees and providing opportunities for their growth. We offer our employees numerous live and on-demand 
training programs and resources to help them build knowledge and improve skills. These trainings include 
mandatory programs, as well as recommended programs in areas, including leadership development and technical 
skills. 

Wellness and Safety

The Company emphasizes the safety and well-being of our employees as a top priority. We define wellness 
comprehensively and include mental, physical, emotional, financial, psychological, and environmental 
considerations. We offer a competitive compensation and benefits package and support dedicated campaigns that 
communicate directly to employees about wellness. Employee well-being is further supported through policies such 
as remote work, paid parental leave, military service leave, educational assistance, and bereavement leave policies.

We provide a competitive compensation and benefits program to our employees. In addition to salaries, these 
programs include annual bonus opportunities, a 401(k) plan with an employer matching contribution, healthcare and 
insurance benefits, flexible spending accounts, paid time off, and an employee assistance program.

General Corporate Information

Our headquarters is located at 100 S. Fairfax Street, Alexandria, Virginia 22314, and our telephone number at 
that address is 703-666-3555. We also maintain executive offices and a key operations center in  Moorefield, West 
Virginia to support bank-wide operations across our market footprint. See Item 2. Properties for additional 
information on our locations. Additional information can be found on our website at https://
www.burkeandherbertbank.com. Information on our website or any other website is not incorporated by reference 
herein and does not constitute a part of this Form 10-K.

Supervision and Regulation

The Company and the Bank are highly regulated under both federal and state laws. The following description 
briefly addresses certain provisions of federal and state laws and regulations and their potential effects on the 
Company and the Bank. To the extent statutory or regulatory provisions or proposals are described in this Form 10-
K, the description is qualified in its entirety by reference to the particular statutory or regulatory provisions or 
proposals. 

The Company 

General. As a bank holding company that has elected financial holding company status under the BHCA, the 
Company is subject to regulation, supervision, and examination by the Federal Reserve (through the Federal Reserve 
Bank of Richmond). The Company is a bank holding company under the banking laws of Virginia, and is subject to 
regulation, supervision, and examination by the Virginia BFI.

Permitted Activities. The permitted activities of a bank holding company are limited to managing or controlling 
banks, furnishing services to or performing services for its subsidiaries, and engaging in other activities that the 
Federal Reserve determines by regulation or order to be closely related to banking or managing or controlling banks. 
In addition, bank holding companies that qualify and elect to be financial holding companies, such as the Company, 
may engage in any activity, or acquire and retain the shares of a company engaged in any activity, that is either (i) 
financial in nature or incidental to such financial activity (as determined by the Federal Reserve in consultation with 
the Secretary of the Treasury) or (ii) complementary to a financial activity and does not pose a substantial risk to the 
safety and soundness of depository institutions or the financial system generally (as solely determined by the Federal 
Reserve), without prior approval of the Federal Reserve. Activities that are financial in nature include, but are not 
limited to, securities underwriting and dealing, insurance underwriting, and making merchant banking investments. 
Despite prior approval or permissibility, the Federal Reserve may order the Company or its subsidiaries to terminate 
any activity or to terminate ownership or control of any subsidiary when the Federal Reserve has reasonable cause to 
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believe that a serious risk to the financial safety, soundness, or stability of any bank subsidiary may result from such 
an activity.

To maintain financial holding company status, a financial holding company and all of its depository institution 
subsidiaries must be “well capitalized” and “well managed” as defined under applicable Federal Reserve 
requirements. If a financial holding company ceases to meet these capital and management requirements, the Federal 
Reserve’s regulations provide that the financial holding company must enter into an agreement with the Federal 
Reserve to comply with all applicable capital and management requirements. Until the financial holding company 
returns to compliance, the Federal Reserve may impose limitations or conditions on the conduct of its activities, and 
the company may not commence any of the broader financial activities permissible for financial holding companies 
or acquire a company engaged in such financial activities without prior approval of the Federal Reserve. If the 
company does not return to compliance within 180 days, the Federal Reserve may require the financial holding 
company to divest its depository institution subsidiaries or to cease engaging in any activity that is financial in 
nature (or incident to such financial activity) or complementary to a financial activity. Further, in order for a 
financial holding company to commence any new activity permitted by the BHCA or to acquire a company engaged 
in any new activity permitted by the BHCA, each insured depository institution subsidiary of the financial holding 
company must have received a rating of at least “satisfactory” in its most recent examination under the Community 
Reinvestment Act of 1977 (the “CRA”). See below under “The Bank – Community Reinvestment Act.”

Bank Acquisitions; Change in Control. The BHCA and related regulations require, among other things, the prior 
approval of the Federal Reserve in any case where a bank holding company proposes to (i) acquire direct or indirect 
ownership or control of more than 5% of the outstanding voting stock of any bank or bank holding company (unless 
it already owns a majority of such voting shares), (ii) acquire all or substantially all of the assets of another bank or 
bank holding company, or (iii) merge or consolidate with any other bank holding company. In determining whether 
to approve a proposed bank acquisition, the Federal Reserve will consider, among other factors, the effect of the 
acquisition on competition, the public benefits expected to be received from the acquisition, any outstanding 
regulatory compliance issues of any institution that is a party to the transaction, the projected capital ratios and levels 
on a post-acquisition basis, the financial condition of each institution that is a party to the transaction and of the 
combined institution after the transaction, the parties’ managerial resources and risk management and governance 
processes and systems, the parties’ compliance with the Bank Secrecy Act (“BSA”) and anti-money laundering 
requirements, and the acquiring institution’s performance under the CRA and compliance with fair housing and 
other consumer protection laws. 

On July 9, 2021, the U.S. president issued an executive order that encouraged the federal banking agencies to 
review merger oversight under the BHCA and the Bank Merger Act. While the FDIC updated its bank merger policy 
statement, the Federal Reserve made no changes to its merger rules and guidelines. It is possible that the current 
President could rescind the executive order, and any changes related to implementation of the Bank Merger Act are 
uncertain and cannot be predicted at this time. However, the adoption of more expansive or stringent standards may 
have an impact on the Company’s ability to engage in acquisition activities.

Subject to certain exceptions, the BHCA and the Change in Bank Control Act, together with the applicable 
regulations, require Federal Reserve approval (or depending on the circumstances, no notice of disapproval) prior to 
any person or company’s acquiring “control” of a bank or bank holding company. A conclusive presumption of 
control exists if any individual or company acquires the power, directly or indirectly, to direct the management or 
policies of an insured depository institution or to vote 25% or more of any class of voting securities of any insured 
depository institution. A rebuttable presumption of control exists if a person or company acquires 10% or more but 
less than 25% of any class of voting securities of an insured depository institution and either the institution has 
registered its securities with the SEC under Section 12 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the 
“Exchange Act”) or no other person will own a greater percentage of that class of voting securities immediately after 
the acquisition.

In addition, Virginia law requires prior approval from the Virginia BFI for (i) the acquisition by a Virginia bank 
holding company of more than 5% of the voting shares of a Virginia bank or any holding company that controls a 
Virginia bank, or (ii) the acquisition by a Virginia bank holding company of a bank or its holding company 
domiciled outside Virginia.
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Source of Strength. Federal Reserve policy has historically required bank holding companies to act as a source 
of financial and managerial strength to their subsidiary banks, which was codified in Section 38A of the Federal 
Deposit Insurance Act (“FDIA”). Under this requirement, the Company is expected to commit resources to support 
the Bank, including at times when the Company may not be in a financial position to provide such resources. Any 
capital loans by a bank holding company to any of its subsidiary banks are subordinate in right of payment to 
depositors and to certain other indebtedness of such subsidiary banks. In the event of a bank holding company’s 
bankruptcy, any commitment by the bank holding company to a federal bank regulatory agency to maintain the 
capital of a subsidiary bank will be assumed by the bankruptcy trustee and entitled to the priority of payment.

Safety and Soundness. There are a number of obligations and restrictions imposed on bank holding companies 
and their subsidiary banks by law and regulatory policy that are designed to minimize potential loss to the depositors 
of such depository institutions and the Deposit Insurance Fund (“DIF”) in the event of a depository institution 
insolvency, receivership, or default. For example, under the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation Improvement 
Act of 1991, to avoid receivership of an insured depository institution subsidiary, a bank holding company is 
required to guarantee the compliance of any subsidiary bank that may become “undercapitalized” with the terms of 
any capital restoration plan filed by such subsidiary with its appropriate federal bank regulatory agency up to the 
lesser of (i) an amount equal to 5% of the institution’s total assets at the time the institution became 
“undercapitalized,” or (ii) the amount that is necessary (or would have been necessary) to bring the institution into 
compliance with all applicable capital standards as of the time the institution fails to comply with such capital 
restoration plan. 

Under the FDIA, federal bank regulatory agencies have adopted guidelines prescribing safety and soundness 
standards. These guidelines establish general standards relating to capital management, internal controls and 
information systems, data security, loan documentation, credit underwriting, interest rate exposure, risk management 
vendor management, corporate governance, asset growth, and compensation, fees, and benefits. In general, the 
guidelines require, among other things, appropriate systems and practices to identify and manage the risk and 
exposures specified in the guidelines.

Capital Requirements. The Federal Reserve imposes certain capital requirements on bank holding companies 
under the BHCA, including a minimum leverage ratio and a minimum ratio of “qualifying” capital to risk-weighted 
assets. These requirements are described below under “The Bank – Capital Requirements.” Subject to its capital 
requirements and certain other restrictions, the Company is able to borrow money to make a capital contribution to 
the Bank, and such loans may be repaid from dividends paid by the Bank to the Company.

Limits on Dividends, Capital Distributions, and Other Payments. The Company is a legal entity, separate and 
distinct from its Bank subsidiary. A significant portion of the revenues of the Company result from dividends paid to 
it by the Bank. There are various legal limitations applicable to the payment of dividends by the Bank to the 
Company, to the payment of dividends by the Company to its shareholders, and to the repurchase by the Company 
of outstanding shares of its capital stock. The Bank is subject to various statutory and regulatory restrictions on its 
ability to pay dividends to the Company. Under current regulations, prior approval from the Federal Reserve is 
required if cash dividends declared by the Bank or the Company would be an unsafe or unsound practice, and may 
be limited by other factors, such as requirements to maintain capital above regulatory guidelines. Bank regulatory 
agencies have the authority to prohibit the Bank and the Company from engaging in unsafe or unsound practices in 
conducting their respective businesses. The payment of dividends, or the repurchase of outstanding capital stock, 
depending on the financial condition of the Bank or the Company, could be deemed to constitute such an unsafe or 
unsound practice.

Under the FDIA, insured depository institutions, such as the Bank, are prohibited from making capital 
distributions, including the payment of dividends, if after making such distributions the institution would become 
“undercapitalized” (as such term is used in the FDIA). 

The Company may receive fees from or pay fees to its affiliated companies for expenses incurred related to 
certain activities performed by or for the Company for the benefit of its affiliated companies or for its benefit. These 
fees are charged to/received from each affiliated company based upon various specific allocation methods measuring 
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the estimated usage of such services by that company. The fees are eliminated from reported financial statements in 
the consolidation process. 

The Bank

General. The Bank is subject to federal and state regulation, supervision, and examination. The Bank’s principal 
federal regulator was the FDIC until December 31, 2024. On that date, the Bank became a member of the Federal 
Reserve System, and now both the Bank and the Company are supervised and regularly examined by the Federal 
Reserve and the Virginia BFI. The various laws and regulations administered by the bank regulatory agencies affect 
corporate practices, such as the payment of dividends, incurrence of debt, and the acquisition of financial institutions 
and other companies. These laws and regulations also affect business practices, such as the payment of interest on 
deposits, the charging of interest on loans, credit policies, the types of business conducted, and the location of 
offices. Certain of these laws and regulations are referenced above under “The Company.”

Capital Requirements. The Federal Reserve and the other federal banking agencies have issued risk-based and 
leverage capital rules applicable to U.S. banking organizations, based on updated capital standards from the Basel 
Committee on Banking Supervision (“Basel III Framework”). Those regulatory agencies may from time to time 
require that a banking organization maintain capital above the minimum levels because of its financial condition or 
actual or anticipated growth.

These capital rules require the Bank to comply with the following minimum capital ratios: (i) a minimum ratio 
of common equity Tier 1 to risk-weighted assets of 4.5%, plus a 2.5% capital conservation buffer, resulting in a 
minimum ratio of common equity Tier 1 to risk-weighted assets of 7.0%, (ii) a minimum ratio of Tier 1 capital to 
risk-weighted assets of 6.0%, plus the 2.5% capital conservation buffer, resulting in a minimum Tier 1 capital ratio 
of 8.5%, (iii) a minimum ratio of total risk-based capital to risk-weighted assets of 8.0%, plus the 2.5% capital 
conservation buffer, resulting in a minimum total risk-based capital ratio of 10.5%, and (iv) a minimum leverage 
ratio of 4.0%, calculated as the ratio of Tier 1 capital to average assets. The capital conservation buffer is designed to 
absorb losses during periods of economic stress. Banking institutions with a ratio of common equity Tier 1 to risk-
weighted assets above the minimum but below the conservation buffer will face constraints on dividends, equity 
repurchases, and discretionary compensation paid to certain officers, based on the amount of the shortfall.

The Tier 1, common equity Tier 1, and total capital to risk-weighted asset ratios of the Company were 11.96%, 
11.53%, and 14.57%, respectively, as of December 31, 2024, thus exceeding the minimum requirements for “well 
capitalized” status. The Tier 1, common equity Tier 1, and total capital to risk-weighted asset ratios of the Bank 
were 13.29%, 13.29%, and 14.41%, respectively, as of December 31, 2024, also exceeding the minimum 
requirements for “well capitalized” status. See Note 12 — Regulatory Capital Matters, in Notes to the December 31, 
2024 Consolidated Financial Statements of the Company (the “Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements”) for 
additional information.

On November 4, 2019, the federal banking agencies jointly issued a final rule that permits qualifying banks that 
have less than $10 billion in total consolidated assets to elect to be subject to a 9% “community bank leverage 
ratio” (“CBLR”). Under the final rule, a qualifying bank that has chosen the proposed framework would not be 
required to calculate the existing risk-based and leverage capital requirements and would be considered to have met 
the capital ratio requirements to be “well capitalized” under “prompt corrective action” rules provided it has a CBLR 
greater than 9%. The Bank has not yet opted into the CBLR framework, but continues to assess the potential impact 
of making this election as part of its ongoing capital management and planning processes.

In 2016, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) 
2016-13, Financial Instruments – Credit Losses (Topic 326): Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial 
Instruments, which requires financial institutions to estimate and establish an allowance for credit losses using a 
current expected credit loss (“CECL”) model. The CECL model will estimate credit losses over the lifetime of our 
financial assets measured at amortized cost at the date of origination or acquisition, as opposed to reserving for 
incurred or probable losses through the balance sheet date. The Company implemented ASU 2016-13 on January 1, 
2023, and recognized a one-time cumulative effect adjustment to the allowance through retained earnings as a result 
of applying this ASU. The Federal Reserve has adopted a rule providing for an optional three-year phase-in period 
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for the day-one adverse regulatory capital effects upon adopting the standard, which the Company has not elected to 
implement. See “Adoption of New Accounting Standards” under Note 1 — Nature of Banking Activities and 
Significant Accounting Policies in Notes to the December 31, 2024 Consolidated Financial Statements for further 
information regarding the implementation of CECL.

Prompt Corrective Action. Federal banking regulators are authorized and, under certain circumstances, required 
to take certain actions against banks that fail to meet their capital requirements. The federal bank regulatory agencies 
have additional enforcement authority with respect to “undercapitalized” depository institutions. As described 
above, the final rules to implement the Basel III Framework also integrated new requirements into the “prompt 
corrective action” framework. “Well capitalized” institutions may generally operate without additional supervisory 
restriction. With respect to “adequately capitalized” institutions, such banks cannot normally pay dividends or make 
any capital contributions that would leave the bank “undercapitalized;” they cannot pay a management fee to a 
controlling person if after paying the fee, it would be “undercapitalized;” and they cannot accept, renew, or rollover 
any brokered deposit unless the bank has applied for and been granted a waiver by the FDIC.

Immediately upon becoming “undercapitalized,” a depository institution becomes subject to the provisions of 
Section 38 of the FDIA, which: (i) restrict payment of capital distributions and management fees; (ii) require that the 
appropriate federal banking agency monitor the condition of the institution and its efforts to restore its capital; (iii) 
require submission of a capital restoration plan; (iv) restrict the growth of the institution’s assets; and (v) require 
prior approval of certain expansion proposals. The appropriate federal banking agency for an “undercapitalized” 
institution also may take any number of discretionary supervisory actions if the agency determines that any of these 
actions is necessary to resolve the problems of the institution at the least possible long-term cost to the DIF, subject 
in certain cases to specified procedures. These discretionary supervisory actions include: (i) requiring the institution 
to raise additional capital; (ii) restricting transactions with affiliates; (iii) requiring divestiture of the institution or the 
sale of the institution to a willing purchaser; and (iv) any other supervisory action that the agency deems appropriate. 
These and additional mandatory and permissive supervisory actions may be taken with respect to significantly 
“undercapitalized” and “critically undercapitalized” institutions.

To be “well-capitalized” under the federal banking agencies’ “prompt corrective action” regulations adopted 
pursuant to Section 38 of the FDIA, banks must maintain a minimum Tier 1 leverage ratio of 5.0%, a minimum 
common equity Tier 1 capital ratio of 6.5%, a minimum Tier 1 capital ratio of 8.0%, and a minimum total capital 
ratio of 10.0%. The Bank met the definition of being “well capitalized” as of December 31, 2024, and December 31, 
2023. See “The Bank – Capital Requirements,” above.

Deposit Insurance. The deposits of the Bank are insured by the FDIC up to applicable limits by the DIF. The 
basic limit on FDIC deposit insurance coverage is $250,000 per ownership category. Under the FDIA, the FDIC 
may terminate deposit insurance upon a finding that the institution has engaged in unsafe or unsound practices, is in 
an unsafe or unsound condition to continue operations as an insured depository institution, or has violated any 
applicable law, regulation, rule, order, or condition imposed by the FDIC, subject to administrative and potential 
judicial hearing and review processes.

The Bank is subject to deposit insurance assessments to maintain the DIF. Deposit insurance pricing is based on 
CAMELS composite ratings and certain other financial ratios to determine assessment rates for small-established 
institutions with less than $10 billion in assets. The CAMELS rating system is a supervisory rating system designed 
to take into account and reflect all financial and operational risks that a bank may face, including Capital adequacy, 
Asset quality, Management capability, Earnings, Liquidity, and Sensitivity to market risk (“CAMELS”). CAMELS 
composite ratings set a maximum insurance assessment for CAMELS 1 (highest) and 2 rated banks and set 
minimum assessments for lower rated institutions.

In March 2016, the FDIC raised the DIF’s minimum reserve ratio from 1.15% to 1.35%. The FDIC imposed a 
4.5 basis point annual surcharge on insured depository institutions with total consolidated assets of $10 billion or 
more. The rule granted credits to smaller banks for the portion of their regular assessments that contributed to 
increasing the reserve ratio from 1.15% to 1.35%. For the years ended December 31, 2024, December 31, 2023, and 
December 31, 2022, the Company recorded expense of $3.0 million, $1.65 million, and $958 thousand, respectively, 
for FDIC insurance premiums.
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On October 18, 2022, the FDIC adopted a final rule to increase initial base deposit insurance assessment rate 
schedules uniformly by 2 basis points, beginning in the first quarterly assessment period of 2023. This increase in 
assessment rate schedules is intended to increase the likelihood that the reserve ratio reaches 1.35% by the statutory 
deadline of September 30, 2028. The new assessment rate schedules will remain in effect unless and until the reserve 
ratio meets or exceeds 2%. Progressively lower assessment rate schedules will take effect when the reserve ratio 
reaches 2%, and again when it reaches 2.5%.

Transactions with Affiliates. Pursuant to Sections 23A and 23B of the Federal Reserve Act and Regulation W, 
the authority of the Bank to engage in transactions with related parties or “affiliates,” or to make loans to insiders, is 
limited. Loan transactions with an affiliate generally must be collateralized and certain transactions between the 
Bank and its affiliates, including the sale of assets, the payment of money, or the provision of services, must be on 
terms and conditions that are substantially the same, or at least as favorable to the Bank, as those prevailing for 
comparable nonaffiliated transactions. In addition, the Bank generally may not purchase securities issued or 
underwritten by affiliates.

Loans to executive officers, directors, or to any person who directly or indirectly, or acting through or in concert 
with one or more persons, owns, controls, or has the power to vote more than 10% of any class of voting securities 
of a bank are subject to Sections 22(g) and 22(h) of the Federal Reserve Act and their corresponding regulations 
(Regulation O) and Section 13(k) of the Exchange Act, relating to the prohibition on personal loans to executives 
(which exempts financial institutions in compliance with the insider lending restrictions of Section 22(h) of the 
Federal Reserve Act). Among other things, these loans must be made on terms substantially the same as those 
prevailing on transactions made to unaffiliated individuals and certain extensions of credit to those persons must first 
be approved in advance by a disinterested majority of the entire Board. Section 22(h) of the Federal Reserve Act 
prohibits loans to any of those individuals where the aggregate amount exceeds an amount equal to 15% of an 
institution’s unimpaired capital and surplus plus an additional 10% of unimpaired capital and surplus in the case of 
loans that are fully secured by readily marketable collateral, or when the aggregate amount on all of the extensions 
of credit outstanding to all of these persons would exceed the bank’s unimpaired capital and unimpaired surplus. 
Section 22(g) of the Federal Reserve Act identifies limited circumstances in which a bank is permitted to extend 
credit to executive officers.

Community Reinvestment Act. The Bank is subject to the requirements of the CRA. The CRA imposes on 
financial institutions an affirmative and ongoing obligation to meet the credit needs of the local communities they 
serve, including low-income and moderate-income neighborhoods. If the Bank receives a rating from the Federal 
Reserve of less than “satisfactory” under the CRA, restrictions on operating activities would be imposed. In 
addition, in order for a financial holding company, like the Company, to commence any new activity permitted by 
the BHCA, or to acquire any company engaged in any new activity permitted by the BHCA, each insured depository 
institution subsidiary of the financial holding company must have received a rating of at least “satisfactory” in its 
most recent examination under the CRA. The Bank received a “satisfactory” CRA rating in its most recent 
examination, dated May 1, 2023.

On October 24, 2023, the federal bank regulatory agencies jointly issued a final rule to modernize CRA 
regulations consistent with the following key goals: (1) to encourage banks to expand access to credit, investment, 
and banking services in low to moderate income communities; (2) to adapt to changes in the banking industry, 
including internet and mobile banking and the growth of non-branch delivery systems; (3) to provide greater clarity 
and consistency in the application of the CRA regulations, including adoption of a new metrics-based approach to 
evaluating bank retail lending and community development financing; and (4) to tailor CRA evaluations and data 
collection to bank size and type, recognizing that differences in bank size and business models may impact CRA 
evaluations and qualifying activities. Most of the final CRA rule’s requirements will be applicable beginning 
January 1, 2026, with certain requirements, including the data reporting requirements, applicable as of January 1, 
2027. The Bank is currently evaluating the impact of the modified CRA regulations, but does not anticipate any 
resulting material impact to its operations or compliance objectives. The Bank anticipates that final and formal 
changes to interagency CRA regulations will require an extended process, and any such changes are uncertain and 
cannot be predicted at this time. The final rule is currently enjoined as to the plaintiff trade associations while a 
federal court considers a lawsuit challenging the rule.
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Federal Home Loan Banks (“FHLBs”). The Bank is a member of the FHLB of Atlanta, which is one of 12 
regional FHLBs that provide funding to their members for making housing loans as well as for affordable housing 
and community development loans. Each FHLB serves as a reserve, or central bank, for the members within its 
assigned region, and makes loans to its members in accordance with policies and procedures established by the 
board of directors of the applicable FHLB. As a member, the Bank must purchase and maintain stock in the FHLB 
of Atlanta.

Privacy Legislation. Several laws, including the Right to Financial Privacy Act and the Gramm-Leach-Bliley 
Act (“GLB Act”), and related regulations issued by the federal bank regulatory agencies, provide protections against 
the transfer and use of customer information by financial institutions. A financial institution must provide its 
customers information regarding its policies and procedures with respect to the handling of customers’ personal 
information. Each institution must conduct an internal risk assessment of its ability to protect customer information. 
These privacy provisions generally prohibit a financial institution from providing a customer’s personal financial 
information to unaffiliated parties without prior notice to and approval from the customer.

In March 2021, the Governor of Virginia signed into law the Virginia Consumer Data Protection Act (the 
“VCDPA”), which went into effect on January 1, 2023. The VCDPA grants Virginia residents the right to access, 
correct, delete, know, and opt-out of the sale and processing for targeted advertising purposes of their personal 
information, similar to the protections provided by similar consumer data privacy laws in California and in Europe. 
The VCDPA also imposes data protection assessment requirements and authorizes the Attorney General of Virginia 
to enforce the VCDPA, but does not provide a private right of action for consumers. As a financial institution 
subject to the GLB Act, the Bank is exempt from the VCDPA, but certain third-party vendors of the Company or the 
Bank will be subject to the VCDPA, which may impact the products or services that we obtain from those vendors.

Collectively, these privacy laws and regulations impose compliance costs and create obligations and, in some 
cases, reporting obligations, and compliance with these laws, regulations, and obligations may require significant 
resources of the Company and the Bank. 

Anti-Money Laundering Laws and Regulations. The Bank is subject to several federal laws that are designed to 
combat money laundering, terrorist financing, and transactions with persons, companies or foreign governments 
designated by U.S. authorities (“AML laws”). This category of laws includes the BSA, the Money Laundering 
Control Act of 1986, the Uniting and Strengthening America by Providing Appropriate Tools Required to Intercept 
and Obstruct Terrorism Act of 2001 (“USA PATRIOT Act”), and the Anti-Money Laundering Act of 2020.

The AML laws and their implementing regulations require insured depository institutions, broker-dealers, and 
certain other financial institutions to have policies, procedures, and controls to detect, prevent, and report money 
laundering and terrorist financing. The AML laws and their regulations also provide for information sharing, subject 
to conditions, between federal law enforcement agencies and financial institutions, as well as among financial 
institutions, for counter-terrorism purposes. Federal banking regulators are required, when reviewing bank holding 
company acquisition and bank merger applications, to take into account the effectiveness of the anti-money 
laundering activities of the applicants. To comply with these obligations, the Bank has implemented appropriate 
internal practices, procedures, and controls.

Reporting Terrorist Activities. The Office of Foreign Assets Control (“OFAC”), which is a division of the 
Department of the Treasury, is responsible for helping to ensure that United States entities do not engage in 
transactions with “enemies” of the United States, as defined by various executive orders and acts of Congress. 
OFAC has sent, and will send, our bank regulatory agencies lists of names of persons and organizations suspected of 
aiding, harboring, or engaging in terrorist acts. If the Bank finds a name on any transaction, account, or wire transfer 
that is on an OFAC list, it must freeze such account, file a suspicious activity report, and notify the Federal Bureau 
of Investigation. The Bank has appointed an OFAC compliance officer to oversee the inspection of its accounts and 
the filing of any notifications. The Bank actively checks high-risk OFAC areas, such as new accounts, wire 
transfers, and customer files. The Bank performs these checks utilizing software, which is updated each time a 
modification is made to the lists provided by OFAC and other agencies of Specially Designated Nationals and 
Blocked Persons.
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Consumer Financial Protection. The Bank is subject to a number of federal and state consumer protection laws 
that extensively govern its relationship with its customers. These laws include the Equal Credit Opportunity Act, the 
Fair Credit Reporting Act, the Truth in Lending Act, the Truth in Savings Act, the Electronic Fund Transfer Act, the 
Expedited Funds Availability Act, the Home Mortgage Disclosure Act, the Fair Housing Act, the Real Estate 
Settlement Procedures Act, the Fair Debt Collection Practices Act, the Service Members Civil Relief Act, laws 
governing flood insurance, federal and state laws prohibiting unfair and deceptive business practices, foreclosure 
laws, and various regulations that implement some or all of the foregoing. These laws and regulations mandate 
certain disclosure requirements and regulate the manner in which financial institutions must deal with customers 
when taking deposits, making loans, collecting loans, and providing other services. If the Bank fails to comply with 
these laws and regulations, it may be subject to various penalties. Failure to comply with consumer protection 
requirements may also result in failure to obtain any required bank regulatory approval for merger or acquisition 
transactions the Bank may wish to pursue or being prohibited from engaging in such transactions, even if approval is 
not required.

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (the “CFPB”) is responsible for implementing, examining, and 
enforcing compliance with federal consumer financial protection laws. The CFPB focuses on (i) risks to consumers 
and compliance with the federal consumer financial laws, (ii) the markets in which firms operate and risks to 
consumers posed by activities in those markets, (iii) depository institutions that offer a wide variety of consumer 
financial products and services, and (iv) non-depository companies that offer one or more consumer financial 
products or services. The CFPB is responsible for examining and enforcing compliance with federal consumer 
financial laws for institutions with more than $10 billion of assets. While the Bank, like all banks, is subject to 
federal consumer protection rules enacted by the CFPB, because the Company and the Bank have total consolidated 
assets of less than $10 billion, the Federal Reserve oversees most of the consumer financial protection laws and 
regulations applicable to the Bank.

The CFPB has broad rulemaking authority for a wide range of consumer financial laws that apply to all banks, 
including, among other things, the authority to prohibit “unfair, deceptive or abusive” acts and practices. Abusive 
acts or practices are defined as those that materially interfere with a consumer’s ability to understand a term or 
condition of a consumer financial product or service or take unreasonable advantage of a consumer’s (i) lack of 
financial savvy, (ii) inability to protect himself or herself in the selection or use of consumer financial products or 
services, or (iii) reasonable reliance on a covered entity to act in the consumer’s interests. The CFPB can issue 
cease-and-desist orders against banks and other entities that violate consumer financial laws. The CFPB may also 
institute a civil action against an entity in violation of federal consumer financial law in order to impose a civil 
penalty or injunction. Further regulatory positions taken by the CFPB may influence how other regulatory agencies 
may apply the subject consumer financial protection laws and regulations.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the recent changes in the U.S. presidential administration and the composition 
of the U.S. Congress is expected to lead to potentially significant changes to the existence, priorities, scope, 
practices and/or staffing levels of various regulatory agencies. For example, in February 2025, the U.S. presidential 
administration directed the CFPB to, among other things, suspend rule implementations and cease supervision 
activities.

Incentive Compensation. In 2016, the SEC and the federal banking agencies proposed rules that prohibit 
covered financial institutions (including bank holding companies and banks) from establishing or maintaining 
incentive-based compensation arrangements that encourage inappropriate risk taking by providing covered persons 
(consisting of senior executive officers and significant risk takers, as defined in the rules) with excessive 
compensation, fees, or benefits that could lead to material financial loss to the financial institution. The comment 
period for these proposed rules has closed, and although the agencies indicated that the incentive compensation 
proposal would be on their collective 2024 regulatory agenda, a final rule has not yet been published. If the rules are 
adopted as currently proposed, they will restrict the manner in which executive compensation is structured.

Mortgage Banking Regulation. In connection with making mortgage loans, the Bank is subject to rules and 
regulations that, among other things, establish standards for loan origination, prohibit discrimination, provide for 
inspections and appraisals of property, require credit reports on prospective borrowers, in some cases, restrict certain 
loan features and fix maximum interest rates and fees, require the disclosure of certain basic information to 
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mortgagors concerning credit and settlement costs, limit payment for settlement services to the reasonable value of 
the services rendered, and require the maintenance and disclosure of information regarding the disposition of 
mortgage applications based on race, gender, geographical distribution, and income level. The Bank is also subject 
to rules and regulations that require the collection and reporting of significant amounts of information with respect 
to mortgage loans and borrowers. The Bank’s mortgage origination activities are subject to Regulation Z, which 
implements the Truth in Lending Act. Certain provisions of Regulation Z require creditors to make a reasonable and 
good faith determination based on verified and documented information that a consumer applying for a mortgage 
loan has a reasonable ability to repay the loan according to its terms.

Brokered Deposits. Section 29 of the FDIA and FDIC regulations generally limit the ability of any bank to 
accept, renew, or roll over any brokered deposit unless it is “well capitalized” or, with the FDIC’s approval, 
“adequately capitalized.” On December 15, 2020, the FDIC issued rules to revise brokered deposit regulations in 
light of modern deposit-taking methods. The rules established a new framework for certain provisions of the 
“deposit broker” definition and amended the FDIC’s interest rate methodology calculating rates and rate caps. The 
rules became effective on April 1, 2021. The Bank has not experienced any material impact to its operations as a 
result of the rules. In July 2024, the FDIC proposed further revisions to the brokered deposit regulations that would 
reverse many of the changes made in 2020. The comment period for the proposed rule has closed, but a final rule 
has not yet been published.

Future Regulation

From time to time, various legislative and regulatory initiatives are introduced in Congress and state 
legislatures, as well as by regulatory agencies. Such initiatives may include proposals to expand or contract the 
powers of bank holding companies, financial holding companies, and depository institutions or proposals to 
substantially change the financial institution regulatory system. Such legislation could change banking statutes and 
the operating environment of the Company and the Bank in substantial and unpredictable ways. If enacted, such 
legislation could increase or decrease the cost of doing business, limit or expand permissible activities, or affect the 
competitive balance among banks, savings associations, credit unions, and other financial institutions. The Company 
cannot predict whether any such legislation will be enacted, and, if enacted, the effect that it, or any implementing 
regulations, would have on the financial condition or results of operations of the Company or the Bank. 

Effect of Governmental Monetary Policies

The Company’s operations are affected not only by general economic conditions but also by the policies of 
various regulatory authorities. In particular, the Federal Reserve uses monetary policy tools to impact money market 
and credit market conditions and interest rates to influence general economic conditions. These policies have a 
significant impact on overall growth and distribution of loans, investments, and deposits; they affect market interest 
rates charged on loans or paid for time and savings deposits, and can significantly influence employment and 
inflation rates. Federal Reserve monetary policies have had a significant effect on the operating results of 
commercial banks, including the Company, in the past and are expected to do so in the future.

Reporting Obligations under Securities Laws

The Company is subject to the periodic and other reporting requirements of the Exchange Act, including the 
filing of annual, quarterly, and other reports, and amendments to those reports, with the SEC. The Company’s SEC 
filings will be posted and available at no cost on its website as soon as reasonably practicable after the reports are 
filed or furnished electronically with the SEC. The Company’s website address is at http://
investor.burkeandherbertbank.com. The information on the Company’s website is not incorporated into this report or 
any other filing the Company makes with the SEC. The SEC maintains an Internet site that contains reports, proxy 
and information statements, and other information regarding issuers that file electronically with the SEC at http://
www.sec.gov. 
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Item 1A. Risk Factors

An investment in our Common Stock involves risks and uncertainties. In addition to the other information set 
forth in this Form 10-K, including information addressed under “Disclosure Regarding Forward-Looking 
Statements,” investors in our Common Stock should carefully consider the factors discussed below. These factors 
could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition, liquidity, results of operations, and capital 
position and could cause our actual results to differ materially from our historical results or the results contemplated 
by the forward-looking statements contained in our Form 10-K, in which case the trading price of our Common 
Stock could decline. The Risk Factors Summary that follows should be read in conjunction with the detailed 
description of risk factors following this summary section.
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Risk Factor Summary

o Risks Related to Our Lending Activities
• We may not be able to measure and limit our credit risk adequately.
• Our decisions regarding credit risk could be inaccurate and our allowance for credit losses may be 

inadequate.
• If our non-performing assets increase, our earnings will be adversely affected.
• Our focus on lending to small to medium-sized businesses may increase our credit risk.
• Adverse changes in the real estate market or economy in our market area could lead to higher levels of 

problem loans and charge-offs, adversely affecting our earnings and financial condition.
• We are exposed to higher credit risk by commercial real estate, commercial and industrial, and acquisition, 

construction & development-based lending, as well as large lending relationships.
• We engage in lending secured by real estate and may be forced to foreclose on the collateral. 
• A significant percentage of our loans are attributable to a relatively small number of borrowers.
• The appraisals and other valuation techniques we use may not accurately reflect the net value of the asset.

o Risks Related to Funding and Liquidity 
• Liquidity risk could impair our ability to fund operations and meet our obligations as they become due. 
• Loss of deposits or a change in deposit mix could increase our cost of funding. 
• Limits on our ability to use brokered deposits as part of our funding strategy may affect our profitability.

o Risks Related to Our Business, Industry, and Markets
• We operate in a highly competitive market and face increasing competition.
• Our financial performance may be negatively affected if we are unable to execute our strategy. 
• Failure to keep up with the rapid technological changes in the financial services industry could have an 

adverse effect on our competitive position and profitability.
• We follow a relationship-based operating model, and our ability to maintain our reputation is critical to the 

success of our business, and the failure to do so may materially adversely affect our performance.
• We are dependent on our management team and key employees.
• Changes in interest rates and monetary policy may negatively affect our earnings, income and financial 

condition, as well as the value of our assets.
• We are subject to physical and financial risks associated with climate change impacts.

o Risks Related to Our Operations
• We face risks related to our operational, technological, and organizational infrastructure.
• System failure or breaches of our network security, including as a result of cyber-attacks or data security 

breaches, could subject us to increased operating costs, litigation, and other liabilities.
• We rely on third parties to provide key components of our business infrastructure.
• We could be subject to losses, regulatory action, or reputational harm due to fraudulent and negligent acts 

on the part of loan applicants, our employees, and vendors.
• We are subject to claims and litigation pertaining to intellectual property.
• We may be adversely affected by the lack of soundness of other financial institutions and market 

participants. 
• Our risk management framework may not be effective in mitigating risks and/or losses to us.
• Demand for the Company’s services is influenced by general economic and consumer trends.
• Our results may suffer if we do not effectively manage our expanded operations, including complying with 

any enhanced regulatory requirements.

o Risks Related to Our Regulatory Environment
• Our industry is highly regulated, and the regulatory framework, together with any future legislative or 

regulatory changes, may have a materially adverse effect on our operations.
• We are subject to stringent capital requirements, which could have an adverse effect on our operations.
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• We face a risk of noncompliance and enforcement action with the BSA and other anti-money laundering 
statutes and regulations. 

• We are subject to laws regarding the privacy, information security, and protection of personal information.
• Our use of third-party vendors and our other ongoing third-party business relationships are subject to 

increasing regulatory requirements and attention.
• Regulatory requirements affecting our loans secured by commercial real estate could limit our ability to 

leverage our capital and adversely affect our growth and profitability.
• Evolving expectations from customers, regulators, investors, and other stakeholders with respect to 

Environmental, Social, and Governance (“ESG”) practices may impose additional costs on us or expose us 
to new or additional risks.

o Risks Related to an Investment in Our Common Stock
• We currently qualify as an “emerging growth company”, and the reduced disclosures and relief from 

certain other significant disclosure requirements that are available to emerging growth companies may 
make our Common Stock less attractive to investors. 

• If we fail to design, implement, and maintain effective internal control over financial reporting or remediate 
any future material weakness in our internal control over financial reporting, we may be unable to 
accurately report our financial results or prevent fraud.

• We may issue additional equity securities, or engage in other transactions, which could affect the priority of 
our Common Stock, which may adversely affect the market price of our Common Stock.

• An investment in our Common Stock is not an insured deposit and is not guaranteed by the FDIC.
• Holders of our junior subordinated debentures and preferred stock have rights that are senior to those of our 

common stockholders.
• Our Bylaws designate the United States District Court for the Eastern District of Virginia, Alexandria 

Division, or in the event that court lacks jurisdiction, the Circuit Court of the City of Alexandria, Virginia, 
as the sole and exclusive forum for certain types of actions and proceedings that may be initiated by our 
shareholders, which may not be enforced and could discourage lawsuits against us and our directors and 
officers.
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Risk Related to Our Lending Activities

We may not be able to measure and limit our credit risk adequately, which could adversely affect our profitability.

Our business depends on our ability to successfully measure and manage credit risk. As a lender, we are 
exposed to the risk that the principal of, or interest on, a loan will not be paid timely, or at all, or that the value of 
any collateral supporting a loan will be insufficient to cover our outstanding exposure. In addition, we are exposed to 
risks with respect to the period of time over which the loan may be repaid, risks relating to proper loan underwriting, 
risks resulting from changes in economic and industry conditions, and risks inherent in dealing with individual loans 
and borrowers. The creditworthiness of a borrower is affected by many factors, including local market conditions 
and general economic conditions. Many of our loans are made to small to medium-sized businesses that may be less 
able to withstand competitive, economic, and financial pressures than larger borrowers. If the overall economic 
climate in the United States, generally, or in our market, specifically, experiences material disruption, our borrowers 
may experience difficulties in repaying their loans, the collateral we hold may decrease in value or become illiquid, 
and the level of non-performing loans, charge-offs, and delinquencies could rise and require significant additional 
provisions for expected credit losses. Additional factors related to the credit quality of multifamily residential, real 
estate construction, and other commercial real estate loans include the quality of management of the business and 
tenant vacancy rates.

The Chief Credit Officer is responsible for establishing credit risk policies and procedures, including 
underwriting guidelines and credit approval authority, and monitoring credit exposure and performance of the 
Company’s lending-related transactions. Credit risk policies and procedures and credit-related risks are reviewed 
and approved by multiple committees that assess credit risk and enterprise-wide risks. Our risk management 
practices, such as monitoring the concentration of our loans within specific markets and our credit approval, review, 
and administrative practices, may not adequately reduce credit risk, and our credit administration personnel, policies, 
and procedures may not adequately adapt to changes in economic or any other conditions affecting customers and 
the quality of the loan portfolio. A failure to effectively measure and limit the credit risk associated with our loan 
portfolio may result in loan defaults, foreclosures, and additional charge-offs, and may necessitate that we 
significantly increase our allowance for credit losses, each of which could adversely affect our net income. As a 
result, our inability to successfully manage credit risk could have an adverse effect on our business, financial 
condition, and results of operations.

Our decisions regarding credit risk could be inaccurate and our allowance for credit losses may be inadequate, 
which could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations, cash flows, 
and/or future prospects.

We attempt to maintain an appropriate allowance for credit losses to provide for our estimate of all expected 
credit losses for financial assets held at the reporting date based on historical experience, current conditions, and 
reasonable and supportable forecasts. As of December 31, 2024, the allowance for credit losses was $68.0 million or 
1.20% of total gross loans; however, there is no guarantee that it will be sufficient to address credit losses. The 
determination of the appropriate level of allowance for credit losses inherently involves a high degree of subjectivity 
and requires us to make significant estimates related to current and expected future credit risks and trends, all of 
which may undergo material changes. Continuing deterioration in economic conditions affecting borrowers and 
securities issuers; new information regarding existing loans, credit commitments and securities holdings; global 
pandemics; natural disasters and risks related to climate change; and identification of additional problem loans, 
ratings down-grades and other factors, both within and outside of our control, may require an increase in the 
allowances for credit losses on loans, securities, and off-balance sheet credit exposures. There is no precise method 
of predicting credit losses, and therefore, we always face the risk that losses in future periods will exceed our 
allowance for credit losses and that we would need to make additional provisions to our allowance for credit losses, 
which would reduce our earnings. Our methodology for the determination of the adequacy of the allowance for 
credit losses is set forth in Note 4 — Allowance for Credit Losses in the accompanying Consolidated Financial 
Statements.

Additionally, federal and state banking regulators, as an integral part of their supervisory function, periodically 
review the allowance for credit losses. These regulatory agencies may require us to increase our provision for credit 
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losses or to recognize further loan charge-offs based upon their judgments, which may be different from ours. If we 
need to make significant and unanticipated increases in the loss allowance in the future, or to take additional charge-
offs for which we have not established adequate reserves, our business, financial condition, and results of operations 
could be adversely affected at that time.

On January 1, 2023, the Company adopted the Current Expected Credit Loss (“CECL”) methodology as 
required under ASC 326. The CECL standard requires us to record, at the time of origination, credit losses expected 
throughout the life of our loans as opposed to the previous approach of recording losses when it became probable 
that a loss event had occurred. Accordingly, our allowance for credit losses may experience more fluctuations under 
the CECL model than it has in the past, which could in turn result in more volatility in our provision for credit losses 
and, therefore, earnings. See “Recent Accounting Pronouncements” under Note 1 — Nature of Business Activities 
and Significant Accounting Policies of this Form 10-K, for further information regarding the implementation of 
CECL.

If our non-performing assets increase, our earnings will be adversely affected.

At December 31, 2024, we had $41.2 million in non-performing assets. Non-performing assets consist of non-
accrual loans, loans 90 days or more past due and still accruing interest, and other real estate owned. Non-
performing assets held by the Company will adversely affect our net income in various ways:

• We record interest income only on the cash basis or cost-recovery method for non-accrual loans and we do 
not record interest income for other real estate owned;

• We must provide for probable credit losses through a current period charge to the provision for credit 
losses;

• Non-interest expense increases when we write down the value of properties in our other real estate owned 
portfolio to reflect changing market values;

• There are legal fees associated with the resolution of problem assets, as well as carrying costs, such as 
taxes, insurance, and maintenance fees; and

• The resolution of non-performing assets requires the active involvement of management, which can distract 
them from more profitable activity.

If borrowers become delinquent and do not pay their loans and we are unable to successfully manage our non-
performing assets, our losses and troubled assets could increase, which could have a material adverse effect on our 
financial condition and results of operations.

Our focus on lending to small to medium-sized businesses may increase our credit risk.

We target our business development and marketing strategy primarily to serve the banking and financial 
services needs of small to medium-sized businesses. These businesses generally have fewer financial resources in 
terms of capital access or borrowing capacity than larger entities, frequently have smaller market shares than their 
competition, and may be more vulnerable to economic downturns. These businesses also often need substantial 
additional capital to expand or compete, and may experience substantial volatility in operating results, any of which 
may impair their ability as a borrower to repay a loan. These factors may be especially true given the effects of 
global macroeconomic conditions, including volatility and market factors related to or caused by any health crises, 
global political conflict, rising interest rates, labor market volatility, and instability in financial markets. If general 
economic conditions in the markets in which we operate negatively impact this customer segment, our results of 
operations and financial condition and the value of our Common Stock may be adversely affected. Moreover, a 
portion of these loans have been made by us in recent years, and the borrowers may not have experienced a 
complete business or economic cycle. The deterioration of our borrowers’ businesses may hinder their ability to 
repay their loans with us, which could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition and results of 
operations.
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Adverse changes in the real estate market or economy in our market area could lead to higher levels of problem 
loans and charge-offs, adversely affecting our earnings and financial condition.

A substantial portion of our loans are secured by real estate. These concentrations expose us to the risk that 
adverse developments in the real estate market, or in the general economic conditions in such areas, or the 
continuation of such adverse developments, could increase the levels of non-performing loans and charge-offs, and 
reduce loan demand and deposit growth. In that event, we would likely experience lower earnings or losses. 
Additionally, if economic conditions in our market area deteriorate, or there is volatility or weakness in the economy 
or any significant sector of the economy in our markets, our ability to develop our business relationships may be 
diminished, the quality and collectability of our loans may be adversely affected, our provision for credit losses may 
increase, the value of collateral may decline, and loan demand may be reduced.

We are exposed to higher credit risk by commercial real estate, commercial and industrial, and acquisition, 
construction & development-based lending as well as large lending relationships.

Commercial real estate, commercial and industrial, and acquisition, construction & development-based lending 
usually involve higher credit risks than 1-4 family residential real estate lending. As of December 31, 2024, the 
following loan types accounted for the stated percentages of our loan portfolio: commercial real estate – 46.5%; 
owner-occupied commercial real estate – 10.8%; commercial and industrial – 10.8%; and acquisition, construction 
& development – 8.2%. These types of loans also involve larger loan balances to a single borrower or groups of 
related borrowers. These higher credit risks are further heightened when the loans are concentrated in a small 
number of larger borrowers leading to relationship exposure. As of December 31, 2024, we had 31 relationships that 
each had over $25 million of outstanding borrowings. While we are not dependent on any of these relationships and 
while none of these large relationships have directly impacted our allowance for credit losses, a deterioration of any 
of these large credits could require us to increase our allowance for credit losses or result in significant losses.

Commercial and industrial loans and owner-occupied commercial real estate loans are typically based on the 
borrowers’ ability to repay the loans from the cash flow of their businesses. These loans may involve greater risk 
because the availability of funds to repay each loan depends substantially on the success of the business itself, which 
in turn can be dependent upon general economic conditions remaining stable. In addition, the assets securing the 
loans depreciate over time, are difficult to appraise and liquidate, and fluctuate in value based on the success of the 
business.

Real estate construction and development loan lending involves additional risks because funds are advanced 
based on the security of the project, which is of uncertain value prior to its completion, and costs may exceed 
realizable values in declining real estate markets. Because of the uncertainties inherent in estimating construction 
costs (particularly given recent volatility in supply chains, the availability of raw materials, and general economic 
conditions) and the realizable market value of the completed project and the effects of governmental regulation of 
real property, it is relatively difficult to evaluate accurately the total funds required to complete a project and the 
related loan-to-value ratio. As a result, construction loans often involve the disbursement of substantial funds with 
repayment dependent, in part, on the success of the ultimate project and the ability of the borrower to sell or lease 
the property, rather than the ability of the borrower or guarantor to repay principal and interest. If our appraisal of 
the value of the completed project proves to be overstated or market values or rental rates decline, we may have 
inadequate security for the repayment of the loan upon completion of construction of the project. If we are forced to 
foreclose on a project prior to or at completion due to a default, we may not be able to recover all of the unpaid 
balance of, and accrued interest on, the loan, as well as related foreclosure and holding costs. In addition, we may be 
required to fund additional amounts to complete the project and may have to hold the property for an unspecified 
period of time while we attempt to dispose of it.

Additionally, commercial real estate loans, commercial and industrial loans, and acquisition, construction & 
development loans are more susceptible to a risk of loss during a downturn in the business cycle. Our underwriting, 
review and monitoring cannot eliminate all of the risks related to these loans. In particular, the banking regulatory 
agencies have expressed concerns about weaknesses in the current commercial real estate market. Banking 
regulatory authorities typically give commercial real estate lending greater scrutiny and may require banks with 
higher levels of commercial real estate loans to implement enhanced risk management practices, including stricter 
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underwriting, internal controls, risk management policies, more granular reporting, and portfolio stress testing, as 
well as possibly higher levels of allowances for losses and capital levels as a result of commercial real estate lending 
growth and exposure. If our banking regulators determine that our commercial real estate lending activities are 
particularly risky and are subject to heightened scrutiny, we may incur significant additional costs or be required to 
restrict certain of our commercial real estate lending activities. 

We engage in lending secured by real estate and may be forced to foreclose on the collateral and own the 
underlying real estate, subjecting us to the costs and potential risks associated with foreclosure and the ownership 
of real property.

Since we originate loans secured by real estate, we may have to foreclose on the collateral property to protect 
our investment and may thereafter own and operate such property, in which case we would be exposed to the risks 
inherent in the ownership of real estate. The amount that we, as a mortgagee, may realize after a foreclosure depends 
on factors outside of our control, including, but not limited to, general or local economic conditions, environmental 
cleanup liabilities, assessments, interest rates, real estate tax rates, operating expenses of the mortgaged properties, 
our ability to obtain and maintain adequate occupancy of the properties, zoning laws, governmental and regulatory 
rules, and natural disasters. Our inability to manage the amount of costs or size of the risks associated with the 
ownership of real estate or write-downs in the value of other real estate owned (“OREO”) could have an adverse 
effect on our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

Additionally, consumer protection initiatives or changes in state or federal law may substantially increase the 
time and expenses associated with the foreclosure process or prevent us from foreclosing at all. A number of states 
in recent years have either considered or adopted foreclosure reform laws that make it substantially more difficult 
and expensive for lenders to foreclose on properties in default, including in response to the COVID-19 pandemic. 
Additionally, federal and state regulators have prosecuted or pursued enforcement action against a number of 
mortgage servicing companies for alleged consumer law violations. If new federal or state laws or regulations are 
ultimately enacted that significantly raise the cost of foreclosure or raise outright barriers to foreclosure, they could 
have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

A significant percentage of our loans are attributable to a relatively small number of borrowers.

Our 10 largest borrowing relationships accounted for approximately 8.8% of our total loans at December 31, 
2024. Our largest single borrowing relationship accounted for approximately 1.2% of our total loans at 
December 31, 2024. The loss of any combination of these borrowers, or a significant decline in their borrowings due 
to fluctuations related to their business needs or as a result of general economic conditions, could adversely affect 
our results of operations if we are unable to replace their borrowings with similarly priced new loans or investments. 
In addition, with this concentration of credit risk among a limited number of borrowers, we may face a greater risk 
of material credit losses if any one or several of these borrowers fail to perform in accordance with their loans, 
compared to a bank with a more diversified loan portfolio.

The appraisals and other valuation techniques we use in evaluating and monitoring loans secured by real 
property and other real estate owned may not accurately reflect the net value of the asset.

In considering whether to make a loan secured by real property, we generally require an appraisal of the 
property. However, an appraisal is only an estimate of the value of the property at the time the appraisal is made, 
and, as real estate values may change significantly in value in relatively short periods of time (especially in periods 
of heightened economic uncertainty), this estimate may not accurately reflect the net value of the collateral after the 
loan is made. As a result, we may not be able to realize the full amount of any remaining indebtedness when we 
foreclose on and sell the relevant property. In addition, we rely on appraisals and other valuation techniques to 
establish the value of OREO that we acquire through foreclosure proceedings and to determine loan impairments.

If any of these valuations are inaccurate, our consolidated financial statements may not reflect the correct value 
of our OREO, if any, and our allowance for credit losses may not reflect accurate loan impairments. Inaccurate 
valuation of OREO or inaccurate provisioning for credit losses could have an adverse effect on our business, 
financial condition, and results of operations. The Company’s OREO amounted to $2.8 million as of December 31, 
2024.
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Risk Related to Funding and Liquidity

Liquidity risk could impair our ability to fund operations and meet our obligations as they become due.

Liquidity is essential to our business. An inability to maintain sufficient deposits or raise funds through 
additional deposits, borrowings, the sale of loans, and other sources could have a substantial negative effect on our 
liquidity. Our access to funding sources in amounts adequate to finance our activities, or on terms that are acceptable 
to us, could be impaired by factors that affect us specifically, the financial services industry, or the economy, in 
general. Factors that could detrimentally affect our access to liquidity sources may be beyond our control and 
include, among other things, market disruptions, changes in our credit ratings, lack of sufficient qualifying collateral 
to support borrowings, competitive dynamics, reputational damage, the confidence of depositors in us or the 
financial-services industry, generally, a decrease in the level of our business activity as a result of a downturn in the 
markets in which our loans are concentrated, and an adverse regulatory action against us. Our ability to borrow 
could also be impaired by factors that are not specific to us, such as a disruption in the financial markets, increased 
inflation, tariffs or other disruptions to global trade, trade agreements or supply chains, rising interest rates, the state 
of the regulatory environment and monetary and fiscal policies, the possibility of the U.S. government defaulting on 
its debt, or negative views and expectations about the prospects for the financial services industry or the global 
economy more broadly.

Actual events involving limited liquidity, defaults, non-performance, or other adverse developments that affect 
financial institutions, transactional counterparties, or other companies in the financial services industry or the 
financial services industry, generally, or concerns or rumors about any events of these kinds or other similar risks, 
have in the past, and may in the future, lead to market-wide liquidity problems.

Among other sources of funds, we rely heavily on deposits for funds to make loans and provide for our other 
liquidity needs. However, loan demand may exceed the rate at which we are able to build core deposits for which 
there is substantial competition from a variety of different competitors, so we may rely on more interest-sensitive 
deposits, including brokered deposits, as sources of funds. Those deposits may not be as stable as other types of 
deposits, and in the future, depositors may not renew those deposits when they mature, or we may have to pay a 
higher rate of interest to attract or retain them or to replace them with other deposits or with funds from other 
sources. Not being able to attract deposits, or to retain or replace them as they mature, would adversely affect our 
liquidity. Paying higher deposit rates to attract, retain, or replace those deposits could have a negative effect on our 
net interest margin and operating results. Furthermore, as we and other banking organizations experienced in 2023, 
the failure of other financial institutions may cause deposit outflows as customers spread deposits among several 
different banks so as to maximize their amount of FDIC insurance, move deposits to banks deemed “too big to fail” 
or to remove deposits from the banking system entirely. As of December 31, 2024, approximately 29.6% of our 
deposits were uninsured and we rely on these deposits for liquidity. 

Loss of deposits or a change in deposit mix could increase our cost of funding.

Deposits are generally a low-cost and stable source of funding. We compete with banks and other financial 
institutions for deposits. Funding costs may increase if we lose deposits and are forced to replace them with more 
expensive sources. Depending on the interest rate environment and competitive factors, low-cost deposits may need 
to be replaced with higher cost funding, resulting in a decrease in net interest income and net income.

Limits on our ability to use brokered deposits as part of our funding strategy may affect our profitability.

A “brokered deposit” is any deposit that is obtained from, or through the mediation or assistance of, a deposit 
broker. These deposit brokers attract deposits from individuals and companies throughout the country and 
internationally whose deposit decisions are based almost exclusively on obtaining the highest interest rates. We have 
used brokered deposits in the past, and we may continue to use brokered deposits as one of our funding sources to 
support future growth. As of December 31, 2024, brokered deposits represented approximately 3.8% of our total 
deposits.

Banks may be restricted in their ability to accept brokered deposits, depending on their capital classification. 
“Well capitalized” banks are permitted to accept brokered deposits, but all banks that are not well capitalized could 
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be restricted from accepting such deposits. Should we lose our “well capitalized” status, these restrictions could 
materially and adversely affect our ability to access lower costs funds, and thereby decrease our future earnings 
capacity.
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Risks Related to Our Business, Industry and Markets

We operate in a highly competitive market and face increasing competition from a variety of traditional and new 
financial services providers.

We have many competitors. Our principal competitors are commercial and community banks, credit unions, 
savings and loan associations, mortgage banking firms, online mortgage lenders, and consumer finance companies, 
including large national financial institutions that operate in our market. Many of these competitors are larger than 
us, have significantly more resources, greater brand recognition, more extensive and established branch networks or 
geographic footprints than we do, and may be able to attract customers more effectively than we can. Because of 
their scale, many of these competitors can be more aggressive than we can on loan and deposit pricing, and may 
better afford and make broader use of media advertising, support services, and electronic technology than we do. 
Also, many of our non-bank competitors have fewer regulatory constraints and may have lower cost structures. We 
compete with these other financial institutions, both in attracting deposits and making loans. We expect competition 
to continue to increase as a result of legislative, regulatory, and technological changes, the continuing trend of 
consolidation in the financial services industry, and the continued emergence of alternative banking sources. Our 
profitability in large part depends upon our continued ability to compete successfully with traditional and new 
financial services providers, some of which maintain a physical presence in our market and others of which maintain 
only a virtual presence. Increased competition could require us to increase the rates we pay on deposits or lower the 
rates that we offer on loans, which could reduce our profitability.

Our financial performance may be negatively affected if we are unable to execute our strategy.

Our strategy is to grow organically and supplement that growth with select acquisitions, if available. Our 
success depends primarily on generating loans and deposits of acceptable risk and expense. There can be no 
assurance that we will be successful in continuing our organic, or internal, growth strategy. Our ability to identify 
appropriate markets for expansion, recruit and retain qualified personnel, and fund growth at reasonable cost 
depends upon prevailing economic conditions, maintenance of sufficient capital, competitive factors, changes in 
banking laws, and other factors. Our ability to execute on our strategy will also depend, in part, on our ability to 
retain the talents and dedication of key employees currently employed by the Company. It is possible that these 
employees may decide not to remain with the Company. If the Company is unable to retain key employees, 
including management, who are critical to the successful integration and future operations of the companies, the 
Company could face disruptions in its operations, loss of existing customers, loss of key information, expertise, or 
know-how, and unanticipated additional recruitment costs.

We cannot be certain of our ability to manage increased levels of assets and liabilities without increased 
expenses and higher levels of non-performing assets. We may be required to make additional investments in 
equipment and personnel to manage higher asset levels and loan balances, which may adversely affect earnings, 
shareholder returns, and our efficiency ratio. Increases in operating expenses or non-performing assets may decrease 
our earnings and the value of the Company’s capital stock.

To the extent we are able to supplement organic growth with one or more acquisitions, we will be subject to 
risks commonly encountered in such transactions, including risks related to the time and expense of identifying, 
evaluating, and negotiating potential acquisitions, exposure to unknown or contingent liabilities of the target, 
difficulty of integrating the operations and personnel of the target, potential disruption of our ongoing business, 
failure to retain key personnel at the acquired business, and failure to realize any expected revenue increases, cost 
savings, and other projected benefits from an acquisition.

Failure to keep up with the rapid technological changes in the financial services industry could have an adverse 
effect on our competitive position and profitability.

The financial services industry is undergoing rapid technological changes with frequent introductions of new 
technology-driven products and services. The effective use of technology increases efficiency and enables financial 
institutions to better serve customers and reduce costs. Our future success will depend, in part, upon our ability to 
address the needs of our customers by using technology to provide products and services that will satisfy customer 
demands for convenience, as well as to create additional efficiencies in our operations. Many of our competitors 
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have substantially greater resources to invest in technological improvements than we have. We may not be able to 
implement new technology-driven products and services effectively or be successful in marketing these products and 
services to our customers. Failure to keep pace successfully with technological change affecting the financial 
services industry could harm our ability to compete effectively and could have an adverse effect on our business, 
financial condition, and results of operations. As these technologies improve in the future, we may be required to 
make significant capital expenditures in order to remain competitive, which may increase our overall expenses and 
have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

We follow a relationship-based operating model, and our ability to maintain our reputation is critical to the 
success of our business, and the failure to do so may materially adversely affect our performance.

We are a community bank, and our reputation is one of the most valuable components of our business. As such, 
we strive to conduct our business in a manner that enhances our reputation. This is done, in part, by recruiting, 
hiring, and retaining bankers and other associates who share our core values of being an integral part of the 
communities we serve, delivering superior service to our customers, and caring about our customers and associates. 
Furthermore, maintaining our reputation also depends on our ability to protect our brand name and associated 
trademarks. 

However, reputation risk, or the risk to our business, earnings, and capital from negative public opinion 
surrounding our Company, and the financial services industry, generally, is inherent in our business. Negative public 
opinion can result from our actual or alleged conduct in any number of activities, including business and lending 
practices, corporate governance, and acquisitions, and from actions taken by government regulators and community 
organizations in response to those activities. Negative public opinion can adversely affect our ability to keep and 
attract customers and employees and can expose us to litigation and regulatory action. Although we take steps to 
minimize reputation risk in dealing with our customers and communities, this risk will always be present given the 
nature of our business. If our reputation is negatively affected by the actions of our employees, or otherwise, our 
business and operating results may be materially adversely affected.

We are dependent on our management team and key employees.

We believe that our continued growth and future success will depend on the retention of our management team 
and key employees. Our management team and other key employees, including those who conduct our loan 
origination and other business development activities, have significant industry experience. We cannot ensure that 
we will be able to retain the services of any members of our management team or other key employees. Though we 
have employment agreements in place with certain members of our management team, they may still elect to leave 
at any time. The loss of any of our management team or our key employees could adversely affect our ability to 
execute our strategy, and we may not be able to find adequate replacements on a timely basis, or at all.

Our future success also depends on our continuing ability to attract, develop, motivate, and retain key 
employees. Qualified individuals are in high demand, and we may incur significant costs to attract and retain them. 
Because the market for qualified individuals is highly competitive, we may not be able to attract and retain qualified 
officers or candidates. Failure to attract and retain a qualified management team and qualified key employees could 
have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

Changes in interest rates and monetary policy may negatively affect our earnings, income, and financial 
condition, as well as the value of our assets.

Our earnings and cash flows depend substantially upon our net interest income. Net interest income is the 
difference between interest income earned on interest-earning assets, such as loans and investment securities, and 
interest expense paid on interest-bearing liabilities, such as deposits and borrowed funds. Interest rates are sensitive 
to many factors that are beyond our control, including general economic conditions, competition and policies of 
various governmental and regulatory agencies, and in particular, the policies of the Federal Reserve.

An important function of the Federal Reserve is to regulate the money supply and credit conditions. Among the 
instruments used by the Federal Reserve to implement these objectives are open market purchases and sales of U.S. 
government securities, adjustments of the discount rate and changes in banks’ reserve requirements against bank 
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deposits. These instruments are used in varying combinations to influence overall economic growth and the 
distribution of credit, bank loans, investments and deposits. Their use also affects interest rates charged on loans or 
paid on deposits.

Until recently, we were in a rising rate environment. Interest rate increases often result in larger payment 
requirements for our borrowers, which increases the potential for default. At the same time, the marketability of the 
property securing a loan may be adversely affected by any reduced demand resulting from higher interest rates. In a 
rising interest rate environment, there may be an increase in prepayments on loans as borrowers refinance their loans 
at lower rates. In 2024, the Federal Reserve’s interest rate policy shifted as inflationary pressure began to ease and 
economic growth moderated. Following a period of aggressive rate hikes in 2022 and 2023 aimed at curbing 
inflation, the Federal Reserve began lowering rates in 2024, with the Federal Funds target rate ranging from 5.25% 
to 5.5% at year-end 2023, compared to its range of 4.25% to 4.50% at year end 2024. Interest rate decreases can lead 
to increased prepayments of loans and mortgage-backed securities as borrowers refinance their loans to reduce 
borrowing costs. Under these circumstances, we are subject to reinvestment risk as we may have to redeploy such 
repayment proceeds into lower yielding loans or investments, which would likely hurt our income. It is unclear 
whether interest rates will continue to decline in 2025.

Changes in monetary policy, including changes in interest rates, could not only influence the interest we receive 
on loans and investment securities and the amount of interest we pay on deposits and borrowings, but such changes 
could also affect: (1) our ability to originate loans and obtain deposits; (2) the fair value of our financial assets and 
liabilities, including our securities portfolio; and (3) the average duration of our interest-earning assets. Interest-
earning assets may be more responsive to changes in interest rates than interest-bearing liabilities, or vice versa 
(repricing risk). Individual interest rates or rate indices underlying various interest-earning assets and interest-
bearing liabilities may not change in the same degree over a given time period (basis risk), and interest rate 
relationships may change across the spectrum of interest-earning asset and interest-bearing liability maturities (yield 
curve risk), including a prolonged flat or inverted yield curve environment. Any substantial, unexpected, prolonged 
change in market interest rates could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition and results of 
operations.

The monetary policies and regulations of the Federal Reserve have had a significant effect on the operating 
results of commercial banks in the past and are expected to continue to do so in the future. The effects of such 
policies upon our business, financial condition and results of operations cannot be predicted.

We are subject to physical and financial risks associated with climate change and other weather and natural 
disaster impacts.

We are subject to the growing risk of climate change. Among the risks associated with climate change are more 
frequent severe weather events. Severe weather events such as hurricanes, tropical storms, tornados, winter storms, 
freezes, flooding and other large-scale weather catastrophes in our markets subject us to significant risks, and more 
frequent severe weather events magnify those risks. Large-scale weather catastrophes, or other significant climate 
change effects that either damage or destroy residential or multifamily real estate underlying mortgage loans or real 
estate collateral, could decrease the value of our real estate collateral or increase our delinquency rates in the 
affected areas and thus diminish the value of our loan portfolio. In addition, the effects of climate change may have a 
significant effect on our geographic markets and could disrupt our operations or the operations of our customers, 
third-party service providers, or supply chains, more generally. Those disruptions could result in declines in 
economic conditions in our geographic markets or industries in which our borrowers operate and impact their ability 
to repay loans or maintain deposits. Climate change could also impact our assets or employees directly or lead to 
changes in customer preferences that could negatively affect our growth or business strategies. In addition, our 
reputation and customer relationships could be damaged due to our practices related to climate change, including our 
or our customers’ involvement in certain industries or projects associated with causing or exacerbating climate 
change. Moreover, over the past few years, federal banking regulators increasingly focused on the physical and 
financial risks to financial institutions associated with climate change, which may result in increased requirements 
regarding the disclosure and management of climate risks and related lending activities, as well as increased 
compliance costs. While federal regulators are expected to focus less on climate-related risks given the change in the 
U.S. presidential administration in January 2025, some states are more active in climate-related regulation.
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Risks Related to Our Operations

We face risks related to our operational, technological, and organizational infrastructure.

Our ability to grow and compete is dependent on the Bank’s ability to build or acquire the necessary operational 
and technological infrastructure and to manage the cost of that infrastructure as we expand. In our case, operational 
risk can manifest itself in many ways, such as errors related to failed or inadequate processes, faulty or disabled 
computer systems, fraud by employees or outside persons, and exposure to external events. As discussed below, we 
are dependent on our operational infrastructure to help manage these risks. In addition, we are heavily dependent on 
the strength and capability of the technology systems that the Bank uses both to interface with customers and to 
manage internal financial and other systems. Our ability to develop and deliver new products that meet the needs of 
our existing customers and attract new ones depends on the functionality of our technology systems. Additionally, 
our ability to run our business in compliance with applicable laws and regulations depends on these systems.

We continuously monitor our operational and technological capabilities and make modifications and 
improvements as circumstances warrant. In some instances, the Bank may build and maintain these capabilities 
itself; however, we outsource many of these functions to third parties. These third parties may experience errors or 
disruptions, including cyber-attacks, that could adversely impact the Bank and over which the Bank may have 
limited control. We also face risk from the integration of new infrastructure platforms and/or new third-party 
providers of such platforms into the Bank’s existing businesses.

Many of our larger competitors have substantially greater resources to invest in technological improvements. As 
a result, they may be able to offer additional or superior technologies or services compared to those that we provide, 
which could put us at a competitive disadvantage. Accordingly, we may lose customers seeking new technology-
driven products and services to the extent we are unable to compete effectively.

System failure or breaches of our network security, including as a result of cyber-attacks or data security 
breaches, could subject us to increased operating costs, as well as litigation and other liabilities.

The computer systems and network infrastructure we use may be vulnerable to physical theft, fire, power loss, 
telecommunications failure, or a similar catastrophic event, as well as security breaches, denial of service attacks, 
viruses, worms, and other disruptive problems caused by hackers or malicious actors. Any damage or failure that 
causes breakdowns or disruptions in our customer relationship management, general ledger, deposit, loan, and other 
systems could damage our reputation, result in a loss of customer business, subject us to additional regulatory 
scrutiny for failure to comply with required information security standards, or expose us to civil litigation and 
possible financial liability, any of which could have a material adverse effect on us.

Computer break-ins, phishing, and other disruptions could also jeopardize the security of information stored in 
and transmitted through our computer systems and network infrastructure. Information security risks have generally 
increased in recent years in part because of the proliferation of new technologies, the use of the Internet and 
telecommunications technologies to conduct financial transactions, and the increased sophistication and activities of 
organized crime, hackers, terrorists, activists, and other external parties. Our operations rely on the secure 
processing, transmission, and storage of confidential information in our computer systems and networks. In addition, 
to access our products and services, our customers may use devices that are beyond our control systems. Although 
we believe we have robust information security procedures and controls, our technologies, systems, networks, and 
our customers’ devices may become the target of cyber-attacks or information security breaches that could result in 
the unauthorized release, gathering, monitoring, misuse, loss, or destruction of the Bank’s or our customers’ 
confidential, proprietary, and other information, or otherwise disrupt the Bank’s or our customers’ or other third 
parties’ business operations. As cyber threats continue to evolve, we may be required to expend significant 
additional resources to continue to modify or enhance our protective measures or to investigate and remediate any 
information security vulnerabilities.

The Bank is under continuous threat of loss due to hacking and cyber-attacks, especially as we continue to 
expand customer capabilities to utilize internet and other remote channels to transact business. Two of the most 
significant cyber-attack risks that we face are e-fraud and loss of sensitive customer data. Loss from e-fraud occurs 
when cybercriminals extract funds directly from our customer accounts. Attempts to breach sensitive customer data, 
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such as account numbers and social security numbers, present significant reputational, legal, and/or regulatory costs 
to us, if successful. Our risk and exposure to these matters remains heightened because of the evolving nature and 
complexity of these threats from cybercriminals and hackers, our plans to continue to provide internet banking and 
mobile banking channels, and our plans to develop additional remote connectivity solutions to serve our customers. 
We cannot assure that we will not be the victim of a material hacking or cyberattack that could cause us to suffer 
material losses or other harms. The occurrence of any cyber-attack or information security breach could result in 
potential liability to customers, reputational damage, and the disruption of our operations, and regulatory concerns, 
all of which could adversely affect our business, financial condition, or results of operations.

We rely on third parties to provide key components of our business infrastructure, and a failure of these parties to 
perform for any reason could disrupt our operations.

Third parties provide key components of our business infrastructure such as data processing, internet 
connections, network access, core application processing, statement production, and account analysis. Our business 
depends on the successful and uninterrupted functioning of our information technology and telecommunications 
systems and third-party servicers. The failure of these systems, or the termination of a third-party software license or 
service agreement on which any of these systems is based, could interrupt our operations. Because our information 
technology and telecommunications systems interface with and depend on third-party systems, we could experience 
service denials if demand for such services exceeds capacity, or such third-party systems fail or experience 
interruptions. Replacing vendors or addressing other issues with our third-party service providers could entail 
significant delay and expense. If we are unable to efficiently replace ineffective service providers, or if we 
experience a significant, sustained, or repeated system failure or service denial, it could compromise our ability to 
operate effectively, damage our reputation, result in a loss of customer business, and subject us to additional 
regulatory scrutiny and possible financial liability, any of which could have an adverse effect on our business, 
financial condition, and results of operations.

We could be subject to losses, regulatory action, or reputational harm due to fraudulent and negligent acts on the 
part of loan applicants, our employees, and vendors.

In deciding whether to extend credit or enter into other transactions with clients and counterparties, and the 
terms of any such transaction, we may rely on information furnished by, or on behalf of, clients and counterparties, 
including financial statements, property appraisals, title information, employment and income documentation, 
account information, and other financial information. We may also rely on representations of clients and 
counterparties as to the accuracy and completeness of that information and, with respect to financial statements, on 
reports of independent auditors. Any such misrepresentation or incorrect or incomplete information, whether 
fraudulent or inadvertent, may not be detected prior to funding. In addition, one or more of our employees or 
vendors could cause a significant operational breakdown or failure, either as a result of human error or where an 
individual purposefully sabotages or fraudulently manipulates our loan documentation, operations, or systems. 
Whether a misrepresentation is made by the applicant or another third-party, we generally bear the risk of loss 
associated with the misrepresentation. A loan subject to a material misrepresentation is typically unsellable or 
subject to repurchase if it is sold prior to detection of the misrepresentation. The sources of the misrepresentations 
may also be difficult to locate, and we may be unable to recover any of the monetary losses we may suffer as a result 
of the misrepresentations. Any of these developments could have an adverse effect on our business, financial 
condition, and results of operations.

We are subject to claims and litigation pertaining to intellectual property.

Banking and other financial services companies, such as ours, rely on technology companies to provide 
information technology products and services necessary to support their day-to-day operations. Technology 
companies frequently enter into litigation based on allegations of patent infringement or other violations of 
intellectual property rights. In addition, patent holding companies seek to monetize patents they have purchased or 
otherwise obtained. Competitors of our vendors, or other individuals or companies, may from time to time claim to 
hold intellectual property sold to us by our vendors. Such claims may increase in the future as the financial services 
sector becomes more reliant on information technology vendors. The plaintiffs in these actions frequently seek 
injunctions and substantial damages.
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Regardless of the scope or validity of such patents or other intellectual property rights, or the merits of any 
claims by potential or actual litigants, we may have to engage in protracted litigation. Such litigation is often 
expensive, time-consuming, disruptive to our operations, and distracting to management. If we are found to infringe 
one or more patents or other intellectual property rights, we may be required to pay substantial damages or royalties 
to a third-party. In certain cases, we may consider entering into licensing agreements for disputed intellectual 
property, although no assurance can be given that such licenses can be obtained on acceptable terms or that litigation 
will not occur. These licenses may also significantly increase our operating expenses. If legal matters related to 
intellectual property claims were resolved against us or settled, we could be required to make payments in amounts 
that could have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

We may be adversely affected by the lack of soundness of other financial institutions or other market participants.

Our ability to engage in routine funding transactions could be adversely affected by the actions and commercial 
soundness of other financial institutions. Financial services companies may be interrelated as a result of trading, 
clearing, counterparty, and other relationships. We have exposure to different industries and counterparties, and 
through transactions with counterparties in the financial services industry, including broker-dealers, commercial 
banks, investment banks, clearing agencies, exchanges, and other financial intermediaries. As a result, defaults by, 
declines in the financial condition of, or even rumors or questions about one or more financial services companies, 
or the financial services industry, generally, could lead to market-wide liquidity problems and losses or defaults by 
us or other institutions. These losses could have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of 
operations. 

Our risk management framework may not be effective in mitigating risks and/or losses to us.

Our risk management framework is governed by various committees, including the Audit Committee, the 
Compensation Committee, the Nominating and Governance Committee, the Enterprise Risk Management 
Committee, the Credit Risk Management Committee, the Asset and Liability Management Committee, the Trust & 
Wealth Management Committee, the Technology Committee, and the Regulatory Risk Committee. The Chief Risk 
Officer has oversight responsibility for credit risk, enterprise risk, including regulatory risk, and asset and liability 
management risk, directly reporting to the Chief Executive Officer.

Our risk management framework is comprised of various processes, systems, and strategies, and is designed to 
manage the types of risk to which we are subject, including, among others, credit, market, liquidity, interest rate, and 
compliance. Our framework also includes financial or other modeling methodologies that involve management 
assumptions and judgment. Our risk management framework may not be effective under all circumstances. Our risk 
management framework may not adequately mitigate any risk or loss to us. If our risk management framework is not 
effective, we could suffer unexpected losses and our business, financial condition, and results of operations could be 
adversely affected. We may also be subject to potentially adverse regulatory consequences.

Demand for the Company’s services is influenced by general economic and consumer trends beyond the 
Company’s control, including disruptions in the financial services industry, in general, and events such as global 
pandemics and geopolitical conflict.

There can be no assurance that our business and corresponding financial performance will not be adversely 
affected by general economic or consumer trends or events, including those affecting the financial services industry. 
Over the past few years, global markets have seen extensive volatility owing to a variety of factors, including high 
inflation, trade policies and tariffs, volatility in the capital markets, the failure of financial institutions, volatility in 
the housing market, interest and currency rate fluctuations, labor availability, supply chain disruptions, global 
pandemics and public health crises and the responses thereto, weather catastrophes and geopolitical instability, 
including shutdowns and threats of shutdowns of the U.S. federal government, growing tensions between China and 
the U.S., the Russia-Ukraine war, conflict in the Middle East, and acts of terrorism. These events have created, and 
may continue to create, significant disruption of the global economy and financial and labor markets. If such 
conditions continue, recur or worsen, this may have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business, financial 
condition, and results of operations. Furthermore, such economic conditions have produced downward pressure on 
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share prices and on the availability of credit for financial institutions and corporations, while also driving up interest 
rates, further complicating borrowing and lending activities. 

Additionally, the change in the U.S. presidential administration has given rise to uncertainty regarding the 
potential impact of certain policies and regulatory approaches on the broader economy, particularly in the areas of 
immigration and trade. For example, any significant new tariffs which may be imposed by the U.S. may increase the 
cost of raw materials used in construction, which can have an adverse effect on commercial and residential real-
estate markets through increased production costs, production delays, and challenges in launching new projects. If 
current levels of market disruption and volatility continue or increase, the Company might experience reductions in 
business activity, increases in funding costs, decreases in asset values, additional write-downs and impairment 
charges, and lower profitability.

Our results may suffer if we do not effectively manage our expanded operations, including complying with any 
enhanced regulatory requirements.

The Company may face increased scrutiny from governmental authorities as a result of the size of its business, 
including if the total assets of the Company grow to exceed $10 billion as of December 31 of any calendar year. 
Banks with $10 billion or more in total assets are, among other things: examined directly by the CFPB with respect 
to various federal consumer financial laws; subject to reduced dividends on any holdings of Federal Reserve Bank of 
Richmond common stock; subject to limits on interchange fees pursuant to Section 920 of the Electronic Funds 
Transfer Act (known as the Durbin Amendment); subject to certain enhanced prudential standards; no longer treated 
as a “small institution” for FDIC deposit insurance assessment purposes; and no longer eligible to elect to be subject 
to the CBLR. Compliance with these additional ongoing requirements may necessitate additional personnel, the 
design and implementation of additional internal controls, and the incurrence of significant expenses, which could 
have a significant adverse effect on the Company’s financial condition or results of operations. 
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Risks Related to our Regulatory Environment

Our industry is highly regulated, and the regulatory framework, together with any future legislative or regulatory 
changes, may have a materially adverse effect on our operations.

Both the Company and the Bank are subject to extensive regulation, supervision, and examination by the 
Federal Reserve, our primary federal regulator and the Virginia BFI, our chartering authority. The Bank is also 
subject to certain regulations of the FDIC, the insurer of the Bank’s deposits. Such regulation, supervision, and 
examination govern the activities in which we and the Bank may engage and are intended primarily for the 
protection of the depositors and borrowers of the Bank, the financial system, and the DIF rather than for holders of 
our Common Stock. Various consumer compliance laws also affect our operations. Regulatory authorities have 
extensive discretion in their supervisory and enforcement activities, including the imposition of restrictions on our 
operations, the classification of our assets, and determination of the level of our allowance for credit losses. Any 
change in such regulation and oversight, whether in the form of regulatory policy, regulations, legislation, or 
supervisory action, may have a material impact on our operations. The earnings of the Bank, and therefore the 
earnings of the Company, are affected by changes in federal and state legislation and the actions of various 
regulatory authorities.

We are subject to stringent capital requirements, which could have an adverse effect on our operations.

Federal regulations establish minimum capital requirements for insured depository institutions, including 
minimum risk-based capital and leverage ratios, and define “capital” for calculating these ratios. Not including the 
capital conservation buffer, the capital rules require community bank holding companies and community banks to 
maintain a common equity Tier 1 to risk-weighted assets ratio of at least 4.5%, a Tier 1 capital to risk-weighted 
assets ratio of at least 6.0%, a total capital to risk-weighted assets ratio of at least 8.0%, and a leverage ratio of Tier 1 
capital to total consolidated assets of at least 4.0%. The capital conservation buffer is designed to absorb losses 
during periods of economic stress. Banking institutions with a ratio of common equity Tier 1 to risk-weighted assets 
above the minimum but below the conservation buffer would result in limitations on an institution’s ability to make 
capital distributions and discretionary bonus payments. In addition, for an insured depository institution to be “well 
capitalized” under the banking agencies’ “prompt corrective action” framework, it must have a common equity Tier 
1 ratio of at least 6.5%, Tier 1 capital ratio of at least 8.0%, a total capital ratio of at least 10.0%, and a leverage ratio 
of at least 5.0%, and must not be subject to any written agreement, order or capital directive, or “prompt corrective 
action” directive issued by its primary federal or state banking regulator to meet and maintain a specific capital level 
for any capital measure.

The Federal Reserve requires a bank holding company to act as a source of financial and managerial strength to 
its subsidiary banks and to commit resources to support its subsidiary banks. Under the “source of strength” 
doctrine, the Federal Reserve may require a bank holding company to make capital injections into a subsidiary bank 
at times when the bank holding company may not be inclined to do so and may charge the bank holding company 
with engaging in unsafe and unsound practices for failure to commit resources to such a subsidiary bank. 
Accordingly, we could be required to provide financial assistance to the Bank if it experiences financial distress. A 
capital injection may be required at a time when our resources are limited, and we may be required to borrow the 
funds or raise capital to make the required capital injection.

Any new or revised standards adopted in the future may require us to maintain materially more capital, with 
common equity as a more predominant component, or manage the configuration of our assets and liabilities to 
comply with formulaic capital requirements. We may not be able to raise additional capital at all, or on terms 
acceptable to us. Failure to maintain capital to meet current or future regulatory requirements could have an adverse 
effect on our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

We face a risk of noncompliance and enforcement action with the BSA and other anti-money laundering statutes 
and regulations.

The BSA, the USA PATRIOT Act, and other laws and regulations require financial institutions, among other 
duties, to institute and maintain an effective anti-money laundering program and to file reports, such as suspicious 
activity reports and currency transaction reports. We are required to comply with these and other anti-money 
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laundering requirements. Our federal and state banking regulators, the Financial Crimes Enforcement Network, and 
other government agencies are authorized to impose significant civil money penalties for violations of anti-money 
laundering requirements. We are also subject to increased scrutiny of compliance with the regulations issued and 
enforced by OFAC, which is responsible for helping to ensure that U.S. entities do not engage in transactions with 
certain prohibited parties as defined by various Executive Orders and Acts of Congress. If our program is deemed 
deficient, we could be subject to liability, including fines, civil money penalties, and other regulatory actions, which 
may include restrictions on our business operations and our ability to pay dividends, restrictions on merger and 
acquisition activity, restrictions on expansion, and restrictions on entering new business lines. Failure to maintain 
and implement adequate programs to combat money laundering and terrorist financing could also have significant 
reputational consequences for us. Any of these circumstances could have an adverse effect on our business, financial 
condition, and results of operations.

We are subject to laws regarding the privacy, information security, and protection of personal information and 
any violation of these laws or other incident involving personal, confidential, or proprietary information of 
individuals could damage our reputation and otherwise adversely affect our business.

Our business requires the collection and retention of large volumes of customer data, including personally 
identifiable information (“PII”), in various information systems that we maintain and in those maintained by third-
party service providers. We also maintain important internal company data, such as PII about our employees and 
information relating to our operations. We are subject to complex and evolving laws and regulations governing the 
privacy and protection of PII of individuals (including customers, employees, and other third parties). For example, 
our business is subject to the GLB Act, which, among other things: (i) imposes certain limitations on our ability to 
share nonpublic PII about our customers with nonaffiliated third parties; (ii) requires that we provide certain 
disclosures to customers about our information collection, sharing, and security practices and afford customers the 
right to “opt out” of any information sharing by us with nonaffiliated third parties (with certain exceptions); and (iii) 
requires that we develop, implement, and maintain a written comprehensive information security program 
containing appropriate safeguards based on our size and complexity, the nature and scope of our activities, and the 
sensitivity of customer information we process, as well as plans for responding to data security breaches. Various 
federal and state banking regulators and states have also enacted data breach notification requirements with varying 
levels of individual, consumer, regulatory, or law enforcement notification in the event of a security breach.

Ensuring that our collection, use, transfer, and storage of PII complies with all applicable laws and regulations 
can increase our costs. Furthermore, we may not be able to ensure that customers and other third parties have 
appropriate controls in place to protect the confidentiality of the information that they exchange with us, particularly 
where such information is transmitted by electronic means. If personal, confidential, or proprietary information of 
customers or others were to be mishandled or misused (in situations where, for example, such information was 
erroneously provided to parties who are not permitted to have the information, or where such information was 
intercepted or otherwise compromised by third parties), we could be exposed to litigation or regulatory sanctions 
under privacy and data protection laws and regulations. Concerns regarding the effectiveness of our measures to 
safeguard PII, or even the perception that such measures are inadequate, could cause us to lose customers or 
potential customers and thereby reduce our revenues. Accordingly, any failure or perceived failure to comply with 
applicable privacy or data protection laws and regulations may subject us to inquiries, examinations, and 
investigations that could result in requirements to modify or cease certain operations or practices, or in significant 
liabilities, fines or penalties, and could damage our reputation and otherwise adversely affect our business, financial 
condition, and results of operations.

Our use of third-party vendors and our other ongoing third-party business relationships are subject to increasing 
regulatory requirements and attention.

We regularly use third-party vendors in our business, and we rely on some of these vendors for critical 
functions, including, but not limited to, our core processing function. Third-party relationships are subject to 
increasingly demanding regulatory requirements and attention by bank regulators. We expect our regulators to hold 
us responsible for deficiencies in our oversight or control of our third-party vendor relationships and in the 
performance of the parties with which we have these relationships. As a result, if our regulators conclude that we 
have not exercised adequate oversight and control over our third-party vendors or that such vendors have not 
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performed adequately, we could be subject to administrative penalties or fines as well as requirements for consumer 
remediation, any of which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of 
operations.

Regulatory requirements affecting our loans secured by commercial real estate could limit our ability to leverage 
our capital and adversely affect our growth and profitability.

The federal banking agencies have issued guidance regarding concentrations in commercial real estate lending 
for institutions that are deemed to have particularly high concentrations of commercial real estate loans within their 
lending portfolios. Under this guidance, an institution that has (i) total reported loans for construction, land 
development, and other land which represent 100% or more of the institution’s total risk-based capital; or (ii) total 
commercial real estate loans representing 300% or more of the institution’s total risk-based capital, where the 
outstanding balance of the institution’s commercial real estate loan portfolio has increased 50% or more during the 
prior 36 months, is identified as having potential commercial real estate concentration risk. An institution that is 
deemed to have concentrations in commercial real estate lending is expected to employ heightened levels of risk 
management with respect to its commercial real estate portfolios, and may be required to maintain higher levels of 
capital.

As of December 31, 2024, acquisition, construction & development loans were 50.6% of our total risk-based 
capital, and commercial real estate, including owner-occupied loans, were 353.6% of our total risk-based capital. 
Commercial real estate loans, including acquisition, construction & development and owner-occupied loans, have 
increased 193.5% during the prior 36 months, mostly due to the Merger. We cannot guarantee that any risk 
management practices we implement will be effective in preventing losses relating to our commercial real estate 
portfolio. Management has extensive experience in commercial real estate lending and has implemented, and 
continues to maintain, heightened portfolio monitoring and reporting and strong underwriting criteria with respect to 
our commercial real estate portfolio. Nevertheless, we could be required to maintain higher levels of capital as a 
result of our commercial real estate concentration, which could limit our growth, require us to obtain additional 
capital, and have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

Evolving expectations from customers, regulators, investors, and other stakeholders with respect to 
Environmental, Social, and Governance (“ESG”) practices may impose additional costs on us or expose us to 
new or additional risks.

As a regulated financial institution listed on a national exchange, we face evolving scrutiny from customers, 
regulators, investors, and other stakeholders related to ESG practices and disclosure. Investor advocacy groups, 
investment funds, and influential investors are increasingly focused on these practices, especially as they relate to 
climate risk, hiring practices, the diversity of the work force, and racial and social justice issues, with various 
stakeholders advocating both for and against such policies. Recently, ESG regulations and rules have faced a 
political backlash and are increasingly being successfully challenged in court. Additionally, the U.S. presidential 
administration has moved to overturn and reject all efforts aimed at promoting diversity, equity and inclusion in the 
federal government and has advocated for the same in the private sector. While federal regulators have in past years 
called for increased ESG disclosure, it is expected that any federal ESG-related regulations under the U.S. 
presidential administration will call for less disclosure or mandate the abandonment of ESG programs, while 
regulations at the state level will vary. Failure to adapt to or comply with regulatory requirements or investor or 
stakeholder expectations and standards could negatively impact our reputation, ability to do business with certain 
customers and business partners, and stock price.
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Risks Related to an Investment in Our Common Stock

We currently qualify as an “emerging growth company”, and the reduced disclosures and relief from certain 
other significant disclosure requirements that are available to emerging growth companies may make our 
Common Stock less attractive to investors.

We are an “emerging growth company,” as defined in the federal securities laws, and we intend to continue to 
take advantage of certain exemptions from various reporting requirements that apply to other public companies that 
are not emerging growth companies. These exemptions include not being required to comply with the auditor 
attestation requirements of Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, less extensive disclosure obligations regarding 
executive compensation in our periodic reports and proxy statements, and exemptions from the requirements to hold 
non-binding advisory votes on executive compensation and shareholder approval of any golden parachute payments 
not previously approved. We could remain an emerging growth company until the last day of the fiscal year 
following the fifth anniversary of the first sale of our common equity securities in an offering registered under the 
Securities Act, though we may cease to be an emerging growth company earlier, if our gross revenues exceed 
$1.235 billion, if we issue more than $1.0 billion in non-convertible debt in a three-year period, or if the market 
value of our Common Stock held by non-affiliates exceeds $700 million as of any June 30 before that time, in which 
case we would no longer be an emerging growth company as of the following December 31.

Investors and securities analysts may find it more difficult to evaluate our Common Stock because we rely on 
one or more of these exemptions. If, as a result, some investors find our Common Stock less attractive, there may be 
a less active trading market for our Common Stock, which could result in reductions and greater volatility in the 
prices of our Common Stock.

If we fail to design, implement and maintain effective internal control over financial reporting or remediate any 
future material weakness in our internal control over financial reporting, we may be unable to accurately report 
our financial results or prevent fraud.

Our internal control over financial reporting is designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability 
of the financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with U.S. 
generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”). Effective internal control over financial reporting is necessary 
for us to provide reliable reports and prevent fraud. We may not be able to identify all significant deficiencies and/or 
material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting in the future, and our failure to maintain 
effective internal control over financial reporting could have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition, 
and results of operations. 

In the normal course of our operations, we may identify deficiencies that would have to be remediated to satisfy 
the SEC rules for certification of our internal control over financial reporting. A material weakness is defined by the 
standards issued by the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (“PCAOB”), as a deficiency, or combination 
of deficiencies, in internal control over financial reporting that results in a reasonable possibility that a material 
misstatement of our annual or interim financial statements will not be prevented or detected on a timely basis. As a 
consequence, we would have to disclose in periodic reports we file with the SEC any material weakness in our 
internal control over financial reporting. The existence of a material weakness would preclude management from 
concluding that our internal control over financial reporting is effective, and when we cease to be an emerging 
growth company under the JOBS Act, preclude our independent registered public accounting firm from rendering 
their report addressing an assessment of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting. In addition, 
disclosures of deficiencies of this type in our SEC reports could cause investors to lose confidence in our financial 
reporting, and may negatively affect the market price of our Common Stock, and could result in the delisting of our 
securities from the securities exchanges on which they trade. Moreover, effective internal controls are necessary to 
produce reliable financial reports and to prevent fraud. If we have deficiencies in our disclosure controls and 
procedures or internal control over financial reporting, such deficiencies may adversely affect us.
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We may issue additional equity securities, or engage in other transactions, which could affect the priority of our 
Common Stock, which may adversely affect the market price of our Common Stock.

Our Board may determine from time to time, that we need to raise additional capital by issuing additional shares 
of our Common Stock or other securities. Sales of substantial amounts of our Common Stock (including shares 
issued in connection with an acquisition), or the perception that such sales could occur, may adversely affect 
prevailing market prices of our Common Stock. We are not restricted from issuing additional shares of Common 
Stock, including securities that are convertible into, or exchangeable for, or that represent the right to receive 
Common Stock. Because our decision to issue securities in any future offering will depend on market conditions and 
other factors beyond our control, we cannot predict or estimate the amount, timing or nature of any future offerings, 
or the prices at which such offerings may be effected. Any additional issuance of Common Stock could be dilutive 
to existing common shareholders. We may also issue, without shareholder approval, shares of preferred stock that 
will provide investors in such shares with rights, preferences, and privileges that are senior to, and that adversely 
affect, our then current common shareholders. Additionally, if we raise additional capital by making additional 
offerings of debt or preferred equity securities, upon liquidation, holders of our debt securities and shares of 
preferred stock and lenders with respect to other borrowings will receive distributions of our available assets prior to 
the holders of our Common Stock, which ranks junior to our customer deposits and indebtedness. Additional equity 
offerings may dilute the holdings of our existing shareholders or reduce the market price of our Common Stock, or 
both. Holders of our Common Stock are not entitled to preemptive rights or other protections against dilution.

An investment in our Common Stock is not an insured deposit and is not guaranteed by the FDIC, so you could 
lose some or all of your investment.

An investment in our Common Stock is not a deposit account or other obligation of the Bank and, therefore, is 
not insured against loss or guaranteed by the FDIC, any other deposit insurance fund, or by any other governmental, 
public, or private entity. An investment in our Common Stock is inherently risky for the reasons described herein. 
As a result, if you acquire our Common Stock, you could lose some or all of your investment.

Holders of our junior subordinated debentures and preferred stock have rights that are senior to those of our 
common stockholders.

We have three statutory business trusts for which we became sponsors in connection with the Merger. The trusts 
have issued mandatorily redeemable securities (the “capital securities”) for which we are obligated to third-party 
investors related, and hold our junior subordinated debentures (the “debentures”). The debentures held by the trusts 
are their sole assets. Our subordinated debentures of these unconsolidated statutory trusts totaled approximately 
$19.6 million excluding the related fair value mark incurred as of acquisition, at December 31, 2024.

Payments of the principal and interest on the trust preferred securities of the statutory trusts are conditionally 
guaranteed by us. The junior subordinated debentures are senior to our shares of common stock. As a result, we must 
make payments on the junior subordinated debentures before any dividends can be paid on our common stock and, 
in the event of our bankruptcy, dissolution or liquidation, the holders of the junior subordinated debentures must be 
satisfied before any distributions can be made on our common stock. We have the right to defer distributions on the 
junior subordinated debentures (and the related trust preferred securities) for up to five (5) years, during which time 
no dividends may be paid on our common stock. See Note 7 — Borrowed Funds in Notes to Consolidated Financial 
Statements for additional information regarding our trust preferred securities.

We also have 1,500 shares of our 6.0% Fixed Rate Non-Cumulative Perpetual Preferred Stock, Series 2021 
outstanding, which is senior to our common stock with respect to dividends upon liquidation or dissolution of the 
Company. While the regular dividends payable on such preferred stock are non-cumulative, we are not permitted to 
pay dividends on or repurchase our common stock to the extent we do not pay dividends on such preferred stock for 
each applicable dividend period.
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Our Bylaws designate the United States District Court for the Eastern District of Virginia, Alexandria Division, 
or in the event that court lacks jurisdiction, the Circuit Court of the City of Alexandria, Virginia, as the sole and 
exclusive forum for certain types of actions and proceedings that may be initiated by our shareholders, which 
may not be enforced and could discourage lawsuits against us and our directors and officers.

Our Bylaws provide that, unless we consent in writing to the selection of an alternative forum, the United States 
District Court for the Eastern District of Virginia, Alexandria Division, or in the event that court lacks jurisdiction, 
the Circuit Court of the City of Alexandria, Virginia, will be the sole and exclusive forum for any derivative action 
or proceeding brought on behalf of us, any action asserting a claim of breach of a fiduciary duty owed by any 
director, officer, employee, or other agent of ours to us or our shareholders, any action asserting a claim arising 
pursuant to any provision of the Virginia Stock Corporation Act (“VSCA”) or our Articles of Incorporation or 
Bylaws, or any action asserting a claim governed by the internal affairs doctrine, including, without limitation, any 
action to interpret, apply, enforce, or determine the validity of the Articles of Incorporation or Bylaws, in each case 
subject to such court having personal jurisdiction over the indispensable parties named as defendants in any such 
action. By its terms, the exclusive forum provision in our bylaws would apply to claims made under the Exchange 
Act or the Securities Act. However, Section 27 of the Exchange Act creates exclusive federal jurisdiction over all 
suits brought to enforce any duty or liability created by the Exchange Act or the rules and regulations thereunder. In 
addition, Section 22 of the Securities Act creates concurrent jurisdiction for federal and state courts over all suits 
brought to enforce any duty or liability created by the Securities Act or the rules and regulations thereunder. As a 
result of these provisions, the exclusive forum provisions may not apply to, and there is uncertainty as to whether a 
court would enforce such exclusive forum provisions with respect to, suits brought to enforce any duty or liability 
created by the Exchange Act or the Securities Act or any other claim for which the federal and state courts have 
concurrent jurisdiction, and our stockholders will not be deemed to have waived our compliance with the federal 
securities laws and the rules and regulations thereunder.

Any person or entity purchasing or otherwise acquiring any interest in shares of our capital stock shall be 
deemed to have notice of and to have consented to this provision of our Bylaws. The exclusive forum provision may 
limit the ability of our shareholders to bring a claim in a judicial forum that such shareholders find favorable for 
disputes with us or our directors or officers and the provision may increase costs on a shareholder pursuing any 
claims against us, which may discourage such lawsuits against us and our directors and officers. Alternatively, if a 
court were to find this exclusive forum provision inapplicable to, or unenforceable in respect of, one or more of the 
specified types of actions or proceedings described above, we may incur additional costs associated with resolving 
such matters in other jurisdictions, which could adversely affect our business, results of operations, and financial 
condition.
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Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments

Not applicable.
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Item 1C. Cybersecurity

The federal bank regulatory agencies have adopted guidelines for establishing information security standards 
and cybersecurity programs for implementing safeguards under the supervision of a financial institution’s board of 
directors. These guidelines, along with related regulatory materials, increasingly focus on risk management and 
processes related to information technology and the use of third parties in the provision of financial products and 
services. The federal bank regulatory agencies expect financial institutions to establish lines of defense and to ensure 
that their risk management processes address the risk posed by compromised customer credentials, and also expect 
financial institutions to maintain sufficient business continuity planning processes to ensure rapid recovery, 
resumption, and maintenance of the institution’s operations after a cyberattack. If the Company or the Bank fails to 
meet the expectations set forth in this regulatory guidance, the Company or the Bank could be subject to various 
regulatory actions and any remediation efforts may require significant resources of the Company or the Bank.

On November 18, 2021, the federal bank regulatory agencies issued a final rule, with compliance required as of 
May 1, 2022, imposing new notification requirements for cybersecurity incidents. The rule requires financial 
institutions to notify their primary federal regulator as soon as possible and no later than 36 hours after the 
institution determines that a cybersecurity incident has occurred that has materially disrupted or degraded, or is 
reasonably likely to materially disrupt or degrade, the institution’s: (i) ability to carry out banking operations, 
activities, or processes, or deliver banking products and services to a material portion of its customer base, in the 
ordinary course of business, (ii) business line(s), including associated operations, services, functions, and support, 
that upon failure would result in a material loss of revenue, profit, or franchise value, or (iii) operations, including 
associated services, functions and support, as applicable, the failure or discontinuance of which would pose a threat 
to the financial stability of the United States. To date, we have not experienced cybersecurity incidents that we 
believe has, or is reasonably likely to, materially affect our business operations, strategy, or financial condition. 
However, we continually assess the potential impact of cybersecurity threats, ensuring that any incident is evaluated 
for materiality in relation to our business strategy, operational results, and financial condition.

Cybersecurity risk is a key factor in assessing the Company’s overall operational and regulatory risk and is a 
component of our overall information security protocols. The Company maintains a formal information security 
management program designed, in part, to identify risks to sensitive information, protect that information, detect 
threats and events, and maintain an appropriate response and recovery capability to help ensure resilience against 
information security incidents. The program includes, among other things, 24/7 monitoring of all critical 
infrastructure, active threat hunting, and endpoint Extended Detection and Response (“XDR”) capabilities, to assist 
with prevention of attacks from advanced adversaries. This monitoring and response is reinforced with regular 
vulnerability scanning/remediation and penetration testing and includes an annual risk assessment that looks to 
threats on the Company’s own information technology platforms, and also assesses potential threats, owing to our 
use of third-party information technology platforms and services. As part of these processes, we engage well-
established and professional third-party information security consultants to aid in the assessment and development of 
our monitoring and threat-detection processes and work with our internal information technology and audit teams. 
Additionally, all employees receive security training upon hiring, annual refresher training for all employees, and 
phishing exercises to raise employee awareness. Our cybersecurity program is led by our Chief Information Security 
Officer who has served in this capacity for 8 years and brings an additional 16 years of experience in information 
security program management, global cybersecurity operations and incident response. This experience extends to the 
strategic design, implementation, and management of security programs tailored to mitigate risks.  His expertise is 
underscored by a Certified Information Systems Security Professional (CISSP) and multiple technology 
certifications.

Information security protocols are a part of the Company’s Information Security Policy that is reviewed and 
approved annually by the Company’s Board. The ongoing oversight of cybersecurity risk is accomplished primarily 
through the Information Technology Steering Committee, comprised of management, the Regulatory Risk 
Committee, Technology Committee and the Enterprise Risk Management Committee, each comprised of 
management and members of the Board. Through these committees the Company keeps abreast of significant 
matters of actual, threatened, or potential breaches of cybersecurity protocols, monitors the effectiveness of the 
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information security program through regular review of key metrics and assessment reports, discusses topical events 
requiring consideration, and if necessary, recommends changes to the Information Security Policy for approval by 
the Company’s Board, which retains the ultimate responsibility for overseeing our enterprise risk management, 
including cybersecurity. In addition to regular reports from these committees, the Board receives regular reports 
from management on material cybersecurity risks and the Company's efforts to combat threats to its digital 
infrastructure. The Company also maintains specific cyber insurance through its corporate insurance program, the 
adequacy of which is subject to review and oversight by the Company’s Board. However, such insurance may not be 
sufficient to cover all of our potential losses and may not continue to be available to us on acceptable terms, or at all. 
With the increase in cyber-threat vectors and enhanced focus on cybersecurity, the Company and the Bank continue 
to monitor legislative, regulatory, and supervisory developments related thereto.
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Item 2. Properties

The Company is headquartered in Alexandria, Virginia, and conducts business through its headquarters, 
corporate center, operational offices, full-service bank branches, and loan production offices. The Company owns its 
principal executive office at 100 S. Fairfax Street, Alexandria, VA, and its corporate center located at 5680 King 
Centre Drive in Alexandria, Virginia. We also maintain executive offices and a key operations center in  Moorefield, 
West Virginia to support bank-wide operations across our market footprint. 

At December 31, 2024, the Company operated seventy-seven branches in the five states as follows:

Number of Branch Offices
Office Locations by State Owned Leased Total
Virginia 24 13 37
West Virginia 25 4 29
Maryland 5 4 9
Delaware — 1 1
Kentucky — 1 1
Total 54 23 77

We believe that our current facilities are adequate to meet our present and foreseeable needs, subject to possible 
future expansion. For each property that we lease, we believe that upon expiration of the lease we will be able to 
extend the lease on satisfactory terms or relocate to another acceptable location.
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Item 3. Legal Proceedings

Legal Proceedings

In the ordinary course of our operations, and from time to time, the Company and its subsidiary are parties to 
various claims and lawsuits. Currently, we are not party to any material legal proceedings, and no such proceedings 
are, to management’s knowledge, threatened against us. Although the ultimate outcome of legal proceedings cannot 
be ascertained at this time, it is the opinion of management that the liabilities (if any) resulting from such legal 
proceedings will not have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business, including its consolidated financial 
position, results of operations, or cash flows.
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Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures

Not applicable.
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Part II

Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of 
Equity Securities

Market Information and Holders of Record

The Common Stock of the Company is listed on the Nasdaq Capital Market under the symbol “BHRB”. As of 
March 10, 2025, the Company had 14,982,655 shares of Common Stock outstanding and there were 1,189 holders 
of record of our common stock.

Dividends 

There are no restrictions in the Company’s corporate articles on its ability to pay dividends. The Company has 
historically paid quarterly cash dividends to its shareholders and expects to pay comparable dividends in the future. 
On January 24, 2025, the Company announced a cash dividend of $0.55 per share on the Company’s outstanding 
Common Stock, payable on March 3, 2025, to shareholders of record as of February 14, 2025.

Holders of our Common Stock are only entitled to receive dividends when, as, and if declared by the Board out 
of funds legally available for dividends. As the Company is a financial holding company and does not engage 
directly in business activities of a material nature, its ability to pay dividends depends, in large part, upon the receipt 
of dividends from the Bank. Any future determination relating to our dividend policy will be made by the Board and 
will depend on a number of factors, including general and economic conditions, industry standards, our financial 
condition and operating results, our available cash and current and anticipated cash needs, capital requirements, our 
ability to service debt obligations senior to our Common Stock, banking regulations, contractual, legal, tax and 
regulatory restrictions, and limitations on the payment of dividends by the Company to its shareholders or by the 
Bank, and such other factors as the Board may deem relevant.

Purchases of Equity Securities by the Issuer

During the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, we had no active share repurchase programs.

Performance Graph

Set forth below is a line graph comparing the cumulative total return of the Company’s Common Stock 
assuming reinvestment of dividends, with that of the Nasdaq Composite Total Return Index and the Keefe, Bruyette 
& Woods Regional Banking Total Return Index for the five-year period, ending December 31, 2024.

The cumulative total shareholder return assumes a $100 investment, on December 31, 2019, in the common 
stock of the Company, and each index and the cumulative return is measured as of each subsequent fiscal year-end. 
There is no assurance that the Company’s common stock performance will continue in the future with the same or 
similar trends as depicted in the graph.
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For the Year Ended
12/31/2019 12/31/2020 12/31/2021 12/31/2022 12/31/2023 12/31/2024

Burke & Herbert Financial 
Services Corp.     ............................... 100.00 78.11 104.56 138.44 127.32 130.55
NASDAQ Composite Total 
Return Index  .................................. 100.00 144.92 177.06 119.44 172.76 223.85
Keefe, Bruyette & Woods 
Regional Banking Total Return 
Index   .............................................. 100.00 91.29 124.74 116.10 115.64 130.90

The Stock Performance Graph and related information shall not be deemed “soliciting material” or to be 
“filed” with the Securities and Exchange Commission, nor shall such information be incorporated by reference into 
any future filing under the Securities Act of 1933 or Securities Exchange Act of 1934, each as amended, except to 
the extent that the Company specifically incorporates it by reference into such filing.
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Item 6. Reserved
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Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

The following discussion and analysis of our consolidated financial condition and results of operations of the 
Company should be read in conjunction with our consolidated financial statements and notes thereto presented in 
Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data. Historical results of operations and the percentage 
relationships among any amounts included, and any trends that may appear, may not indicate trends in operations or 
results of operations for any future periods. We are a financial holding company and we conduct all of our material 
business operations through the Bank. As a result, the discussion and analysis below primarily relate to activities 
conducted at the Bank.

We have made, and will continue to make, various forward-looking statements with respect to financial and 
business matters. Comments regarding our business that are not historical facts are considered forward-looking 
statements that involve inherent risks and uncertainties, see Disclosure Regarding Forward-Looking Statements. 
Actual results may differ materially from those contained in these forward-looking statements.
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Overview

Burke & Herbert Financial Services Corp. was organized as a Virginia corporation in 2022 to serve as the 
holding company for Burke & Herbert Bank & Trust Company. The Company became a bank holding company 
when it commenced operations on October 1, 2022, following a reorganization transaction in which it acquired 
control of the Bank under the BHCA. This transaction was treated as an internal reorganization as all shareholders of 
the Bank became shareholders of the Company. The Company has no material operations other than owning the 
Bank. In September 2023, the Company elected to become a financial holding company under the BHCA. As a 
financial holding company of a Virginia state bank, the Company is subject to regulation, supervision, and 
examination by the Federal Reserve and the Virginia BFI. The Bank is a Virginia chartered commercial bank that 
commenced operations in 1852. The Bank became a member of the Federal Reserve System on December 31, 2024. 
The Bank is subject to regulation, supervision, and examination by the Federal Reserve (through the Federal Reserve 
Bank of Richmond) and the Virginia BFI.

The Bank’s primary market area includes northern Virginia and West Virginia, and it has over 77 branches and 
commercial loan offices across Delaware, Kentucky, Maryland, Virginia, and West Virginia. The Company’s branch 
locations accept business and consumer deposits from a diverse customer base. The Company’s deposit products 
include checking, savings, and term certificate accounts. The Company’s loan portfolio includes commercial and 
consumer loans, a substantial portion of which are secured by real estate.

The Bank derives a significant portion of its income from interest received on loans and investments. The 
Bank’s primary source of funding is deposits, both interest-bearing and non-interest-bearing. In order to maximize 
the Bank’s net interest income, or the difference between the income on interest-earning assets and the expense of 
interest-bearing liabilities, the Bank must not only manage the volume of these balance sheet items, but also the 
yields earned on interest-earning assets and the rates paid on interest-bearing liabilities. To account for credit risk 
inherent in all loans, the Bank maintains an allowance for credit loss (“ACL”) to absorb expected credit losses on 
existing loans that may become uncollectible. The Bank establishes and maintains this ACL by charging a provision 
for credit losses against operating earnings. In order to maintain its operations and branch locations, the Bank incurs 
various operating expenses, which are further described within the “Results of Operations” later in this section.

As of December 31, 2024, we had total consolidated assets of $7.8 billion, gross loans of $5.7 billion, total 
deposits of $6.5 billion, and total shareholders’ equity of $730.2 million. As of December 31, 2024, we had 815 full-
time equivalent employees. None of our employees are covered by a collective bargaining agreement.

Merger with Summit Financial Group, Inc.

Effective on the Closing Date, the Company completed the Merger with Summit, pursuant to the August 24, 
2023 Merger Agreement. 

Pursuant to the Merger Agreement, on the Closing Date, (i) Summit merged with and into the Company, with 
the Company as the surviving entity and (ii) immediately following the Merger, SCB merged with and into the 
Bank, with the Bank as the surviving bank.

In the Merger, holders of Summit common stock outstanding at the effective time of the Merger received 
0.5043 shares of the Company Common Stock for each share of Summit common stock they owned, subject to the 
payment of cash in lieu of fractional shares. The total aggregate consideration payable in the Merger was 
approximately 7,405,772 shares of the Company Common Stock. Additionally, each share of the Summit Series 
2021 Preferred Stock issued and outstanding was converted into the right to receive a share of the newly created 
Burke & Herbert Series 2021 Preferred Stock. Summit’s results of operations are included from the Closing Date 
forward.

The impact of this transaction, where material, is discussed in the applicable sections of this Management’s 
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.
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Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Our accounting and reporting policies conform to accounting principles generally accepted in the United States 
of America (“GAAP”) and conform to general practices within the industry in which we operate. To prepare 
financial statements in conformity with GAAP, management makes estimates, assumptions, and judgments based on 
available information. These estimates, assumptions, and judgments affect the amounts reported in the financial 
statements and accompanying notes and are based on information available as of the date of the financial statements 
and, as this information changes, actual results could differ from the estimates, assumptions, and judgments reflected 
in the financial statements. In particular, management has identified several accounting policies that, due to the 
estimates, assumptions, and judgments inherent in those policies, are critical in understanding our financial 
statements.

Our most significant accounting policies are presented in the notes to the accompanying consolidated financial 
statements. These policies, along with the other disclosures presented in the financial statement notes and in this 
financial review, provide information on how significant assets and liabilities are valued in the financial statements 
and how those values are determined. Based on the valuation techniques used and the sensitivity of financial 
statement amounts to the methods, assumptions, and estimates underlying those amounts, we have identified 
business combination and goodwill, the determination of the allowance for credit losses, and income taxes to be the 
accounting areas that require the most subjective or complex judgments, and as such, could be most subject to 
revision as new information becomes available.

Business Combination and Goodwill

For acquisitions, we are required to record the assets acquired, including identified intangible assets such as 
core deposit intangibles, and the liabilities assumed at their respective fair values. The difference between 
consideration and the net fair value of assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. Management uses significant 
estimates and assumptions to value such items, including projected cash flows, repayment rates, default rates and 
losses assuming default, discount rates, and realizable collateral values. The allowance for credit losses for 
purchased credit deteriorated (“PCD”) loans is recognized within acquisition accounting. The allowance for credit 
losses for non-PCD assets is recognized as provision for credit losses in the same reporting period as the acquisition. 
Fair value adjustments are amortized or accreted into the income statement over the estimated life of the acquired 
assets or assumed liabilities. The purchase date valuations and any subsequent adjustments determine the amount of 
goodwill recognized in connection with the acquisition. The use of different assumptions could produce significantly 
different valuation results, which could have material positive or negative effects on our results of operations. The 
carrying value of goodwill recorded must be reviewed for impairment on an annual basis, as well as on an interim 
basis if events or changes indicate that the asset might be impaired. An impairment loss must be recognized for any 
excess of carrying value over fair value of the goodwill.

The determination of fair values is based on valuations using management’s assumptions of future growth rates, 
future attrition, discount rates, multiples of earnings or other relevant factors. In addition, we engage third party 
specialists to assist in the development of fair values. Preliminary estimates of fair values may be adjusted for a 
period of time subsequent to the acquisition date if new information is obtained about facts and circumstances that 
existed as of the acquisition date that, if known, would have affected the measurement of the amounts recognized as 
of that date. Adjustments recorded during this period are recognized in the current reporting period. Management 
uses various valuation methodologies to estimate the fair value of these assets and liabilities, and often involves a 
significant degree of judgment, particularly when liquid markets do not exist for the particular item being valued. 
Examples of such items include loans, deposits, identifiable intangible assets, and certain other assets and liabilities.

Changes in these factors, as well as downturns in economic or business conditions, could have a significant 
adverse impact on the carrying value of assets, including goodwill and liabilities, which could result in impairment 
losses affecting our financial statements as a whole and our banking subsidiary in which the goodwill resides.

Allowance for Credit Losses

The allowance for credit losses represents our estimate of all expected credit losses for financial assets held at 
the reporting date based on historical experience, current conditions, and projections including reasonable and 
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supportable, reversion, and post-reversion forecasts. It is a valuation account that is deducted from the financial 
assets’ amortized cost basis to present the net amount expected to be collected on the financial asset. Financial assets 
are charged-off against the allowance when management believes the uncollectibility of a financial asset is 
confirmed. Expected recoveries do not exceed the aggregate of amounts previously charged-off and expected to be 
charged-off.

The Company’s loan portfolio is the largest financial asset that is in scope of this critical accounting estimate. 
Determining the amount of the allowance for credit losses is considered a critical accounting estimate, because it is 
based on the evaluation of the size and current risk characteristics of the loan portfolio, past events, current 
conditions, reasonable and supportable forecasts, and prepayment experience as related to credit contractual terms. 
Management estimates the allowance balance using relevant available information from internal and external 
sources. Historical credit loss experience provides the basis for the estimation of expected credit losses; adjustments 
to historical loss information are made for differences in current loan-specific risk characteristics, such as 
differences in underwriting standards, portfolio mix, and delinquency levels, as well as for changes in environmental 
conditions, such as changes in unemployment rates, property values, or other relevant factors. The model 
methodology used for funded credits, along with taking into consideration the probability of drawdowns or funding 
on unfunded commitments and whether such commitments are irrevocable or not by the Company, is how the 
Company determines the allowance for credit losses for unfunded commitments. These evaluations are conducted at 
least quarterly and more frequently, if deemed necessary. 

The Company is using an internally developed model that produces an estimate of the allowance for credit 
losses as the lifetime expected credit losses of the loan portfolio. This model uses a remaining useful life or weighted 
average remaining maturity (“WARM”) method within defined-contractual terms by federal call codes. The model 
forecasts net charge-off rates by call codes using ordinary least squares (“OLS”) regression models that use 
macroeconomic variables to forecast the Company’s and peer banks’ net charge-off rates. These models are used to 
produce reasonable and supportable forecasts of net charge-off rates. The macroeconomic variables utilized by the 
Company include variables that meet defined criteria in forecasting credit losses for our loan portfolio. These 
variables include, but are not limited to, unemployment rates, housing and commercial real estate prices, gross 
domestic product levels, equity market conditions or interest rates, as well as other variables that are portfolio-
specific, such as those pertaining to commercial real estate or to residential loan portfolios. The Company sources 
the macroeconomic variables and the macroeconomic variable forecasts that it uses in its ACL model from the 
Standard & Poor’s Global Market Intelligence and from CoStar Group. 

The Company currently has set an initial reasonable and supportable period of two years with a subsequent 
straight-line loss-rate reversion for the following four quarters before then utilizing historical average loss rates in 
remaining periods of the modeled contractual terms. Based on management’s analysis, adjustments may be applied 
for additional factors impacting the risk of loss in the loan portfolio beyond information used to calculate reasonable 
and supportable, reversion and post-reversion period forecasts on collectively evaluated loans. As the reasonable and 
supportable and reversion period forecasts reflect the use of the macroeconomic variable loss drivers, management 
may consider that an additional or reduced reserve is warranted through qualitative risk factors based on current and 
expected conditions, including those that utilize supplemental information relative to the macroeconomic variable 
loss drivers. Qualitative adjustments considered by management include the following: (i) management’s assessment 
of macroeconomic forecasts used in the model and how those forecasts align with management’s overall evaluation 
of current expected credit conditions; (ii) organization specific risks such as credit concentrations, collateral specific 
risks, nature and size of the portfolio, and external factors that may ultimately impact credit quality; and (iii) 
underwriting and delinquency trends. The qualitative factors applied at  December 31, 2024,  and the importance and 
levels of the qualitative factors applied, may change in future periods depending on the level of changes to items 
such as the uncertainty of economic conditions and management’s assessment of the level of credit risk within the 
loan portfolio as a result of such changes, compared to the amount of ACL calculated by the model. Management 
reviews supplemental data sources including historical net charge-off rates and data measuring other specific credit 
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outcomes from its systems of record in supporting qualitative factors. However, qualitative factor evaluations are 
inherently imprecise and require significant management judgement.  

See Note 1 — Nature of Business Activities and Significant Accounting Policies for more discussion of the 
qualitative factors along with information on the allowance for credit losses for the off-balance sheet credit 
exposures. 

Income Taxes 

The Company’s income tax expense, deferred tax assets and liabilities, and reserves for unrecognized tax 
benefits reflect management’s best assessment of estimated taxes due. The calculation of each component of the 
Company’s income tax provision is complex and requires the use of estimates and judgments in its determination. 
As part of the Company’s evaluation and implementation of business strategies, consideration is given to the 
regulations and tax laws that apply to the specific facts and circumstances for any tax positions under evaluation. 
Management closely monitors tax developments on both the federal and state level in order to evaluate the effect 
they may have on the Company’s overall tax position and the estimates and judgments used in determining the 
income tax provision and records adjustments as necessary.

Deferred income taxes arise from temporary differences between the tax and financial statement recognition of 
revenue and expenses. In evaluating the Company’s ability to recover its deferred tax assets within the jurisdiction 
from which they arise, the Company must consider all available evidence, including scheduled reversals of deferred 
tax liabilities, projected future taxable income, tax planning strategies, and the results of recent operations. A 
valuation allowance is recognized for a deferred tax asset if, based on the available evidence, it is more likely than 
not that some portion or all of a deferred tax asset will not be realized. See Note 8 — Income Taxes, in Notes to the 
Consolidated Financial Statements of the Company for additional information.

Non-GAAP Financial Measures

We prepare our financial statements in accordance with U.S. GAAP and also present certain non-GAAP 
financial measures that exclude certain items or otherwise include components that differ from the most directly 
comparable measures calculated in accordance with U.S. GAAP. Non-GAAP measures are provided as additional 
useful information to assess our financial condition and results of operations (including period-to-period operating 
performance). These non-GAAP measures are not intended as a substitute for GAAP financial measures and may 
not be defined or calculated the same way as non-GAAP measures with similar names used by other companies. For 
more information, including the reconciliation of these non-GAAP financial measures to their corresponding GAAP 
financial measures, see the respective sections where the measures are presented.

Commercial Real Estate Sector Concentration

The commercial real estate (“CRE”) sector has been impacted significantly by rising interest rates and higher 
vacancies, increasing the prospect of default that borrowers may face due to the record amount of upcoming 
maturities. In addition, the office market continues to struggle with fewer employees in the office after the 
COVID-19 pandemic. The Bank continues to monitor its commercial real estate portfolio by reviewing various 
credit risk and concentration reports. However, in late 2024 interest rates began falling, and in January 2025 the U.S. 
president signed an executive order requiring all federal employees to return to offices on a five day a week basis. 
Additionally, several large private-sector employers instituted similar return to office mandates in 2024. Given our 
concentration in the Washington, D.C. MSA we would expect that the federal return to office mandate, combined 
with mandates at private sector employers and decreases interest rates could help the region’s struggling CRE 
market; however, we cannot be certain that this would be the case or the degree to which such mandates may 
improve the CRE picture in 2025, if at all. The Bank’s exposure to commercial real estate at December 31, 2024, 
was $2.6 billion or 46.5% of its gross loan portfolio, not including owner-occupied commercial real estate and 
acquisition, construction & development. Commercial real estate as a percent of total assets at December 31, 2024, 
was 33.8%, not including owner-occupied commercial real estate and acquisition, construction & development. 
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Including owner-occupied commercial real estate and acquisition, construction & development, total exposure was 
$3.7 billion or 65.5% of our total gross loans and 47.7% of total assets at December 31, 2024.

Loan balances by portfolio segment amortized cost (in thousands) and by percentage of our total gross loan 
portfolio at December 31, 2024, were as follows:

December 31, 2024
Amortized Cost Percentage

Commercial real estate     ........................................................................................... $ 2,637,802  46.5 %
Owner-occupied commercial real estate   ................................................................  614,362  10.8 
Acquisition, construction & development ..............................................................  465,537  8.2 
Commercial & industrial  ........................................................................................  613,085  10.8 
Single family residential (1-4 units)     .......................................................................  1,173,749  20.7 
Consumer non-real estate and other      .......................................................................  167,701  3.0 
Total gross loans  ..................................................................................................... $ 5,672,236  100.0 %

Monitoring of the CRE concentration is performed at both the loan level and at the portfolio level. The Credit 
Risk Management team provides management and the Board with periodic reports on the credit portfolio, which 
include the CRE portfolio (including owner-occupied CRE and acquisition, construction & development loans). 
These reports provide an assessment of asset quality and risk rating migration and monitor concentrations against the 
board approved concentration limits (including sub-limits). The tables below present the Company’s commercial 
real estate, owner-occupied commercial real estate, and acquisition, construction & development portfolios by 
collateral type and geographic location as of December 31, 2024 (in thousands). 

Commercial Real Estate by Collateral Type and Geographic Location
VA WV MD DC Other Total Percentage

Retail Real Estate   ......... $ 279,620 $ 78,356 $ 127,684 $ 39,395 $ 52,692 $ 577,747  22.0 %
Multi-Family    ................  234,278  108,721  41,989  80,839  26,097  491,924  18.6 
Office Buildings/
Condos     .........................  184,346  36,268  119,032  28,511  30,174  398,331  15.1 
Hotels/Motels    ...............  131,070  48,409  67,318  51,515  77,121  375,433  14.2 
Industrial/Warehouse  ...  232,820  9,274  20,538  —  —  262,632  10.0 
Self-Storage  ..................  67,214  24,902  1,471  —  31,085  124,672  4.7 
Nursing-Assisted 
Living    ...........................  63,239  26,250  6,195  —  37,162  132,846  5.0 
Restaurants    ...................  16,142  1,887  7,517  6,972  7,911  40,429  1.5 
Gas Stations    .................  7,323  1,646  2,074  14,667  2,644  28,354  1.1 
Other    ............................  130,730  5,173  13,156  43,537  12,838  205,434  7.8 
Total      ............................. $ 1,346,782 $ 340,886 $ 406,974 $ 265,436 $ 277,724 $ 2,637,802  100.0 %
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Owner-Occupied Commercial Real Estate by Collateral Type and Geographic Location
VA WV MD DC Other Total Percentage

Office Buildings/
Condos     ......................... $ 68,349 $ 34,002 $ 19,520 $ 635 $ 7,872 $ 130,378  21.2 %
Retail    ............................  43,918  39,084  14,218  —  24,402  121,622  19.8 
Industrial/Warehouse  ...  47,221  15,370  1,310  —  18,226  82,127  13.4 
Gas Stations    .................  30,800  10,362  5,170  —  23,033  69,365  11.3 
Restaurants    ...................  7,234  8,069  3,561  —  11,259  30,123  4.9 
Churches/Religious 
Organizations  ...............  21,173  8,517  1,334  236  3,329  34,589  5.6 
Coal, oil, gas, and 
natural resource 
extraction  ......................  677  10,176  —  —  118  10,971  1.8 
Private School ..............  7,453  —  —  —  —  7,453  1.2 
Other    ............................  49,183  19,734  44,585  347  13,885  127,734  20.8 
Total      ............................. $ 276,008 $ 145,314 $ 89,698 $ 1,218 $ 102,124 $ 614,362  100.0 %

Acquisition, Construction & Development by Collateral Type and Geographic Location
VA WV MD DC Other Total Percentage

Multi-Family    ................ $ 6,228 $ 2,912 $ 7,708 $ 52,950 $ 71,216 $ 141,014  30.3 %
Land   .............................  61,376  25,071  10,970  —  7,305  104,722  22.5 
Office Buildings/
Condos     .........................  11,904  —  —  28,967  41,099  81,970  17.6 
Self-Storage  ..................  9,161  569  22,823  —  22,548  55,101  11.8 
Retail Real Estate   .........  14,216  2,804  10,723  —  2,474  30,217  6.5 
Residential For-Sale   .....  2,603  5,192  1,123  2,641  471  12,030  2.6 
Other    ............................  5,548  5,967  14,360  —  14,608  40,483  8.7 
Total      ............................. $ 111,036 $ 42,515 $ 67,707 $ 84,558 $ 159,721 $ 465,537  100.0 %

CRE loans are monitored through various processes that include payment monitoring, financial reporting, and 
covenant compliance monitoring, and annual reviews for larger relationships. Furthermore, construction loans are 
monitored throughout the life of the project and the construction loan administration function is centralized within 
the Credit Risk Management team. Monitoring the market conditions is also an important component of prudent 
CRE risk management. Quarterly construction progress reviews are also completed on all acquisition, construction 
& development loans. For each loan, management reviews the adequacy of the construction budget, adequacy of the 
interest reserve, pace of construction, and review of any loan covenants.  

The Bank believes its underwriting and monitoring standards for commercial real estate loans are sufficient to 
evaluate its loan portfolio and keep it from incurring significant losses. The majority of the Company’s commercial 
real estate loans are in Virginia (approximately 46.7%), and it does not have significant exposure to any economic 
areas of the country that are underperforming the national economy. Additionally, the Bank’s overall exposure to the 
“Office Building/Condo” collateral type is 16.4% of total commercial real estate loans, including owner-occupied 
commercial real estate and acquisition, construction & development. The Bank believes that the combined loan 
portfolio is well-diversified, generally seasoned, manageable, and will outperform the industry in terms of 
performance through the economic cycle; however, our underwriting, review, and monitoring cannot eliminate all of 
the risks related to these loans. For further discussion see Item 1A, under the caption “Risk Factors”.

Liquidity Management

Liquidity is the ability of the Company to convert assets into cash or cash equivalents without significant loss 
and to raise additional funds by increasing liabilities. Liquidity management involves maintaining the Company’s 
ability to meet the day-to-day cash flow requirements of its customers, whether they are depositors wishing to 
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withdraw funds or borrowers requiring funds to meet their credit needs. Without proper liquidity management, the 
Company would not be able to perform the primary function of a financial intermediary and would, therefore, not be 
able to meet the needs of the communities it serves.

The Company assesses the need for liquidity in a variety of scenarios. Those scenarios may include projected 
growth, credit deterioration, deposit decay, interest rate changes, and a variety of other economic scenarios that can 
impact the liquidity position of the Company. These analyses are performed on a quarterly basis in conjunction with 
the Company’s Asset/Liability meetings, and findings are reported to the Asset and Liability Management 
Committee (the “ALCO”) and to the Board. From time to time, management may change the frequency of such 
testing or update certain inputs as a result of abnormal market conditions.

Findings, as a result of the Company’s prudent liquidity modeling, may result in the change of certain products 
offered to customers or adjust the way the Company manages its balance sheet. Such changes could include 
adjusting interest rates offered on certain deposit products, changes to interest rates charged in lending activities, or 
the suspension of certain products and activities altogether. Times of significant economic stress may cause the mix 
of funding to shift and increase the likelihood of changes to certain products in order to manage the Company’s 
overall liquidity and capital position.

The asset portion of the balance sheet provides liquidity primarily through unencumbered securities available-
for-sale, loan principal and interest payments, maturities and prepayments of investment securities, and, to a lesser 
extent, sales of investment securities available-for-sale. Other short-term investments available to the Company that 
could act as potential sources of liquidity are federal funds sold, securities purchased under agreements to resell, and 
maturing interest-bearing deposits with other banks.

The liability portion of the balance sheet provides liquidity through interest-bearing and non-interest-bearing 
deposit accounts and through FHLB and other borrowings. Brokered deposits, federal funds purchased, securities 
sold under agreements to repurchase, and other short-term borrowings are additional sources of liquidity and 
basically represent the Company’s incremental borrowing capacity. These sources of liquidity are used as necessary 
to fund asset growth and meet short-term liquidity needs.

In addition to the Company’s financial performance and condition, liquidity may be impacted by the 
Company’s structure as a financial holding company that is a separate legal entity from the Bank. The Company 
requires cash for various operating needs that could include payment of dividends to its shareholders, the servicing 
of debt, and the payment of general corporate expenses. The primary source of liquidity for the Company is 
dividends paid by the Bank. Applicable federal and state statutes and regulations impose restrictions on the amount 
of dividends that may be paid by the Bank. In addition to the formal statutes and regulations, regulatory authorities 
also consider the adequacy of the Bank’s total capital in relation to its assets, deposits, and other such items. Any 
future dividends must be set forth in the Company’s capital plans before any dividends can be paid.

Management believes that the current sources of liquidity are adequate to meet the Company’s requirements and 
plans for continued growth. See Note 7 — Borrowed Funds and Note 14 — Commitments and Contingencies, in 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information regarding outstanding balances of sources of 
liquidity and contractual commitments and obligations.

Capital

The Company and the Bank are subject to various regulatory capital requirements administered by the federal 
banking agencies. Failure to meet minimum capital requirements can initiate certain mandatory and possible 
additional discretionary actions by regulators that, if undertaken, could have a direct material effect on the 
Company’s consolidated financial statements.

Applicable capital rules under the Basel III Framework require the Company and the Bank to maintain 
minimum Common Equity Tier 1 (“CET 1”), Tier 1, and Total Capital ratios, along with a capital conservation 
buffer, effectively resulting in new minimum capital ratios. The capital conservation buffer is designed to absorb 
losses during periods of economic stress. Banking institutions with a ratio of CET 1 capital to risk-weighted assets 
above the minimum but below the conservation buffer (or below the combined capital conservation buffer and 
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counter-cyclical capital buffer, when the latter is applied) will face constraints on dividends, equity repurchases, and 
compensation based on the amount of the shortfall. The Basel III Framework also provide for a “counter-cyclical 
capital buffer” that is applicable to only certain covered institutions and does not have any current applicability to 
the Company or the Bank.

Under capital adequacy guidelines and the regulatory framework for “prompt corrective action”, the Company 
and the Bank must meet specific capital guidelines that involve quantitative measures of assets, liabilities, and 
certain off-balance sheet items as calculated under regulatory accounting practices. The capital amounts and 
classifications are also subject to qualitative judgments by the regulators about components, risk weightings, and 
other factors.

Additionally, federal banking laws require regulatory authorities to take “prompt corrective action” with respect 
to depository institutions that do not satisfy minimum capital requirements. The extent of these powers depends 
upon whether the institution in question is “well capitalized,” “adequately capitalized,” “undercapitalized,” 
“significantly undercapitalized,” or “critically undercapitalized,” as such terms are defined under federal banking 
agency regulations. Depository institutions that do not meet minimum capital requirements will face constraints on 
payment of dividends, equity repurchases, and compensation based on the amount of shortfall. A depository 
institution that is not “well capitalized” is generally prohibited from accepting brokered deposits and offering 
interest rates on deposits higher than the prevailing rate in its market, may be subject to asset growth limitations, and 
may be required to submit capital restoration plans.

As of December 31, 2024, and December 31, 2023, the Bank complied with all regulatory capital standards and 
qualifies as “well capitalized”. Note 12 — Regulatory Capital Matters in Notes to the Consolidated Financial 
Statements contains additional discussion and analysis regarding the Company and the Bank’s regulatory capital 
requirements.

Effects of Inflation

The majority of assets and liabilities of a financial institution are monetary in nature; therefore, a financial 
institution differs greatly from most commercial and industrial companies, which have significant investments in 
fixed assets or inventories that are greatly impacted by inflation. However, inflation does have an important impact 
on the growth of total assets in the banking industry and the resulting need to increase equity capital at higher-than-
normal rates in order to maintain an appropriate equity-to-assets ratio. Inflation also affects other expenses that tend 
to rise during periods of general inflation.

Management believes the most significant potential impact of inflation on financial results is a direct result of 
the Company’s ability to manage the impact of changes in interest rates. Management attempts to maintain a 
balanced position between rate-sensitive assets and liabilities over an economic cycle in order to minimize the 
impact of interest rate fluctuations on net interest income. However, this goal can be difficult to completely achieve 
in times of rapidly changing interest rates and is one of many factors considered in determining the Company’s 
interest rate positioning.

Key Factors Affecting Financial Performance

We face a variety of risks that may impact various aspects of our financial performance from time to time. The 
extent of such impacts may vary depending on factors such as the current business and economic conditions, 
political and regulatory environment, and operational challenges. Many of these risks and our risk management 
strategies are described in more detail elsewhere in this Report.

Our success will depend upon, among other things, the following factors that we manage or control:

• Effectively managing capital and liquidity, including:

◦ Continuing to maintain and, over time, grow our deposit base as a low-cost stable funding source,

◦ Prudent liquidity and capital management to meet evolving regulatory capital, capital planning, stress 
testing, and liquidity standards, and
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◦ Actions we take within the capital and other financial markets,

• Our ability to manage any material costs related to the execution of our strategic priorities, including 
increased employees, infrastructure, compliance, and other costs in a profitable manner over the long term, 

• Management of credit risk and interest rate risk in our portfolio,

• Our ability to manage and implement strategic business objectives within the changing regulatory 
environment,

• The impact of legal and regulatory-related contingencies,

• The appropriateness of critical accounting estimates and related contingencies,

• Our ability to manage operational risks related to new products and services, changes in processes and 
procedures, or the implementation of new technology, and

• The ability to make investments to promote compliance with existing and evolving regulatory requirements 
that will increase as the Company grows and will result in increased administrative expenses that we did 
not previously incur, which costs may materially increase our general and administrative expenses.

Our financial performance is also substantially affected by a number of external factors outside of our control, 
including the following:

• Economic conditions, including pandemics and political conflicts, the availability of labor, supply chain 
volatility, and any actions taken to mitigate and manage such impacts,

• The effect of climate change on our business and performance, including indirectly through impacts on our 
customers,

• The actions by the Federal Reserve, U.S. Treasury, and other government agencies, including those that 
impact money supply and market interest rates and inflation,

• The level of, and direction, timing, and magnitude of movement in interest rates and the shape of the 
interest rate yield curve,

• The functioning and other performance of and availability of liquidity in U.S. and global financial markets, 
including capital markets,

• The impact of tariffs and other trade policies of the U.S. and its global trading partners,

• Changes in the competitive landscape,

• Impacts of changes in federal, state, and local governmental policy, including on the regulatory landscape, 
capital markets, taxes, infrastructure spending, and social programs,

• The impact of market credit spreads on asset valuations,

• The ability of customers, counterparties, and issuers to perform in accordance with contractual terms and 
the resulting impact on our asset quality,

• Loan demand, utilization of credit commitments, and standby letters of credit, and

• The impact on customers and changes in customer behavior due to changing business and economic 
conditions or regulatory or legislative initiatives.

The impact of these items, where material, is discussed in the applicable sections of this Management’s 
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations. For additional information on the risks 
we face, see Item 1A. — Risk Factors.
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Selected Financial Data

The following table sets forth selected historical consolidated financial information for each of the periods 
indicated. This information should be read together with Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial 
Condition and Results of Operations, below, and with the accompanying consolidated financial statements included 
in this Form 10-K. The historical information indicated as of and for the years ended December 31, 2024, 
December 31, 2023, and December 31, 2022, has been derived from the Company’s audited consolidated financial 
statements for the years ended December 31, 2024, December 31, 2023, and December 31, 2022. Historical results 
set forth below and elsewhere in this Form 10-K are not necessarily indicative of future performance.

As of December 31,
(In thousands, except ratios, share, and per share data) 2024 2023 2022
Selected Financial Condition Data:
Total assets     ............................................................................................... $ 7,812,185 $ 3,617,579 $ 3,562,898 
Total cash and cash equivalents  ................................................................  135,314  44,498  50,295 
Total investment securities, at fair value    ..................................................  1,432,371  1,248,439  1,371,757 
Net loans    ...................................................................................................  5,604,196  2,062,455  1,866,182 
Company-owned life insurance     ................................................................  182,834  94,159  92,487 
Premises and equipment, net    ....................................................................  132,270  61,128  53,170 
Total deposits    ............................................................................................  6,515,239  3,001,881  2,920,400 
Borrowed funds     ........................................................................................  365,000  272,000  343,100 
Total shareholders’ equity     ........................................................................  730,157  314,750  273,453 
Common shareholders’ equity   ..................................................................  719,744  314,750  273,453 

As of or for the Year Ended December 31,
Selected Operating Data: 2024 2023 2022

Interest income     ......................................................................................... $ 366,161 $ 146,896 $ 112,633 
Interest expense     ........................................................................................  140,376  53,137  8,941 
Net interest income   ...................................................................................  225,785  93,759  103,692 
Provision for (recapture of) credit losses  ..................................................  24,220  214  (7,466) 
Total non-interest income   .........................................................................  36,166  17,952  17,087 
Total non-interest expense    ........................................................................  197,833  86,436  75,946 
Income before income taxes     .....................................................................  39,898  25,061  52,299 
Income tax expense     ..................................................................................  4,190  2,369  8,286 
Preferred stock dividends      .........................................................................  675  —  — 
Net income applicable to common shares  ................................................  35,033  22,692  44,013 

Per Share Data:
Average shares of Common Stock outstanding, basic    .............................  12,393,677  7,428,042  7,425,088 
Average shares of Common Stock outstanding, diluted   ...........................  12,441,831  7,506,855  7,467,717 
Total shares of Common Stock outstanding    .............................................  14,969,104  7,428,710  7,425,760 
Basic net income per common share    ........................................................ $ 2.83 $ 3.05 $ 5.93 
Diluted net income per common share     .....................................................  2.82  3.02  5.89 
Dividends declared per common share   .....................................................  2.14  2.12  2.12 
Dividend payout ratio (1)

     ...........................................................................  75.89 %  70.20 %  35.99 %
Book value per common share (at period end)      ......................................... $ 48.08 $ 42.37 $ 36.82 

Table of Contents

64



As of or for the Year Ended December 31,
2024 2023 2022

Performance Ratios:
Return on average assets    ............................................................................  0.45 %  0.63 %  1.24 %
Return on average equity (2)

   .......................................................................  5.97  8.00  14.28 
Interest rate spread (3)

  .................................................................................  2.53  2.23  3.06 
Net interest margin (4)

   .................................................................................  3.08  2.85  3.19 
Efficiency ratio (5)

 .......................................................................................  75.52  77.37  62.88 

Capital Ratios:
Common equity tier 1 (CET 1) capital to risk-weighted assets    .................  11.53 %  16.85 %  17.97 %
Total risk-based capital to risk-weighted assets    .........................................  14.57  17.88  18.88 
Tier 1 capital to risk-weighted assets     .........................................................  11.96  16.85  17.97 
Tier 1 capital to average assets (leverage ratio)    .........................................  9.80  11.31  11.34 

Asset Quality Ratios:
Allowance coverage ratio     ..........................................................................  1.20 %  1.21 %  1.11 %
Allowance for credit losses as a percentage of non-performing loans   ......  177.34  675.77  382.74 
Net charge-offs to average outstanding loans during the period   ...............  0.03  —  0.18 
Non-performing loans as a percentage of total loans  .................................  0.68  0.18  0.29 
Non-performing assets as a percentage of total assets   ...............................  0.53  0.10  0.15 

Other Data:
Number of full-service branches   ................................................................ 77 23 23
Number of full-time equivalent employees      ............................................... 815 400 411

__________________
(1) Dividend payout ratio represents dividends declared per common share divided by diluted earnings per common share.

(2) Return on average equity computed using total average equity at period-end.

(3) The interest rate spread represents the difference between the fully taxable-equivalent weighted-average yield on interest-earning assets and 
the weighted-average cost of interest-bearing liabilities for the period.

(4) The net interest margin represents fully taxable-equivalent net interest income as a percent of average interest-earning assets for the period.

(5) The efficiency ratio represents non-interest expense as a percentage of the sum of net interest income and non-interest income.
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Results of Operations

Results of Operations for Years Ended December 31, 2024, and December 31, 2023

General

Consolidated net income applicable to common shares for the year ended December 31, 2024, was $35.0 
million compared to $22.7 million earned during the year ended December 31, 2023. The $12.3 million or 54.4% 
increase in net income applicable to common shares in 2024 compared to 2023 was primarily due to the effect of the 
Merger which resulted in increases in all categories of interest income exceeding increases in interest expense 
compared to the prior year ended December 31, 2023.

Net interest income totaled $225.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2024, compared to $93.8 million 
for the year ended December 31, 2023. The $132.0 million increase in net interest income was primarily driven by 
the Merger which resulted in higher loan interest income partially offset by higher deposit interest expense. Interest-
bearing demand deposits and time deposits were the primary driver of increased net interest expense due mostly to 
an increase in volume and partly to an increase in rate.

For the year ended December 31, 2024, the Company recorded credit provision expense of $24.2 million 
compared to $0.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2023. For the year ended December 31, 2024, the 
Company recognized a one-time CECL Day 2 provision for non-PCD assets acquired in the Merger, which resulted 
in a higher credit provision expense compared to the year ended December 31, 2023.

Non-interest income increased by $18.2 million, or 101.5%, to $36.2 million for the year ended December 31, 
2024, compared to $18.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2023. The increase in non-interest income was 
mostly due to the Merger, and included increases in all categories of non-interest income. The largest increase was 
in service charges and fees of $8.9 million followed by an increase in fiduciary and wealth management of $3.1 
million and and increase in other non-interest income of $2.9 million. The Company also realized gains on the sale 
of securities resulting in an increase of $1.5 million in net gains/(losses) from securities compared to the year ended 
December 31, 2023.

Non-interest expense increased by $111.4 million, or 128.9%, to $197.8 million for the year ended 
December 31, 2024, compared to $86.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2023. The increase was mostly due 
to the Merger, and included increases in all categories of non-interest expense. The largest increase was in other 
operating expenses which included $36.5 million of legal, consulting, and audit fees related to the Merger with 
Summit Financial Group, Inc. Other large increases included salaries and wages which increased by $37.8 million 
and equipment rentals, depreciation and maintenance which increased $17.4 million compared to the year ended 
December 31, 2023.

Net Interest Income and Net Interest Margin

Net interest income is the principal component of the Company’s income stream and represents the difference, 
or spread, between interest and fee income generated from earning assets and the interest expense paid on deposits 
and borrowed funds. Net interest margin, stated as a percentage, is the yield obtained by dividing the difference 
between interest income generated on earning assets and the interest expense paid on all funding sources by average 
earning assets. 

Fluctuations in interest rates as well as changes in the volume and mix of earnings assets and interest-bearing 
liabilities can impact net interest income and net interest margin. Management closely monitors both total net 
interest income and the net interest margin and seeks to maximize net interest income without exposing the 
Company to an excessive level of interest rate risk through our asset and liability policies. Interest rate risk is 
managed by monitoring the pricing, maturity, and repricing options of all classes of interest-bearing assets and 
liabilities.

Net interest income totaled $225.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2024, compared to $93.8 million 
for the year ended December 31, 2023. The $132.0 million increase in net interest income was primarily driven by 
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the Merger which resulted in higher loan interest income driven by higher accretion income, partially offset by 
higher deposit interest expense. Interest income on loans increased by $209.6 million while interest income on 
securities increased $7.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2024 compared to the year ended December 31, 
2023. Accretion income associated with acquired loans and borrowings totaled $40.9 million for the year ended, 
December 31, 2024. Deposit interest expense increased by $79.5 million, while interest expense on subordinated 
debt assumed in the Merger led to an increase in interest expense of $7.4 million for the year ended December 31, 
2024 compared to the year ended December 31, 2023.

The tax adjusted net interest margin was 3.08% for the year ended December 31, 2024, compared to 2.85% for 
the year ended December 31, 2023. The increase in tax-adjusted net interest margin was primarily driven by the the 
effect of the Merger and the acquisition of additional, higher-yielding interest-earning assets.

The yield for the year ended December 31, 2024, for the loan portfolio was 5.48% compared to 5.07% for the 
year ended December 31, 2023. The increase was primarily the result of the Merger which resulted in higher 
accretion income and the acquisition of additional, higher-yielding loans.

For the year ended December 31, 2024, the tax-adjusted yield on the total investment securities portfolio was 
3.30% compared to 3.44% for the year ended December 31, 2023. The decrease was primarily due to the recovery 
on unrealized losses that decreased the effective rate earned on investment securities.

The rate paid on interest-bearing deposits increased to 2.27% during the year ended December 31, 2024, from 
1.86% during the year ended December 31, 2023. The increase was a result of the Merger which resulted in the 
assumption of additional interest-bearing deposits with higher interest rates and to a lesser extent by higher market 
interest rates.

The rate paid on our borrowings for the year ended December 31, 2024, was 3.35% compared to 4.69% for the 
year ended December 31, 2023. The decrease was due to the decrease in short-term borrowing costs, driven by 
decreases in the Federal Funds Rate during 2024.

The rate paid on subordinated debt and trust preferred securities acquired in the merger was 10.08% for the year 
ended December 31, 2024.
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The following table sets forth the major components of net interest income and the related yields and rates for 
the years ended December 31, 2024, and December 31, 2023, for comparison (dollars in thousands).

For the Years Ended
2024 2023

Average 
Outstanding 

Balance

Interest 
Income/
Expense

Rate 
Earned/Paid

Average 
Outstanding 

Balance

Interest 
Income/
Expense

Rate 
Earned/

Paid
Assets:
Loans, gross(1)(2)

    .............................................. $ 5,684,348 $ 311,304  5.48 % $ 2,007,030 $ 101,800  5.07 %
Tax-exempt loans   ............................................  4,097  149  3.64  —  — N/A

Total loans   ...........................................  5,688,445  311,453  5.48  2,007,030  101,800  5.07 
Interest-bearing deposits and fed funds sold   ...  118,067  4,457  3.77  52,002  2,302  4.43 
Taxable securities    ............................................  1,156,456  40,039  3.46  1,020,707  37,179  3.64 
Tax-exempt securities(3)

  ..................................  449,980  12,966  2.88  265,608  7,108  2.68 
Total securities     ....................................  1,606,436  53,005  3.30  1,286,315  44,287  3.44 
Total interest-earning assets     ................  7,412,948  368,915  4.98  3,345,347  148,389  4.44 

Non-interest-earning assets    .............................  329,082  249,008 
Total assets  .......................................... $ 7,742,030 $ 3,594,355 

Liabilities and shareholders’ equity:
Deposits:

Non-interest-bearing demand .................... $ 1,417,846 $ 878,740 
Interest-bearing demand     ............................  2,520,273  45,926  1.82 %  544,651  2,312  0.42 %
Savings    ......................................................  1,404,870  21,836  1.55  967,306  15,819  1.64 
Time   ..........................................................  1,295,270  50,902  3.93  597,796  21,064  3.52 

Total interest-bearing deposits    ............  5,220,413  118,664  2.27  2,109,753  39,195  1.86 
Total deposits    ................................  6,638,259  118,664  1.79  2,988,493  39,195  1.31 

Borrowings:
FHLB advances and other(4)

     ......................  426,278  14,300  3.35  297,111  13,942  4.69 
Subordinated debt and other     .....................  73,507  7,412  10.08  —  — N/A

Total interest-bearing liabilities   ......................  5,720,198  140,376  2.45  2,406,864  53,137  2.21 
Non-interest-bearing liabilities      .......................  16,801  24,949 
Equity    ..............................................................  587,185  283,802 

Total liabilities and equity ................... $ 7,742,030 $ 3,594,355 

Taxable-equivalent net interest income /net 
interest spread(5)

    ..............................................  228,539  2.53 %  95,252  2.23 %
Taxable-equivalent net interest margin(6)

    ........  3.08 %  2.85 %
Taxable-equivalent net adjustment    .................  (2,754)  (1,493) 
Net interest income    ......................................... $ 225,785 $ 93,759 
Net interest-earning assets     .............................. $ 1,692,750 $ 938,483 

(1) Non-accrual loans are included in average loan balances.
(2) Loan fees are included in the calculation of interest income.
(3) Yields and interest income on tax-exempt assets are computed on a taxable-equivalent basis assuming a 21% tax rate.
(4) FHLB Advances and other includes finance lease liabilities.
(5) The interest rate spread represents the difference between the fully taxable equivalent weighted-average yield on interest-earning assets and 

the weighted-average cost of interest-bearing liabilities for the period.
(6) The net interest margin represents fully taxable equivalent net interest income as a percent of average interest-earning assets for the period.

Taxable-equivalent net interest margin, as presented above, is calculated by dividing fully tax-equivalent 
(“FTE”) net interest income by total average earning assets. Net interest income, on an FTE basis, is a non-GAAP 
financial measure that the Company believes to provide a more accurate picture of the interest margin for 
comparative purposes. Management believes FTE net interest income is a standard practice in the banking industry, 
and when net interest income is adjusted on an FTE basis, yields on taxable, nontaxable, and partially taxable assets 
are comparable; however, the adjustment to an FTE basis has no impact on net income. FTE net interest income is 
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calculated by adding the tax benefit on certain financial interest earning assets, whose interest is tax-exempt, to total 
interest income and then subtracting total interest expense. As a non-GAAP measure, FTE net interest income 
should not be considered as a substitute for the nearest comparable GAAP measure, net interest income. Net interest 
income shown elsewhere in this Form 10-K is GAAP net interest income. The following table reconciles GAAP net 
interest income to FTE net interest income (in thousands).

For the Years Ended
December 31, 2024 December 31, 2023

GAAP Financial Measurements
Interest Income - Loans    ......................................................................................... $ 311,303 $ 101,800 
Interest Income - Tax-exempt loans     ......................................................................  118  — 
Interest Income - Securities taxable    .......................................................................  39,817  37,179 
Interest Income - Securities tax-exempt      ................................................................  10,243  5,615 
Interest Income - Other interest income    .................................................................  4,680  2,302 

Total Interest Income    ................................................................................................  366,161  146,896 

Interest Expense - Deposits  ....................................................................................  118,664  39,195 
Interest Expense - Borrowed funds     ........................................................................  14,189  13,856 
Interest Expense - Subordinated debt     ....................................................................  7,412  — 
Interest Expense - Other  .........................................................................................  111  86 

Total Interest Expense    .................................................................................................  140,376  53,137 

Total Net Interest Income   ............................................................................................ $ 225,785 $ 93,759 

Non-GAAP Financial Measurements
Add: Tax Benefit on Tax-Exempt Interest Income - Securities      ............................ $ 2,754 $ 1,493 

Total Tax Benefit on Tax-Exempt Interest Income (1)
     ................................................  2,754  1,493 

Tax-Equivalent Net Interest Income   ........................................................................... $ 228,539 $ 95,252 
(1) Tax benefit was calculated using the federal statutory tax rate of 21%.

Rate/Volume Analysis

The following table sets forth the dollar difference in interest earned and paid for each major category of 
interest-earning assets and interest-bearing liabilities for the noted periods and the amount of such change 
attributable to changes in average balances (volume) or changes in average interest rates. Interest income and 
interest expense for the years ended December 31, 2024, and December 31, 2023, are annualized using an actual 
days over calendar year method. The volume variances are equal to the increase or decrease in average balance 
multiplied by current period rates, and rate variances are equal to the increase or decrease in rate times prior period 
average balances. Variances attributable to both rate and volume changes are calculated by multiplying the change in 
rate by the change in average balance and are allocated to the volume variance. See table below (in thousands).
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Year Ended December 31, 2024, Compared to December 31, 
2023

Increase (Decrease) Due to Change in:
Average Volume Average Rate Net Change

Income from the interest-earning assets:
Loans, gross    ........................................................................ $ 201,361 $ 8,291 $ 209,652 
Securities (1)

      ........................................................................  10,562  (1,845)  8,717 
Interest-bearing deposits and fed funds sold   ......................  2,494  (338)  2,156 

Total interest income on interest-earning assets   ...........  214,417  6,108  220,525 
Expense from the interest-bearing liabilities:

Interest-bearing demand deposits    .......................................  36,001  7,613  43,614 
Savings deposits      .................................................................  6,801  (784)  6,017 
Time deposits    .....................................................................  26,850  2,988  29,838 

Total interest expense on interest-bearing deposits    ......  69,652  9,817  79,469 
Borrowings    ..............................................................................  11,745  (3,976)  7,769 

Total interest expense on interest-bearing liabilities    ....  81,397  5,841  87,238 
Taxable-equivalent net interest income     .............. $ 133,020 $ 267 $ 133,287 

(1) Yields and interest income on tax-exempt securities have been computed on a taxable-equivalent basis.

Interest Income

Total interest income was $366.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2024, compared to $146.9 million 
for the year ended December 31, 2023, an increase of 149.3%. The increase in interest income was primarily driven 
by the Merger which resulted in higher loan and security interest income. Interest income on securities increased by 
$7.3 million or 17.0% for the year ended December 31, 2024, compared to the year ended December 31, 2023. 
Interest income on loans increased $209.6 million or 205.9% for the year ended December 31, 2024, compared to 
the year ended December 31, 2023.

Interest Expense

Total interest expense was $140.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2024, compared to $53.1 million for 
the previous year ended December 31, 2023, an increase of 164.2%. The increase in interest expense was primarily 
driven by the effect of the Merger and increases in deposit and debt balances. Interest expense on interest-bearing 
deposits increased by $79.5 million or 202.8% for the year ended December 31, 2024, compared to the year ended 
December 31, 2023. Interest expense on borrowed funds increased by $0.3 million or 2.4% for the year ended 
December 31, 2024, compared to the year ended December 31, 2023. Interest expense on subordinated debt acquired 
in the Merger led to an increase in interest expense of $7.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2024, compared 
to the year ended December 31, 2023.

Provision for (Recapture of) Credit Losses

The provision for credit losses was $24.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2024, compared to $0.2 
million for the year ended December 31, 2023. For the year ended December 31, 2024, the Company recognized a 
one-time CECL Day 2 provision for non-PCD assets acquired in the Merger and acquired commitments for 
unfunded commitments, which resulted in a higher credit provision expense compared to the year ended 
December 31, 2023. Additionally, loan balances have risen significantly for the year ended December 31, 2024, due 
to the Merger versus the year ended December 31, 2023. See Note 4 — Allowance for Credit Losses in Notes to 
Consolidated Financial Statements for further information.
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Non-interest Income

The following table sets forth the various components of our non-interest income for the periods indicated (in 
thousands):

Years Ended December 31, Increase (Decrease) 2024 vs. 2023
2024 2023 Amount Percent

Fiduciary and wealth management     .............................. $ 8,411 $ 5,354 $ 3,057  57.1 %
Service charges and fees     ..............................................  15,594  6,670  8,924  133.8 
Net gains (losses) on securities  ....................................  1,357  (112)  1,469 NM
Income from company-owned life insurance   ..............  4,686  2,844  1,842  64.8 
Other non-interest income     ...........................................  6,118  3,196  2,922  91.4 

Total    ....................................................................... $ 36,166 $ 17,952 $ 18,214  101.5 %

Non-interest income increased by $18.2 million or 101.5% for the year ended December 31, 2024, compared to 
December 31, 2023. The increase was primarily driven by the Merger, and included increases in all categories of 
non-interest income. The largest increase was in service charges and fees of $8.9 million followed by an increase in 
fiduciary and wealth management of $3.1 million and and increase in other non-interest income of $2.9 million. See 
Note 22 — Revenue from Contracts with Customers in Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for further 
information. The Company also realized gains on the sale of securities resulting in an increase of $1.5 million in 
non-interest income and an increase in income from Company-owned life insurance of $1.8 million for the year 
ended December 31, 2024, compared to December 31, 2023.

Non-interest Expense

The following table sets forth the various components of our non-interest expense for the periods indicated (in 
thousands):

Years Ended December 31, Increase (Decrease) 2024 vs. 2023
2024 2023 Amount Percent

Salaries and wages    ....................................................... $ 77,089 $ 39,247 $ 37,842  96.4 %
Pensions and other employee benefits     .........................  17,186  9,401  7,785  82.8 
Occupancy    ...................................................................  11,577  6,035  5,542  91.8 
Equipment rentals, depreciation and maintenance    ......  23,174  5,770  17,404  301.6 
Other operating    ............................................................  68,807  25,983  42,824  164.8 

Total    ....................................................................... $ 197,833 $ 86,436 $ 111,397  128.9 %

Non-interest expense increased 128.9% for the year ended December 31, 2024, compared to December 31, 
2023. The increase was mostly due to the Merger, and included increases in all categories of non-interest expense. 
The largest increase was in other operating expenses which included $36.5 million of legal, consulting, and audit 
fees related to the Merger with Summit Financial Group, Inc. The majority of these merger-related costs consist of 
legal, consulting, and audit fees. See Note 20 — Other Operating Expenses in Notes to Consolidated Financial 
Statements for further information on “Other” non-interest expense. Other large increases included salaries and 
wages which increased by $37.8 million, or 96.4%, and equipment rentals, depreciation and maintenance which 
increased $17.4 million, or 301.6%, compared to the year ended December 31, 2023. Pensions and other employee 
benefits increased by $7.8 million while occupancy increased by $5.5 million for the year ended December 31, 
2024, compared to December 31, 2023.

Income Tax Expense

Income tax expense was $4.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2024, a increase of $1.8 million from the 
tax provision for the year ended December 31, 2023. For 2024 and 2023, our effective tax rates were 10.5% and 
9.5%, respectively. A increase in income from operations led to a slight increase in the effective tax rate for 2024. 
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The effective tax rate going forward will continue to depend on income from operations as well as any legislative 
corporate tax changes.

Results of Operations for Years Ended December 31, 2023, and December 31, 2022

For a comparison of the 2023 results to the 2022 results and other 2022 information not included herein, refer to 
the “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” in Item 7 of the 
Company’s 10-K filed with the SEC on March 22, 2024, as amended by the Company’s 10-K/A filed with the SEC 
on April 12, 2024.

Table of Contents

72



Analysis of Financial Condition for Years Ended December 31, 2024, and December 31, 2023

Assets increased by $4.2 billion to $7.8 billion as of December 31, 2024, compared to $3.6 billion as of 
December 31, 2023. The increase in assets was primarily due to the Merger and included an increase in loans, net of 
ACL, of $3.5 billion, and an increase of $183.9 million in the securities portfolio as of December 31, 2024 compared 
to December 31, 2023. Deposits increased by $3.5 billion and amounted to $6.5 billion at December 31, 2024, 
compared to $3.0 billion at December 31, 2023, while short-term borrowings increased by $93.0 million to $365.0 
million as of December 31, 2024, compared to $272.0 million at December 31, 2023. Subordinated debt and 
subordinated debt owed to unconsolidated subsidiary trusts, which were assumed in the Merger, totaled $111.9 
million at December 31, 2024, compared to zero at December 31, 2023.

Investment Securities

Our investment policy is established and reviewed annually by the Board. We are permitted under federal law to 
invest in various types of liquid assets, including United States Government obligations, securities of various federal 
agencies and of state and municipal governments, mortgage-backed securities, time deposits of federally insured 
institutions, certain bankers’ acceptances, and federal funds. Our securities are all classified as available-for-sale 
(“AFS”).

Our investments provide a source of liquidity because we can pledge them to support borrowed funds or can 
liquidate them to generate cash proceeds. Our investment portfolio is also a resource in managing interest rate risk 
because the maturity and interest rate characteristics of this asset class can be modified to match changes in the loan 
and deposit portfolios. The majority of our AFS investment portfolio is comprised of obligations of states and 
municipalities and residential mortgage-backed securities. During the year ended December 31, 2024, the unrealized 
losses on our holdings decreased $6.9 million from December 31, 2023.

The Company determined that the declines in market value were due to increases in interest rates and market 
movements and not due to credit factors. Therefore, the Company has concluded that the unrealized losses for the 
AFS securities do not require an ACL at December 31, 2024, or at December 31, 2023. The Company has sufficient 
access to liquidity such that management does not believe it would be necessary to sell any of its investment 
securities at a loss to offset any unexpected deposit outflows. Management believes the structure of the Bank’s 
investment portfolio is appropriately aligned with the rest of the balance sheet to protect against significant and 
unexpected charges against earnings and capital. 

The following tables reflect the amortized cost and fair market values for the total portfolio for each category of 
investment as of December 31, 2024, and December 31, 2023 (in thousands):

December 31, 2024

Amortized 
Cost

Gross 
Unrealized 

Gains

Gross 
Unrealized 

Losses Fair Value
Securities Available-for-Sale
U.S. Treasuries and government agencies ................... $ 165,619 $ — $ 16,492 $ 149,127 
Obligations of states and municipalities    ......................  777,181  846  79,303  698,724 
Residential mortgage backed — agency     .....................  57,244  121  4,179  53,186 
Residential mortgage backed — non-agency   ..............  259,964  44  12,132  247,876 
Commercial mortgage backed — agency   ....................  33,791  27  747  33,071 
Commercial mortgage backed — non-agency     ............  158,621  2  4,112  154,511 
Asset backed   ................................................................  64,308  316  568  64,056 
Other       ............................................................................  32,861  302  1,343  31,820 
Total    ............................................................................. $ 1,549,589 $ 1,658 $ 118,876 $ 1,432,371 
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December 31, 2023

Amortized 
Cost

Gross 
Unrealized 

Gains

Gross 
Unrealized 

Losses Fair Value
Securities Available-for-Sale
U.S. Treasuries and government agencies ................... $ 197,026 $ — $ 17,955 $ 179,071 
Obligations of states and municipalities    ......................  535,229  21  72,047  463,203 
Residential mortgage backed — agency     .....................  47,074  —  4,836  42,238 
Residential mortgage backed — non-agency   ..............  284,826  17  18,812  266,031 
Commercial mortgage backed — agency   ....................  36,151  28  1,294  34,885 
Commercial mortgage backed — non-agency     ............  183,454  —  6,393  177,061 
Asset backed   ................................................................  79,315  23  1,402  77,936 
Other       ............................................................................  9,500  —  1,486  8,014 
Total    ............................................................................. $ 1,372,575 $ 89 $ 124,225 $ 1,248,439 

The investment maturity table below summarizes contractual maturities for our investment securities at 
December 31, 2024. The actual timing of principal payments may differ from remaining contractual maturities 
because obligors may have the right to repay certain obligations with or without penalties. The overall weighted 
average duration of the Company’s investment portfolio is 4.5 years at December 31, 2024. The weighted-average 
yield below represents the effective yield for the investment securities and is calculated based on the amortized cost 
of each security (dollars in thousands). Interest on securities below excludes tax-equivalent adjustments.

December 31, 2024
One Year or Less One to Five Years Five to Ten Years After Ten Years Total

Amortized 
Cost

Weighted 
Average 

Yield
Amortized 

Cost

Weighted 
Average 

Yield
Amortized 

Cost

Weighted 
Average 

Yield
Amortized 

Cost

Weighted 
Average 

Yield
Amortized 

Cost

Weighted 
Average 

Yield

Securities Available-for-
Sale
U.S. Treasuries and 

government agencies $ 5,110  0.41 % $ 160,509  1.34 % $ —  — % $ —  — % $ 165,619  1.31 %
Obligations of states 

and municipalities     ....  —  —  154,071  2.85  369,063  2.43  254,047  3.17  777,181  2.76 
Residential mortgage 

backed - agency    .......  —  —  18,778  4.66  28,045  2.68  10,421  4.32  57,244  3.63 
Residential mortgage 

backed - non-agency    21,790  4.18  80,362  3.30  128,977  4.39  28,835  4.92  259,964  4.09 
Commercial mortgage 

backed - agency    .......  —  —  26,594  4.82  7,197  4.95  —  —  33,791  4.85 
Commercial mortgage 

backed - non-agency    86,629  3.29  47,211  5.06  24,781  3.98  —  —  158,621  3.92 
Asset backed    .................  9,069  6.07  30,463  6.09  24,776  6.01  —  —  64,308  6.05 
Other     .............................  —  —  2,752  8.29  15,688  5.57  14,421  9.16  32,861  7.37 

Total   ..................................... $ 122,598  3.53 % $ 520,740  3.04 % $ 598,527  3.19 % $ 307,724  3.66 % $ 1,549,589  3.26 %

Lending Activities

Our loan portfolio consists primarily of commercial real estate loans, but we offer a variety of loan products to 
meet the credit needs of our borrowers. The risks associated with lending activities differ among loan classes and are 
subject to the impact of changes in interest rates, market conditions of collateral securing the loans, and general 
economic conditions. Any of these factors may adversely impact a borrower’s ability to repay loans and also impact 
the associated collateral. Additional discussion on the classes of loans the Company makes and related risks is 
included in Note 1 — Nature of Business Activities and Significant Accounting Policies and Note 3 — Loans in 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Loan balances by portfolio segment were as follows (in thousands):

December 31, 
2024

December 31, 
2023

Commercial real estate     ............................................................................................................. $ 2,637,802 $ 1,309,084 
Owner-occupied commercial real estate   ..................................................................................  614,362  131,381 
Acquisition, construction & development ................................................................................  465,537  49,091 
Commercial & industrial  ..........................................................................................................  613,085  67,847 
Single family residential (1-4 units)     .........................................................................................  1,173,749  527,980 
Consumer non-real estate and other      .........................................................................................  167,701  2,373 
Loans, gross    ..............................................................................................................................  5,672,236  2,087,756 
Allowance for credit losses  ......................................................................................................  (68,040)  (25,301) 
Loans, net   ................................................................................................................................. $ 5,604,196 $ 2,062,455 

The loan portfolio, excluding ACL, increased by $3.6 billion from December 31, 2023, to December 31, 2024, 
primarily due to the effect of the Merger. Additionally, the Company has continued to grow organically by 
continuing to serve existing customers and new customers through our expansion into newer markets.

The following table shows the maturity distribution for total loans outstanding as of December 31, 2024. The 
maturity distribution is grouped by remaining scheduled principal payments that are due in the following periods. 
The principal balances of loans are indicated by both fixed and floating rate categories in the table below (in 
thousands).

December 31, 2024

Within One Year
One Year to Five 

Years
Five Years to 15 

Years After 15 Years
Fixed 
Rates

Adjustable 
Rates

Fixed 
Rates

Adjustable 
Rates

Fixed 
Rates

Adjustable 
Rates

Fixed 
Rates

Adjustable 
Rates Total

Loans:
Commercial real 

estate   ................... $ 193,750 $ 110,472 $ 1,024,153 $ 325,859 $ 291,162 $ 357,718 $ 17,071 $ 317,617 $ 2,637,802 
Owner-occupied 

commercial real 
estate   ...................  37,081  6,151  150,823  40,894  94,726  144,630  17,285  122,772  614,362 

Acquisition, 
construction & 
development   .......  28,819  148,911  40,431  98,422  35,420  27,484  5,021  81,029  465,537 

Commercial & 
industrial    .............  12,148  162,089  138,605  199,013  30,949  51,466  10,279  8,536  613,085 
Total 

commercial 
loans      ..............  271,798  427,623  1,354,012  664,188  452,257  581,298  49,656  529,954  4,330,786 

Single family 
residential (1-4 
units)   ...................  16,582  13,306  38,513  7,840  78,851  77,488  462,456  478,713  1,173,749 

Consumer non-real 
estate and other     ...  8,005  121,091  28,614  956  7,502  613  421  499  167,701 
Total loans    ......... $ 296,385 $ 562,020 $ 1,421,139 $ 672,984 $ 538,610 $ 659,399 $ 512,533 $ 1,009,166 $ 5,672,236 

Asset Quality

The Company maintains policies and procedures to promote sound underwriting and mitigate credit risk. The 
Chief Credit Officer is responsible for establishing credit risk policies and procedures, including underwriting 
guidelines and credit approval authority, and monitoring credit exposure and performance of the Company’s 
lending-related transactions. 
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A loan is placed on non-accrual status when (i) the Company is advised by the borrower that scheduled 
principal or interest payments cannot be met, (ii) when management’s best judgment indicates that payment in full 
of principal and interest can no longer be expected, or (iii) when any such loan or obligation becomes delinquent for 
90 days, unless it is both well-secured and in the process of collection. 

The Company’s asset quality remained strong through December 31, 2024. The Company’s non-performing 
assets, which includes non-performing loans consisting of non-accrual loans, loans that are more than 90 days past 
due and still accruing, and other real estate owned, as of December 31, 2024, and December 31, 2023, totaled $41.2 
million and $3.7 million, respectively. The increase in the non-performing asset balance is mostly due to the effect 
of the Merger and the related increase in the loan portfolio as of December 31, 2024 when compared to 
December 31, 2023. In addition, the other real estate owned assets were entirely assumed as part of the Merger.

The following table summarizes the Company’s non-performing assets as of December 31, 2024, and 
December 31, 2023 (in thousands).

December 31, 
2024

December 31, 
2023

Non-accrual loans ..................................................................................................................... $ 35,871 $ 3,744 
90 days past due and still accruing    ...........................................................................................  2,497  — 
Total non-performing loans ......................................................................................................  38,368  3,744 

Other real estate owned     ............................................................................................................  2,783  — 

Total non-performing assets    ..................................................................................................... $ 41,151 $ 3,744 

Allowance for Credit Losses 

Refer to the discussion in the “Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates” section above and Note 1 — Nature 
of Business Activities and Significant Accounting Policies in Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for 
management’s approach to estimating the allowance for credit losses.

The Company maintains the ACL at a level deemed adequate by management for expected credit losses. As 
disclosed in Note 1 and Note 4 in Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, on January 1, 2023, the Company 
implemented CECL and increased the ACL, previously the allowance for credit losses, with a cumulative-effect 
adjustment to the ACL for credit losses of $4.4 million, which included a cumulative-effect adjustment to the ACL 
for off-balance sheet exposures of $274.8 thousand. The Company’s ACL is calculated quarterly with any 
adjustment recorded to the provision for credit losses in the consolidated Statement of Income. Management 
evaluates the adequacy of the ACL, utilizing a defined methodology to determine if it properly addresses the current 
and expected risks in the loan portfolio, which considers the performance of borrowers and specific evaluation of 
individually evaluated loans, including historical loss experiences, trends in delinquencies, non-performing loans 
and other risk assets, and qualitative factors. Risk factors are continuously reviewed and adjusted, as needed, by 
management when conditions support a change. Management believes its approach properly addresses relevant 
accounting and bank regulatory guidance for loans both collectively and individually evaluated. 

Gross charged-off loans were $1.8 million, $0.2 million, and $3.5 million for the years ended December 31, 
2024, December 31, 2023, and December 31, 2022, respectively. The increase in charge-offs during 2024, when 
compared to 2023, was due to the merger and the increase in the value of the loan portfolio. A majority of the 
charge-offs in 2022 related to a loan that the Company sold as part of a portfolio management strategy. Gross 
recoveries totaled $0.2 million, $0.1 million, and $0.2 million for the years ended December 31, 2024, December 31, 
2023, and December 31, 2022, respectively. The ACL as a percentage of gross loans, net of unearned income, was 
1.20%, 1.21%, and 1.11% as of December 31, 2024, December 31, 2023, and December 31, 2022, respectively.

The Company recorded a provision for credit losses of $20.5 million, a provision for credit losses of $0.2 
million, and a provision recapture of credit losses of $7.5 million for the years ended December 31, 2024, 
December 31, 2023, and December 31, 2022, respectively. The increase in provision for the year ended 
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December 31, 2024 was due to the Merger and the requirement to record an immediate provision expense for loans 
classified as non-PCD versus PCD loans where the Company is allowed to establish an adjustment to the ACL.

The following table summarizes the changes in the Company’s credit loss experience by portfolio for the year 
ended December 31, 2024, and the changes in the Company’s allowance for loan losses for the years ended 
December 31, 2023, and December 31, 2022 (dollars in thousands):

2024 2023 2022
Loans outstanding at end of period     ........................................................... $ 5,672,236 $ 2,087,756 $ 1,887,221 
Balance of allowance at beginning of year      ...............................................  (25,301)  (21,039)  (31,709) 
Initial CECL adjustment  —  (4,125)  — 
Allowance established for acquired PCD loans  (23,910)  —  — 
Loans charged-off

Commercial real estate  .........................................................................  382  —  3,282 
Owner-occupied commercial real estate     ..............................................  —  —  — 
Acquisition, construction & development     ...........................................  —  —  — 
Commercial & industrial  ......................................................................  301  29  20 
Residential ............................................................................................  190  —  — 
Consumer non-real estate and other  .....................................................  934  165  148 
Total loans charged-off     ........................................................................  1,807  194  3,450 

Recoveries of loans charged-off
Commercial real estate  .........................................................................  15  38  38 
Owner-occupied commercial real estate     ..............................................  —  —  — 
Acquisition, construction & development     ...........................................  —  —  — 
Commercial & industrial  ......................................................................  39  —  — 
Residential ............................................................................................  83  52  184 
Consumer non-real estate and other  .....................................................  24  6  24 
Total recoveries of loans charged-off    ..................................................  161  96  246 

Net loan charge-offs (recoveries)    ..............................................................  1,646  98  3,204 
Provision for (recapture of) credit losses for the period  ............................  20,475  235  (7,466) 
Ending allowance  ...................................................................................... $ (68,040) $ (25,301) $ (21,039) 

Average loans outstanding during the period   ............................................ $ 5,684,348 $ 2,007,030 $ 1,773,883 
Allowance coverage ratio(1)

   .......................................................................  1.20 %  1.21 %  1.11 %
Net charge-offs to average outstanding loans during the period(2)

    ............  0.03  0.00  0.18 
Allowance for credit losses as a percentage of non-performing loans(3)

    ...  177.34  675.77  382.74 
__________________
(1) The allowance coverage ratio is calculated by dividing the ACL at the end of the period by gross loans, net of unearned income at the end of 

the period.
(2) The Net charge-offs to average outstanding loans during the period is calculated by dividing total net loan charge-offs (recoveries) during 

the year by average gross loans outstanding during the year. 
(3) The Allowance for credit losses as a percentage of non-performing loans ratio is calculated by dividing the ACL at the end of the period by 

non-accrual loans at the end of the period.
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The following table summarizes the ACL by portfolio with a comparison of the percentage composition in 
relation to total ACL and allowance for credit losses and total loans as of December 31, 2024, and December 31, 
2023 (dollars in thousands).

December 31, 2024

In thousands
Allowance for 
credit losses

Percent of 
Allowance in 

Each Category 
to Total 

Allocated 
Allowance

Percent of 
Loans in Each 

Category to 
Total Loans

Commercial real estate  ............................................................................... $ 30,444  44.75 %  46.50 %
Owner occupied commercial real estate     ....................................................  3,261  4.79  10.83 
Acquisition, construction & development     .................................................  17,386  25.55  8.21 
Commercial & industrial  ............................................................................  6,633  9.75  10.81 
Residential ..................................................................................................  9,763  14.35  20.69 
Consumer non real estate and other     ...........................................................  553  0.81  2.96 
Total      ........................................................................................................... $ 68,040  100.00 %  100.00 %

December 31, 2023

In thousands
Allowance for 

loan losses

Percent of 
Allowance in 

Each Category 
to Total 

Allocated 
Allowance

Percent of 
Loans in Each 

Category to 
Total Loans

Commercial real estate  ............................................................................... $ 20,633  81.56 %  62.71 %
Owner occupied commercial real estate     ....................................................  783  3.09  6.29 
Acquisition, construction & development     .................................................  368  1.45  2.35 
Commercial & industrial  ............................................................................  645  2.55  3.25 
Residential ..................................................................................................  2,797  11.05  25.29 
Consumer non real estate and other     ...........................................................  75  0.30  0.11 
Total      ........................................................................................................... $ 25,301  100.00 %  100.00 %

Derivative Financial Instruments

The Company utilizes interest rate swap agreements as part of its asset/liability management strategy to help 
manage its interest rate risk position. The Company recognizes derivative financial instruments at fair value as either 
other assets or other liabilities on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. The Company’s use of derivative financial 
instruments are described more fully in Note 13 — Derivatives in Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

The Company enters into certain off-balance sheet arrangements in the normal course of business to meet the 
financing needs of its customers. These off-balance sheet arrangements include commitments to extend credit, 
standby letters of credit, and financial guarantees which would impact the Company’s liquidity and capital resources 
to the extent customers accept and/or use these commitments. See Note 14— Commitments and Contingencies in 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for a discussion of credit extension commitments. These instruments 
involve, to varying degrees, elements of credit and interest rate risk in excess of the amount recognized in the 
balance sheet. With the exception of these off-balance sheet arrangements, the Company has no off-balance sheet 
arrangements that have or are reasonably likely to have a current or future effect on the Company’s financial 
condition, changes in financial condition, revenues or expenses, results of operations, liquidity, capital expenditures, 
or capital resources.
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Funding Activities

The Company’s funding activities are monitored and governed through the Company’s asset/liability 
management process. Deposits are the primary source of funds for lending and investing activities; however, the 
Company will use borrowings to meet liquidity needs and for temporary funding. The Company has available 
secured lines of credit with the Federal Reserve Bank of Richmond, such as the Borrower-In-Custody program, the 
FHLB of Atlanta, and unsecured federal funds lines of credit from correspondent banking relationships. The 
Company also utilizes brokered time deposits. For more discussion of brokered time deposits, see the Deposits 
heading below this section. 

As of December 31, 2024, the Company has available unused borrowing capacity of $4.1 billion through its 
available lines of credit with the FHLB of Atlanta, the Federal Reserve Borrower-In-Custody Program line, and 
unsecured federal fund lines of credit from correspondent banking relationships. 

The following table shows certain information regarding short-term borrowings at year end 2024 and 2023 
(dollars in thousands):

Balance at end of period 2024 2023
Short-term borrowings     ............................................................................................................. $ 365,000 $ 272,000 
Weighted average interest rate at end of period     .......................................................................  3.35 %  4.75 %

The following table shows certain information regarding long-term debt at year end 2024, and 2023, respectively 
(dollars in thousands):

Balance at end of period
December 31, 

2024
December 31, 

2023
Subordinated debentures, net     ................................................................................................... $ 94,872 $ — 
Subordinated debentures owed to unconsolidated subsidiary trusts    ........................................  17,013  — 
Total long-term debt     ................................................................................................................. $ 111,885 $ — 

Weighted average interest yield at end of period     .....................................................................  10.08 % N/A

Deposits

Total deposits increased by $3.5 billion from December 31, 2024, to December 31, 2023, primarily driven by 
the Merger. The Company’s brokered deposits balance was $244.8 million and $389.0 million at December 31, 
2024, and December 31, 2023, respectively. All of the Company’s brokered deposits are in the form of certificates 
of deposits that are insured by the FDIC. Excluding the brokered deposit balance, the total deposit balance increased 
by $3.7 billion from December 31, 2023 to December 31, 2024 mostly due to the completion of the Merger. 

The following table sets forth the balance of each category of deposits as of the dates indicated (dollars in 
thousands).

Dec 31, 2024 Dec 31, 2023
Balance Balance

Demand, non-interest-bearing    .................................................................................................. $ 1,379,940 $ 830,320 
Demand, interest-bearing      .........................................................................................................  2,223,540  509,646 
Money market and savings    .......................................................................................................  1,658,480  925,853 
Brokered deposits     .....................................................................................................................  244,802  389,011 
Time deposits    ...........................................................................................................................  1,008,477  347,051 
Total interest-bearing      ...............................................................................................................  5,135,299  2,171,561 
Total Deposits     .......................................................................................................................... $ 6,515,239 $ 3,001,881 
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The Company continues to seek organic growth in both interest-bearing and non-interest-bearing deposits 
consistent with our relationship-based strategy. Management evaluates its utilization of brokered deposits, taking 
into consideration the interest rate curve and regulatory views on non-core funding sources, and balances this 
funding source with its funding needs based on growth initiatives.

The Company has deposits that meet or exceed the FDIC insurance limit of $250,000 of $1.9 billion and $677.3 
million at December 31, 2024, and December 31, 2023. The increase in uninsured deposits as of December 31, 2024 
was due to the completion of the Merger and the related increase in total deposits. The Company does not have 
material deposit concentration risk to any significant market, industry or individual at December 31, 2024.

The following table sets forth maturity ranges of time deposits, as of December 31, 2024, that meet or exceed 
the FDIC insurance limit (in thousands).

Dec 31, 2024
Due within 3 months or less    ................................................................................................................................... $ 142,793 
Due after 3 months and within 6 months ................................................................................................................  105,330 
Due after 6 months and within 12 months ..............................................................................................................  27,708 
Due after 12 months     ...............................................................................................................................................  8,569 
Total uninsured, time deposits     ................................................................................................................................ $ 284,400 

Shareholders’ Equity

Total shareholders’ equity at December 31, 2024, was $730.2 million, compared to $314.8 million at 
December 31, 2023. Shareholders’ equity increased by $415.4 million primarily due to the completion of the 
Merger. Additionally, accumulated other comprehensive loss decreased by $7.8 million as a result of an increase in 
the fair value of investment securities available-for-sale.
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Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk

Market Risk

Market risk is the risk of loss from adverse changes in market prices and rates. Our market risk arises primarily 
from interest rate risk inherent in lending, investment, and deposit-taking activities. To that end, management 
actively monitors and manages its interest rate risk exposure, and on at least a quarterly basis, in conjunction with 
the Company’s Asset/Liability meetings, reports its findings to the ALCO and to the Board. From time to time, 
management may change the frequency of such testing or update certain inputs as a result of abnormal market 
conditions. Our profitability is affected by fluctuations in interest rates; a sudden and substantial change in interest 
rates may adversely impact our earnings to the extent that the interest rates borne by assets and liabilities do not 
change at the same speed, to the same extent, or on the same basis. We monitor the impact of changes in interest 
rates on net interest income using several tools.

Our primary objective in managing interest rate risk is to minimize the adverse impact of changes in interest 
rates on our net interest income and capital while configuring our asset-liability structure to obtain the maximum 
yield-cost spread on that structure. We rely primarily on our asset-liability structure to control interest rate risk.

In addition, the Company’s Asset/Liability policy provides for a subcommittee of the ALCO, comprised of 
executive and senior management that, upon the determination that abnormal market risks are occurring or may be 
forthcoming, will convene with the responsibility of making all decisions related to mitigation of potential negative 
impacts to the Company. This subcommittee acts as a clearinghouse for information on Company earnings, credit 
risk, lending and deposit activities, and liquidity management necessary for internal communications, including to 
the Board, and external communications. 

Interest Rate Sensitivity

Interest rate risk is the risk to earnings and fair value arising from changes in market interest rates. Interest rate 
risk arises from timing differences in the repricing and maturities of interest-earning assets and interest-bearing 
liabilities (repricing risk), changes in the expected maturities of assets and liabilities arising from embedded options, 
such as borrowers’ ability to prepay home mortgage loans at any time, depositors’ ability to redeem certificates of 
deposit before maturity (option risk), changes in the shape of the yield curve, where interest rates increase or 
decrease in a non-parallel fashion (yield curve risk), and changes in spread relationships between different yield 
curves, such as U.S. Treasuries and SOFR (basis risk).

The rates on some interest-bearing financial instruments may adjust promptly with changes in market rates, 
while others adjust only periodically or are fixed for a predefined term. Such instances can cause a mismatch 
between the sensitivity and behavior of financial assets and liabilities. Interest rate fluctuations and economic 
factors, coupled with repricing mismatches and embedded options inherent in these financial assets and liabilities, 
may impact the Company’s interest expense, interest income, and the value of certain financial assets and liabilities. 
Through the ALCO, we attempt to manage the balance sheet in a manner that increases the benefit or reduces the 
negative impacts from such events.

The overall impact of changes in interest rates, including, but not limited to, the impact to our net interest 
income and to our securities portfolio, can be enhanced or diluted depending on the variability of interest rates. From 
time to time, the Company may hedge its interest rate risk position, which can impact earnings. We generally do not 
hedge all of our interest rate risk, nor can we guarantee that any attempts to hedge some or all of our interest rate risk 
will be successful. See Note 13 — Derivatives in Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for a discussion of our 
hedging activity.

The Company actively manages its interest rate sensitivity position. The objectives of interest rate risk 
management are to control exposure of net interest income to risks associated with interest rate movements and to 
achieve sustainable growth in net interest income. The ALCO, using policies and procedures approved by the 
Company’s Board, is responsible for the management of the Company’s interest rate sensitivity position. The 
Company manages interest rate sensitivity by changing the mix, pricing, and re-pricing characteristics of its assets 
and liabilities, through the management of its investment portfolio, its offerings of loan and selected deposit terms, 
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and through wholesale funding. Wholesale funding consists of, but is not limited to, borrowings with the FHLB, 
federal funds purchased, and brokered time deposits.

The Company uses several tools to manage its interest rate risk, including interest rate sensitivity analysis, or 
gap analysis, market value of portfolio equity analysis, interest rate simulations under various rate scenarios, and net 
interest margin reports. The results of these reports are compared to limits established by the Company’s ALCO 
policies, and appropriate adjustments are made if the results are outside the established limits. 

There are an infinite number of potential interest rate scenarios, each of which can be accompanied by differing 
economic/political/regulatory climates; can generate multiple differing behavior patterns by markets, borrowers, 
depositors, etc.; and, can last for varying degrees of time. Therefore, by definition, interest rate risk sensitivity 
cannot be predicted with certainty. Accordingly, the Company’s interest rate risk measurement philosophy focuses 
on maintaining an appropriate balance between theoretical and practical scenarios, especially given the primary 
objective of the Company’s overall asset/liability management process, which is to facilitate meaningful strategy 
development and implementation.

Therefore, we model a set of interest rate scenarios capturing the financial effects of a range of plausible rate 
scenarios; the collective impact of which will enable the Company to clearly understand the nature and extent of its 
sensitivity to interest rate changes. Doing so necessitates an assessment of rate changes over varying time horizons 
and of varying/sufficient degrees such that the impact of embedded options within the balance sheet are sufficiently 
examined.

The following tables demonstrate the annualized result of an interest rate simulation and the estimated effect 
that a parallel interest rate shift, or “shock”, in the yield curve and subjective adjustments in deposit pricing might 
have on the Company’s projected net interest income over the next 12 months. This simulation assumes that there is 
no growth in interest-earning assets or interest-bearing liabilities over the next 12 months.

As of December 31, 2024 As of December 31, 2023
Change in Interest Rates (in Basis 

Points) Percentage Change in Earnings Percentage Change in Earnings
 200  (2.1) %  0.9 %
 100  (0.7)  1.2 
 (100)  0.5  (1.0) 
 (200)  0.5  (0.8) 
 (300)  0.5  (0.3) 

Economic Value of Equity Analysis (“EVE”). We analyze the sensitivity of our financial condition to changes 
in interest rates through our economic value of equity model. This analysis measures the difference between 
predicted changes in the fair value of our assets and predicted changes in the present value of our liabilities, 
assuming various changes in current interest rates. The table below represents an analysis of our interest rate risk as 
measured by the estimated changes in our economic value of equity, resulting from an instantaneous and sustained 
parallel shift in the yield curve at December 31, 2024, and December 31, 2023.

As of December 31, 2024 As of December 31, 2023
Change in Interest Rates (in Basis 

Points)
Percentage Change in EVE Percentage Change in EVE

 200  (8.7) %  (12.1) %
 100  (3.6)  (5.8) 
 (100)  1.9  2.3 
 (200)  0.5  1.7 
 (300)  (3.4)  (1.8) 
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

Shareholders and the Board of Directors 
of Burke & Herbert Financial Services Corp. 
Alexandria, Virginia

Opinion on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Burke & Herbert Financial Services Corp. 
(the "Company") as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, the related consolidated statements of income, comprehensive 
income (loss), changes in shareholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended 
December 31, 2024, and the related notes (collectively referred to as the "financial statements"). In our opinion, the 
financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of December 31, 
2024 and 2023, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended 
December 31, 2024, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Change in Accounting Principal

As discussed in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company has changed its method of 
accounting for credit losses effective January 1, 2023, due to the adoption of Financial Accounting Standards Board 
(FASB) Accounting Standards Codification No.326, Financial Instruments – Credit Losses (ASC 326). The 
Company adopted the new credit loss standard using the modified retrospective method such that prior period 
amounts are not adjusted and continue to be reported in accordance with previously applicable generally accepted 
accounting principles.

Basis for Opinion

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express 
an opinion on the Company's financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered 
with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) ("PCAOB") and are required to be 
independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules 
and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB. 

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan 
and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material 
misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of 
material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that 
respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and 
significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. 
We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

/s/Crowe LLP

We have served as the Company's auditor since 2021.

Washington, D.C. 
March 17, 2025
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2024 2023
Assets
Cash and due from banks     ......................................................................................................... $ 35,554 $ 8,896 
Interest-bearing deposits with banks     ........................................................................................  99,760  35,602 
Cash and cash equivalents   ........................................................................................................  135,314  44,498 
Securities available-for-sale, at fair value      ................................................................................  1,432,371  1,248,439 
Restricted stock, at cost   ............................................................................................................  33,559  5,964 
Loans held-for-sale, at fair value   ..............................................................................................  2,331  1,497 
Loans      ........................................................................................................................................  5,672,236  2,087,756 
Allowance for credit losses  ......................................................................................................  (68,040)  (25,301) 
Net loans    ...................................................................................................................................  5,604,196  2,062,455 
Other real estate owned     ............................................................................................................  2,783  — 
Premises and equipment, net   ....................................................................................................  132,270  61,128 
Accrued interest receivable   ......................................................................................................  34,454  15,895 
Intangible assets     .......................................................................................................................  57,300  — 
Goodwill    ...................................................................................................................................  32,783  — 
Company-owned life insurance  ................................................................................................  182,834  94,159 
Other assets    ..............................................................................................................................  161,990  83,544 
Total Assets ............................................................................................................................. $ 7,812,185 $ 3,617,579 

Liabilities and Shareholders' Equity
Liabilities
Non-interest-bearing deposits    .................................................................................................. $ 1,379,940 $ 830,320 
Interest-bearing deposits   ..........................................................................................................  5,135,299  2,171,561 
Total deposits    ...........................................................................................................................  6,515,239  3,001,881 
Short-term borrowings     .............................................................................................................  365,000  272,000 
Subordinated debentures, net     ...................................................................................................  94,872  — 
Subordinated debentures owed to unconsolidated subsidiary trusts    ........................................  17,013  — 
Accrued interest and other liabilities   ........................................................................................  89,904  28,948 
Total Liabilities    .......................................................................................................................  7,082,028  3,302,829 

Commitments and contingent liabilities (see Note 14)

Shareholders’ Equity
Preferred stock and related surplus, $1.00 par value per share; 2,000,000 shares authorized; 

1,500 shares issued and outstanding at December 31, 2024, zero shares issued and 
outstanding at December 31, 2023   .......................................................................................  10,413  — 

Common stock..........................................................................................................................  7,770  4,000 
$0.50 par value; 40,000,000 shares authorized, 15,540,394 shares issued and 14,969,104 

shares outstanding at December 31, 2024; 20,000,000 shares authorized, 8,000,000 
shares issued and 7,428,710 shares outstanding at December 31, 2023

Common stock, additional paid-in capital   ................................................................................  401,172  14,495 
Retained earnings  .....................................................................................................................  434,106  427,333 
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)      ...................................................................  (95,720)  (103,494) 
Treasury stock     ..........................................................................................................................  (27,584)  (27,584) 
571,290 shares, at cost, at December 31, 2024, and 571,290 shares, at cost, at 

December 31, 2023
Total Shareholders' Equity     ...................................................................................................  730,157  314,750 
Total Liabilities and Shareholders' Equity   .......................................................................... $ 7,812,185 $ 3,617,579 

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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2024 2023 2022
Interest income
Taxable loans, including fees  ..................................................................... $ 311,303 $ 101,800 $ 73,640 
Tax-exempt loans, including fees      ..............................................................  118  —  — 
Taxable securities   .......................................................................................  39,817  37,179  29,616 
Tax-exempt securities   ................................................................................  10,243  5,615  8,940 
Other interest income   .................................................................................  4,680  2,302  437 
Total interest income  ..................................................................................  366,161  146,896  112,633 
Interest expense
Deposits ......................................................................................................  118,664  39,195  3,742 
Short-term borrowings    ...............................................................................  14,189  13,856  5,136 
Subordinated debt    ......................................................................................  7,412  —  — 
Other interest expense    ................................................................................  111  86  63 
Total interest expense      ................................................................................  140,376  53,137  8,941 
Net interest income    ..................................................................................  225,785  93,759  103,692 

Credit loss expense (recapture) - loans and available-for-sale securities     ..  20,475  235  (7,466) 
Credit loss expense (recapture) - off-balance sheet credit exposures ........  3,745  (21)  — 
Total provision for (recapture of) credit losses   ..........................................  24,220  214  (7,466) 
Net interest income after credit loss expense    .........................................  201,565  93,545  111,158 

Non-interest income
Fiduciary and wealth management     ............................................................  8,411  5,354  5,309 
Service charges and fees  ............................................................................  15,594  6,670  6,855 
Net gains (losses) on securities     ..................................................................  1,357  (112)  (454) 
Income from company-owned life insurance      ............................................  4,686  2,844  2,656 
Other non-interest income ..........................................................................  6,118  3,196  2,721 
Total non-interest income  ........................................................................  36,166  17,952  17,087 

Non-interest expense
Salaries and wages  .....................................................................................  77,089  39,247  39,438 
Pensions and other employee benefits   .......................................................  17,186  9,401  7,700 
Occupancy ..................................................................................................  11,577  6,035  5,621 
Equipment rentals, depreciation and maintenance    .....................................  23,174  5,770  5,768 
Other operating    ..........................................................................................  68,807  25,983  17,419 
Total non-interest expense   .........................................................................  197,833  86,436  75,946 

Income before income taxes     ......................................................................  39,898  25,061  52,299 
Income tax expense   ....................................................................................  4,190  2,369  8,286 

Net income    ................................................................................................  35,708  22,692  44,013 
Preferred stock dividends  ...........................................................................  675  —  — 
Net income applicable to common shares   .............................................. $ 35,033 $ 22,692 $ 44,013 

Earnings per common share:
Basic   ........................................................................................................... $ 2.83 $ 3.05 $ 5.93 
Diluted ........................................................................................................  2.82  3.02  5.89 

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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2024 2023 2022
Net income     ..................................................................................... $ 35,708 $ 22,692 $ 44,013 
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax:
Unrealized gains (losses) on securities:

Unrealized gain (loss) arising during period, net of tax of 
$(1,903) for 2024, $(8,721) for 2023, and $38,333 for 2022     6,372  32,718  (144,209) 

Reclassification adjustment for loss (gain) on securities, net 
of tax of $312 for 2024, $(24) for 2023, and ($95) for 2022    .  (1,045)  88  359 

Reclassification adjustment for loss (gain) on fair value 
hedge, net of tax of $37 for 2024, $(215) for 2023, and $— 
for 2022    ..................................................................................  (123)  810  — 

Defined benefit pension plans:
Changes in pension plan benefits, net of tax of $(349) for 

2024, ($342) for 2023, and $263 for 2022    .............................  1,169  1,286  (1,011) 
Unrealized gain (loss) on cash flow hedge

Unrealized holding gain (loss) on cash flow hedge, net of tax 
of $(920) for 2024, $75 for 2023, and $457 for 2022     ............  3,082  (283)  (1,721) 

Reclassification adjustment for losses (gains) included in net 
income, net of tax of $502 for 2024, $(367) for 2023, and 
$(35) for 2022     ........................................................................  (1,681)  1,382  132 

Total other comprehensive income (loss)     ......................................  7,774  36,001  (146,450) 
Comprehensive income (loss)        ............................................... $ 43,482 $ 58,693 $ (102,437) 

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Common Stock

Paid-in
Capital

Retained
Earnings

Comprehensive
Income (Loss)

Treasury
Stock

Shareholders’
Equity

Preferred 
Stock and 
Surplus

Shares 
Outstanding Amount

Balance December 31, 2021 $ —  7,423,760 $ 4,000 $ 10,374 $ 396,120 $ 6,955 $ (27,822) $ 389,627 
Net income  ......................  —  —  —  —  44,013  —  —  44,013 
Other comprehensive 

income (loss)  ..............  —  —  —  —  —  (146,450)  —  (146,450) 
(Purchase) sale of 

treasury stock, net  .......  —  2,000  —  —  —  —  97  97 
Cash dividends, declared      —  —  —  —  (15,742)  —  —  (15,742) 
Share-based 

compensation 
expense, net     ................  —  —  —  1,908  —  —  —  1,908 

Balance December 31, 2022 $ —  7,425,760 $ 4,000 $ 12,282 $ 424,391 $ (139,495) $ (27,725) $ 273,453 
Net income  ......................  —  —  —  —  22,692  —  —  22,692 
CECL adjustment    ............  —  —  —  —  (3,439)  —  —  (3,439) 
Other comprehensive 

income (loss)  ..............  —  —  —  —  —  36,001  —  36,001 
(Purchase) sale of 

treasury stock, net  .......  —  2,950  —  —  —  —  141  141 
Cash dividends, declared      —  —  —  —  (16,298)  —  —  (16,298) 
Share-based 

compensation 
expense, net     ................  —  —  —  2,213  (13)  —  —  2,200 

Balance December 31, 2023 $ —  7,428,710 $ 4,000 $ 14,495 $ 427,333 $ (103,494) $ (27,584) $ 314,750 
Net income  ......................  —  —  —  —  35,708  —  —  35,708 
Acquisition of Summit 

Financial Group, Inc.   ..  10,413  7,405,772  3,703  383,329  —  —  —  397,445 
Other comprehensive 

income (loss)  ..............  —  —  —  —  —  7,774  —  7,774 
(Purchase) sale of 

treasury stock, net  .......  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  — 
Cash dividends, paid and 

accrued(1)
     ....................  —  —  —  —  (28,260)  —  —  (28,260) 

Preferred stock cash 
dividends, declared   .....  —  —  —  —  (675)  —  —  (675) 

Share-based 
compensation 
expense, net     ................  —  134,622  67  3,348  —  —  —  3,415 

Balance December 31, 2024 $ 10,413  14,969,104 $ 7,770 $ 401,172 $ 434,106 $ (95,720) $ (27,584) $ 730,157 

(1) Cash dividends, paid and accrued for the year ending December 31, 2024, include dividends paid of $28.0 million 
and $299.0 thousand of dividends accrued on share-based compensation but unpaid as of December 31, 2024.

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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2024 2023 2022
Cash Flows from Operating Activities

Net Income     ................................................................................ $ 35,708 $ 22,692 $ 44,013 
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by 

operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization of fixed assets    ......................  5,865  2,872  3,053 
Amortization of other intangible assets    ................................  11,542  —  — 
Amortization on assumed liabilities     .....................................  10,172  —  — 
Accretion income related to acquired loans    ..........................  (40,876)  —  — 
Amortization of housing tax credits     .....................................  5,432  5,591  6,147 
Realized (gain) loss on sales of available-for-sale 

securities   ............................................................................  (1,357)  112  454 
Realized (gain) on sales of OREO property       .........................  (172)  —  — 
Provision for (recapture of) credit losses    ..............................  24,220  214  (7,466) 
Income from company-owned life insurance       .......................  (4,686)  (2,844)  (2,656) 
Deferred tax expense (benefit)   ..............................................  (1,507)  (1,453)  1,397 
(Gain) loss on disposal of fixed assets    ..................................  2,177  37  (4,533) 
Accretion of securities     ..........................................................  (3,746)  (1,615)  (1,622) 
Amortization of securities   .....................................................  9,496  9,161  11,117 
Share-based compensation expense   ......................................  2,879  2,464  2,000 
Repayment of operating lease liabilities    ...............................  (2,705)  (3,137)  (2,330) 
(Gain) on loans held-for-sale ................................................  (484)  (138)  (58) 
Proceeds from sales of loans held-for-sale   ...........................  37,099  14,205  9,585 
Change in fair value of loans held-for-sale   ...........................  28  (28)  23 
Originations of loans held-for-sale     .......................................  (37,477)  (15,536)  (2,300) 
(Increase) decrease in accrued interest receivable  ................  3,030  (414)  (228) 
(Increase) decrease in other assets     ........................................  (32,499)  3,851  501 
Increase in accrued interest payable and other liabilities      .....  63,660  6,475  3,960 

Net cash flows provided by operating activities  .............. $ 85,799 $ 42,509 $ 61,057 

Cash Flows from Investing Activities
Proceeds from maturities, prepayments, and calls of 

securities available-for-sale, net    ........................................  257,877  112,025  213,596 
Proceeds from sales of securities available-for-sale, net    ......  372,370  77,780  195,907 
Purchases of securities available-for-sale, net    ......................  (622,760)  (33,221)  (367,615) 
Net cash from merger    ...........................................................  52,607  —  — 
Sales of restricted stock    ........................................................  40,572  29,880  22,718 
Purchases of restricted stock    .................................................  (67,683)  (19,402)  (27,081) 
Proceeds from sales of OREO properties  .............................  758  —  — 
Proceeds from sales of property and equipment     ...................  —  3,383  8,260 
Purchases of property and equipment, net of disposals     ........  (4,567)  (14,249)  (23,075) 
Proceeds from company-owned life insurance  .....................  2,213  1,171  1,231 
(Increase) decrease in loans made to customers, net    ............  92,170  (200,535)  (151,352) 

Net cash flows provided by (used in) investing 
activities      ....................................................................... $ 123,557 $ (43,168) $ (127,411) 
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Cash Flows from Financing Activities
Net increase (decrease) in non-interest-bearing accounts  .....  (27,493)  (130,372)  29,845 
Net increase (decrease) in interest-bearing accounts     ............  (158,696)  211,853  (42,862) 
Increase (decrease) in other short-term borrowings       .............  93,000  (71,100)  68,100 
Repayment of finance lease liabilities    ..................................  (216)  (119)  (152) 
Proceeds from employee stock purchase program     ...............  259  206  — 
Cash dividends paid      ..............................................................  (28,636)  (15,747)  (15,742) 
Issuance of common stock   ....................................................  3,242  —  — 
Treasury stock transactions  ...................................................  —  141  97 

Net cash flows provided by (used in) financing 
activities      ....................................................................... $ (118,540) $ (5,138) $ 39,286 

(Decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents  .................  90,816  (5,797)  (27,068) 
Cash and cash equivalents

Beginning of year     .................................................................  44,498  50,295  77,363 
End of year   ............................................................................ $ 135,314 $ 44,498 $ 50,295 

Supplemental Disclosures of Cash Flow Information
Cash payments for:

Interest paid to depositors    ..................................................... $ 114,741 $ 37,573 $ 3,411 
Interest paid on short-term borrowings  .................................  17,049  7,975  4,324 
Interest paid on subordinated debt and trust preferred 

securities   ............................................................................  7,412  —  — 
Interest paid on finance lease   ................................................  110  86  63 
Income taxes     .........................................................................  1,975  1,570  950 

Change in unrealized gains on available-for-sale securities     ..........  8,275  41,415  (182,088) 
Change in pension plan benefits    .....................................................  1,518  1,628  (1,280) 
Lease liability arising from obtaining right-of-use assets     ..............  12,329  1,214  1,558 
Premises & equipment transferred to property held-for-sale    .........  —  —  3,449 
Transfers from portfolio loans to loans held-for-sale   .....................  —  —  19,594 
Financing of sale from loans held-for-sale     .....................................  —  —  9,000 
Common stock issued for merger, net    ............................................  387,032  —  — 
Preferred stock issued for merger, net    ............................................  10,413  —  — 
Fair value of assets purchased in merger   ........................................  4,503,102  —  — 
Fair value of liabilities assumed in merger     ....................................  4,138,440  —  — 

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Note 1— Nature of Business Activities and Significant Accounting Policies

Nature of operations and principles of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include Burke & Herbert Financial Services Corp. (“Burke & Herbert”) 
and its wholly-owned subsidiary Burke & Herbert Bank & Trust Company (“the Bank”), together referred to as “the 
Company” for purposes of the Notes to the Financial Statements. Intercompany transactions and balances are 
eliminated in consolidation.

Burke & Herbert was organized as a Virginia corporation in 2022 to serve as the holding company for the Bank. 
Burke & Herbert became a bank holding company when it commenced operations on October 1, 2022, following a 
reorganization transaction in which it acquired control of the Bank under the BHCA. This transaction was treated as 
an internal reorganization as all shareholders of the Bank became shareholders of Burke & Herbert. Burke & Herbert 
has no material operations other than owning the Bank. In September 2023, the Burke & Herbert elected to become 
a financial holding company under the BHCA. As a financial holding company of a Virginia state bank, Burke & 
Herbert is subject to regulation, supervision, and examination by the Federal Reserve and the Virginia BFI. The 
Bank is a Virginia chartered commercial bank that commenced operations in 1852. The Bank became a member of 
the Federal Reserve System on December 31, 2024. The Bank is subject to regulation, supervision, and examination 
by the Federal Reserve (through the Federal Reserve Bank of Richmond) and the Virginia BFI.

The Bank’s primary market area includes northern Virginia and West Virginia, and it has over 77 branches and 
commercial loan offices across Delaware, Kentucky, Maryland, Virginia, and West Virginia. The Company’s branch 
locations accept business and consumer deposits from a diverse customer base. The Company’s deposit products 
include checking, savings, and term certificate accounts. The Company’s loan portfolio includes commercial and 
consumer loans, a substantial portion of which are secured by real estate.

Merger with Summit Financial Group, Inc.

Effective on the Closing Date, Burke & Herbert completed the Merger with Summit, pursuant to the August 24, 
2023 Merger Agreement. 

Pursuant to the Merger Agreement, on the Closing Date, (i) Summit merged with and into Burke & Herbert 
with Burke & Herbert as the surviving entity, and (ii) immediately following the Merger, SCB merged with and into 
the Bank, with the Bank as the surviving bank.

In the Merger, holders of Summit common stock outstanding at the effective time of the Merger received 
0.5043 shares of Burke & Herbert Common Stock for each share of Summit common stock they owned, subject to 
the payment of cash in lieu of fractional shares. The total aggregate consideration payable in the Merger was 
approximately 7,405,772 shares of Burke & Herbert Common Stock. Additionally, each share of the Summit Series 
2021 Preferred Stock issued and outstanding was converted into the right to receive a share of the newly created 
Burke & Herbert Series 2021 Preferred Stock. Summit’s results of operations are included from the Closing Date 
forward.

Use of estimates

To prepare financial statements in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”), 
management makes estimates and assumptions based on available information that affects the reported amounts of 
assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the 
reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those 
estimates.

Cash, cash equivalents, and cash flows

For purposes of reporting cash flows, cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand and amounts due from 
banks, including cash items in process of clearing with maturities fewer than 90 days. Cash flows from customer 
loans, federal funds purchased, securities sold under agreements to repurchase, and deposits are reported on a net 
basis.
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Restriction on cash

No reserve balances were required at December 31, 2024, and December 31, 2023. There was no reserve 
requirement with the Federal Reserve as of December 31, 2024, or December 31, 2023.

Debt securities

Management determines the appropriate classification of debt securities at the time of purchase. Debt securities 
that the Company has both the positive intent and ability to hold to maturity are classified as held to maturity and are 
reported at cost, adjusted for amortization of premiums and accretion of discounts. Debt securities that the Company 
intends to hold for an indefinite period of time, but not necessarily to maturity, are classified as available-for-sale 
and are reported at fair value. Unrealized gains and losses on investments classified as available-for-sale have been 
accounted for as a separate component of accumulated other comprehensive income or loss, net of the related 
deferred tax effect. 

Interest income includes amortization of purchase premium or discount. Premiums and discounts on securities 
are recognized in interest income over the terms of the securities. Any decision to sell a security classified as 
available-for-sale would be based on various factors, including significant movements in interest rates, changes in 
the maturity mix of the Company’s assets and liabilities, liquidity needs, regulatory capital considerations, and other 
similar factors. Gains and losses on the sale of securities are recorded on the trade date and are determined using the 
specific identification method.

A debt security is placed on non-accrual status at the time any principal or interest payments become more than 
90 days delinquent. Interest accrued but not received for a security placed on non-accrual is reversed against interest 
income. 

Allowance for credit losses (“ACL”) - available-for-sale debt securities

Management evaluates all available-for-sale (“AFS”) debt securities in an unrealized loss position on a quarterly 
basis, and more frequently when economic or market conditions warrant such evaluation. The Company first 
assesses whether it intends to sell or if it is more likely than not that it will be required to sell the security before 
recovery of its amortized cost basis. If either of the criteria regarding intent or requirement to sell is met, the 
security’s amortized cost basis is written down to fair value through income. 

For AFS debt securities that do not meet the aforementioned criteria, the Company evaluates whether the 
decline in fair value has resulted from credit losses or other factors. In making this assessment, management 
considers the extent to which fair value is less than amortized cost, any changes to the rating of the security by a 
rating agency, and adverse conditions specifically related to the security, among other factors. If this assessment 
indicates that a credit loss exists, the present value of cash flows expected to be collected from the security are 
compared to the amortized cost basis of the security. If the present value of cash flows expected to be collected is 
less than the amortized cost basis, a credit loss exists, and an allowance for credit losses is recorded for the credit 
loss, limited by the amount that the fair value is less than the amortized cost basis. Any impairment that has not been 
recorded through an ACL is recognized in other comprehensive income. 

Changes in the ACL are recorded as credit loss expense (or recapture). Losses are charged against the allowance 
when management believes the uncollectibility of an AFS security is confirmed or when either of the criteria 
regarding intent or requirement to sell is met. 

Accrued interest receivable on AFS debt securities totaled $10.3 million at December 31, 2024, and is excluded 
from the estimate of credit losses. 

Equity securities

Equity securities are carried at fair value with changes in fair value reported in net income. Equity securities 
without readily determinable fair values are carried at cost, minus impairment, if any, plus or minus changes 
resulting from observable price changes in orderly transactions for the identical, or a similar, investment.
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Due to the nature of, and restrictions placed upon, certain equity securities have been classified as restricted 
stock and are carried at cost. These equity securities are not subject to the classifications above. 

Loan commitments and related financial instruments 

Financial instruments include off-balance sheet credit instruments, such as commitments to make loans and 
commercial letters of credit, issued to meet customer financing needs. The face amount for these items represents the 
exposure to loss before considering customer collateral or ability to repay. Such financial instruments are recorded 
when they are funded.

Loans held-for-sale

Loans held-for-sale are those loans the Company has the intent to sell in the foreseeable future. The Company 
has elected to use the fair value accounting option (“FVO”) for loans held-for-sale. Gains and losses on sales of 
loans are recognized at settlement dates and are determined by the difference between the sales proceeds and the fair 
value of the loans. All sales are made without recourse and are sold with servicing released.

Mortgage banking derivatives 

The Company enters into commitments to originate loans whereby the interest rate on the loan is determined 
prior to funding (interest rate lock commitments). Interest rate lock commitments on mortgage loans to be held-for-
sale are accounted for as free-standing derivatives. The period of time between issuance of a loan commitment and 
closing and sale of the loan generally ranges from 15 to 90 days. The Company protects itself from changes in 
interest rates through the use of best-efforts forward delivery commitments, whereby the Company commits to sell a 
loan at the time the borrower commits to an interest rate with the intent that the buyer has assumed interest rate risk 
on the loan. As a result, the Company is not exposed to significant losses, nor will it realize significant gains related 
to rate lock commitments due to changes in interest rates. The Company has elected to use the FVO for best effort 
forward sales commitments.

Derivatives

At the inception of a derivative contract, the Company designates the derivative as one of three types based on 
the Company’s intentions and belief as to the likely effectiveness as a hedge. These three types are (1) a hedge of the 
fair value of a recognized asset or liability or of an unrecognized firm commitment (“fair value hedge”), (2) a hedge 
of a forecasted transaction or the variability of cash flows to be received or paid related to a recognized asset or 
liability (“cash flow hedge”), or (3) an instrument with no hedging designation (“stand-alone derivative”). For a fair 
value hedge, the gain or loss on the derivative, as well as the offsetting loss or gain on the hedged item attributable 
to the hedged risk, are recognized in current earnings as respective fair values changes. For a cash flow hedge, the 
gain or loss on the derivative is reported in other comprehensive income and is reclassified into earnings in the same 
periods during which the hedged transaction affects earnings. Changes in the fair value of derivatives not designated 
or that do not qualify for hedge accounting are reported currently in earnings as non-interest income. 

Accrued settlements on derivatives that qualify for hedge accounting are recorded in interest income or interest 
expense based on the item being hedged. Accrued settlements on derivatives not designated or that do not qualify for 
hedge accounting are reported in non-interest income. Cash flows on hedges are classified in the cash flow statement 
the same as the cash flows of the items being hedged.

The Company formally documents the relationship between derivatives and hedged items, as well as the risk-
management objective and the strategy for undertaking hedge transactions at the inception of the hedging 
relationship. This documentation includes linking fair value or cash flow hedges to specific assets and liabilities on 
the balance sheet or to specific firm commitments or forecasted transactions. The Company formally assesses, both 
at the hedge’s inception and on an ongoing basis, whether the derivative instruments that are used are highly 
effective in offsetting changes in fair values or cash flows of the hedged items. The Company discontinues hedge 
accounting when it determines that the derivative is no longer effective in offsetting changes in the fair value or cash 
flows of the hedged item, the derivative is settled or terminates, a hedged forecasted transaction is no longer 
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